

ISSN - 2320-6039 (Print)
ISSN - 2320-608X (Electronic)

Volume 8 / Number 3 / July-September 2020

INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF PHYSIOLOGY



Website: www.ijop.net

International Journal of Physiology

CHAIRMAN, EDITORIAL BOARD

Prof. (Dr) J.L. Agarwal

Head, Department of Physiology

Principal and Dean, Saraswathi Institute of Medical Sciences, Hapur, Uttar Pradesh

E-mail: editor.physiology@gmail.com

INTERNATIONAL EDITORIAL ADVISORY BOARD

- 1. Dr. Nisha Shantakumari Gulf Medical University, Ajman, United Arab Emirates
- 2. Dr. Sonal Agarwal, U'Mass Boston, USA
- 3. Prof Sumitabha Ghosh Quest International University Perak, Malaysia
- 4. Rabiul Ahasan, Adjunct Professor/Docent University of Oulu, Finland.
- Bassim Khamess Kuoti Takhikh Al-Rekabi, Assistant Professor University of Sumer/ College of Agriculture/ Department of Animals Production

NATIONAL EDITORIAL ADVISORY BOARD

- 1. Prof. O. P. Tandon, SGT Medical College, Gurgaon, Haryana
- 2. Prof. Rashmi Mathur, AIIMS New Delhi
- 3. Prof. Kamal Kishore, AIIMS New Delhi
- 4. Prof. H N Mallick, AIIMS New Delhi
- 5. Prof. S. C. Mahapatra, AIIMS, Bhuvaneshwar, Orissa
- 6. Prof. Rashmi Babbar, MAMC, New Delhi
- 7. Prof. Ramji Singh, AllMS, Patna, Bihar
- 8. **Prof. Vinay Agarwal,** LLRM Medical College, Meerut, Uttar Pradesh
- 9. Prof. Rajesh Mishra, Subharti Medical College, Meerut, Uttar Pradesh
- 10. Prof. N. S. Verma, KGMU, Lucknow, Uttar Pradesh
- 11. Prof. Manish Bajpai, KGMU, Lucknow, Uttar Pradesh
- 12. Prof. Jalaj Saxena, GSVM Medical College, Kanpur, Uttar Pradesh
- 13. Prof. Anita Padam, IGMC, Shimla, Himachal Pradesh
- 14. Prof. Sheena Singh, CMC, Ludhiana, Punjab
- 15. Prof. D.K. Agarwal, JLN Medical College, Aligarh, Uttar Pradesh
- 16. Prof. Sunita Mittal, SGRRIMHS, Dehradun, Uttarakhand
- 17. Prof. Geetanjali Sharma, Pt. B. D. Sharma Univ of Health Sciences, Rohtak, Haryana
- Prof. Manisha Jindal, SMC & R, Sharda Univ, Greater Noida, Uttar Pradesh
- 19. Prof. S.K. Singh, Pramukhswami Medical College, Karmsad, Gujarat

International Journal of Physiology is a double blind peer reviewed international journal which has commenced its publication from January 2013. The journal is half yearly in frequency. The journal covers all aspects of physiology. The journal has been assigned ISSN 2320-6039 (Print Version) and ISSN 2320-608X (Online Version). The journal is covered by Index Copernicus, Poland and many other international data bases. All rights reserved. The views expressed by authors in journal are not necessarily views of International Journal of Physiology. The advertisements are purely commercial in nature and journal does not guarantee their efficacy

NATIONAL EDITORIAL ADVISORY BOARD

- 20. Prof. S. Bhunia, UP RIMSR, Etawah, Uttar Pradesh
- 21. Dr. Ashokan, K.V, P.V.P. College, Sangli, Maharashtra
- 22. Prof. Shraddha Singh, King George's Medical University, Lucknow, U.P.
- 23. Prof. Deben Laishram, JNIMS, Imphal, Manipur
- 24. Prof. Venkatesh, D.M.S. Ramaiah Medical College, Bangalore
- 25. Prof. S.Meenakshi, Tagore Medical College and Hospital Chennai
- 26. Dr. Ratna Sharma, Additional Professor, AIIMS New Delhi
- 27. Prof. Poonam Verma, SGRRIMHS, Dehradun
- 28. Prof. Nidhi Jain, SGRRIMHS, Dehradun, Uttarakhand
- 29. Prof. Sudeepa Chaudhary, RMCH, Bareily, Uttar Pradesh

SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE

- 1. Dr. Shobita M, Jamia Hamdard Medical College, New Delhi
- 2. Dr. Rajiv Bandhu, LHMC, New Delhi
- 3. Dr. Shailesh Gupta, SHKM Govt. Medical College, Mewat, Haryana
- 4. Dr. Sharad Jain, SIMS, Hapur, Uttar Pradesh
- 5. Dr. Syed Sadat Ali, Dr. BRAMC, Bangalore
- 6. Dr. Srinivasa Jayachandra, KMCT Medical College, Calicut, India
- 7. Dr. Manisha Gupta, SIMS, Hapur, Uttar Pradesh
- 8. Dr. Bharti Bhandari, AIIMS, Jodhpur, Rajasthan
- 9. Venkappa S Mantur, Senior Lecturer, Dept of Physiology, USM-KLE International Medical College Belgaum,Karnataka
- 10. Dr Sunil B Rapolu (MD Ayu Physiology), Asst Prof Dept of Kriyasharir, OH Nazar Ayurveda College, Surat, Gujarat
- Dr. Amit Bandyopadhyay, Assistant Professor, Department of Physiology, University College of Science & Technology, University of Calcutta, Kolkata, India

Print-ISSN: 2320-6039 Electronic-ISSN: 2320-608X Frequency: Quarterly Website:www.ijop.net

Editor

Dr. R.K. Sharma Institute of Medico-legal Publications Logix Office Tower, Unit No. 1704, Logix City Centre Mall, Sector- 32, Noida - 201 301 (Uttar Pradesh)

Printed, published and owned by

Dr. R.K. Sharma Institute of Medico-legal Publications Logix Office Tower, Unit No. 1704, Logix City Centre Mall, Sector- 32, Noida - 201 301 (Uttar Pradesh)

Published at

Institute of Medico-legal Publications

Logix Office Tower, Unit No. 1704, Logix City Centre Mall, Sector- 32, Noida - 201 301 (Uttar Pradesh)



International Journal of Physiology

www.ijop.net

CONTENTS

Volume 08, Number 03

July-September 2020

Contents

1.	A Non Randomized Controlled Study to Evaluate the Effect of Isotonic Handgrip Exercise on Blood Pressure in Normal Weight and Preobese Healthy Adults	1
2.	Expired Air Carbon Monoxide Levels as a Marker of Passive Smoking In Pregnant Women	6
3.	Impact of Elective Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty (PTCA) on Heart Rate Variability in Patients with Coronary Artery Disease Anahita R. Shenoy Basti, Venkatesh D., V. S. Prakash	12
4.	Effect of Progressive Muscle Relaxation on DASS Score and Reaction Time	17
5.	Effect of Yoga on Cardio Respiratory Parameter in Medical Students	24
6.	Effect of Super-Brain Yoga on the Concentrating Ability of Students	32
7.	A Study of Blood Pressure Variation in Different Phases of Menstrual Cycle	37
8.	Gender Differences in Response to Cold Pressor Test in the Age Group of 18-30 Years	41
9.	Can GSR be Used as a Tool to Early Diagnose the Autonomic Dysfunction among GAD Patients	47
10.	Vitamin D, Oxidative Stress and Cognition in Diabetes Mellitus	53
11.	Comparison of Different Teaching Method in First Year Medical Students: Both Subjectively and Objectively Dr Madhura V. Motagi, Chethan H.A.	60

II 12.	Effect of Indian Classical Instrumental Music on Stress and Anxiety in Male Medical Students
13.	Correlation of Changes of Blood Pressure and Intra Ocular Pressure After Isometric Handgrip Exercise Test in Young Adults
14.	Assessment of Hormonal Essay in Non-Obstructive and Obstructive Subject in Central India
15.	Knowledge, Attitude & Practise of Voluntary Blood Donation in Students of BRLSABVM Medical College, Rajnandgaon, Chhattisgarh
16.	Alterations in Semen Quality by Antioxidants in Stressed Healthy Individuals
17.	Effect of Occupational Exposure to Pesticides on Cardiovascular System among Farmers: A Comparative Study
18.	Comparative Study of Sympathetic Activity in Normotensive Obese and Nonobese Adults
19.	Evaluation of Efficacy of Long-term Yogic Training on Vascular Endothelial Function and Cardiovascular Responses in Healthy Individuals
20.	Effect of Family History of Hypertension on Left Ventricular Mass in Normotensive Individuals108 Yerrolla Mounica, A. Santa Kumari, Geetha Shavali

A Non Randomized Controlled Study to Evaluate the Effect of Isotonic Handgrip Exercise on Blood Pressure in Normal Weight and Preobese Healthy Adults

Akash Patel¹, Nilesh Patel²

¹MBBS Intern, College Address: Smt. B.K. Shah Medical Institute and Research Centre, Pipalya Road, Vadodara, Gujarat, ²WAS Assistant Professor, Department of Physiology S.B.K.S. M.I. & R.C., Recently Assistant Professor, Department of Physiology, Pramukhswami Medical College, Karamsad, College in Anand

Abstract

Background: The adverse health consequences of overweight and obesity in India leads to higher prevalence of diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular diseases. Also the compliance of people for routine form of exercise for BP control has not been very encouraging due to time, place etc constrains.

Aim: Therefore we conducted a nonrandomised clinical study to determine the short-term effects of isotonic handgrip exercise by using smiley balls on blood pressure in healthy normal weight and overweight adolescents with the objective to find a user friendly exercise which help in reducing blood pressure.

Method: A non randomized clinical study was conducted on 100 young normal-weight and pre-obese adults (50 Boys and 50 Girls) in the age group of 18–25 years. Isotonic handgrip exercise was performed at the rate 20 contractions/minute (2 sec contraction/1 sec relaxation) at maximal intensity for 10 minutes using **smiley ball**. Pulse rate and blood pressure parameters were tested at baseline and immediately after exercise in post-exercise recovery period.

Result: Statistically significant reduction was observed in systolic blood pressure(SBP) and mean arterial pressure (MAP) in both pre-obese boys and girls groups while pulse pressure & mean arterial pressure in normal weight girls after exercise regime.

Conclusion: We conclude that the exercise regime under consideration can produce some short-term beneficial effects with respect to blood pressure in especially pre-obese group of adults.

Keywords: Isotonic Handgrip Exercise, Normal weight and pre-obese adults.

Introduction

It is known that regular dynamic exercise reduces blood pressure (BP) and helps in the prevention of hypertension by various mechanisms such as decrease in sympathetic nerve traffic, potentiation of baroreceptor reflex, decrease inarterialstiffness, increase in total systemic arterial compliance, increase in the release of endothelium-derived nitric oxide, and increase in insulin sensitivity. It has also been reported that an acute bout of dynamic physical exercise involving large muscle mass also results in lowering of BP lasting for 12–16 hoursin the postexercise period, known as postexercise hypotension (PEH).¹ The prevalence of overweight and obesity among children and adolescents has increased significantly in the developed countries during the past two decades and similar trends are being observed even in the developing world. Targeting adolescent age group for primary prevention can be justified for many reasons. The adverse health consequences of overweight and obesity in India leads to higher prevalence of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular diseases.²

However, despite the strong evidences that recommend regular dynamic exercise involving large muscle mass (briskwalking and cycling) for lowering BP and prevention of hypertension, the compliance of people toward such forms of exercise has not been encouraging owing to various possible reasons such as comorbidconditions (osteoarthritis and coronary artery disease)and other constraints (such astime, space, and economic constraints).³

It is, therefore, necessary to design an alternative feasible form of physicalexercise involving a relatively lesser muscle mass, which can reduce BP and increase exercise compliance in the population.

Isotonic handgrip exercise is a simple, cheap, and feasible form of physicalexercise involving relatively lesser muscle mass, which can be performed as perindividual convenience with respect to time and place using simple equipment such as handgrip dynamometer, smiley ball. But, before we prescribe isotonic handgripexercise to the population, it is essential to determine whether isotonichandgrip exercise decreases BP in post-exercise period as an acute short-termeffect (PEH) and/or over a long term as a training effect. It is also essentialto understand the mechanism underlying such BP-lowering effects of isotonic handgrip exercise. As scant literature is available, which illustrate the role ofisotonic handgrip exercise in lowering blood pressure, We investigated a single bout ofisotonic handgrip exercise for PEH.

Aim & Objectives of Study

- To evaluate the effect of isotonic handgrip exercise on blood pressure
- To compare the effect of exercise on normal and preobese healthyadults in both genders.

Material and Method

- **Study Design:** A Non randomized controlled study
- **Study Population:** Medical students of age group 18 to 25 years and both the genders
- Sample size: 100 students (50 girls and 50 boys including normal weight and pre-obese)
- Inclusion criteria:
 - 1. Age group 18 to 25 years boys and girls
 - BMI -18.5 to 29.9 (normal weight-18.5-24.9; pre-obese -25 to 29.9 kg/m2)^{2,4}

Exclusion Criteria:

- 1. BMI less than 18.5 kg/m2 and more than 30 kg/m2
- 2. Participants who were smokers, athletes and suffering from chronic illness

Method

Present study was conducted on 100 voluntary participants (50 Boys and 50 Girls) at SBKS Medical Institute and Research Center (SBKS MIRC)after taking approval from Human Research Review Penal (HRRP) of SBKS MI & RC and Institutional Ethics Committee (SVIEC) of our institute and consent from participants.

Those medical students who were in the age group of 18 to 25 years and had BMI in the range of 18.5 to 29.9 kg/m2 were included in study. The body weight (Wt) was measured bare footed to the nearest 0.5 kg and the height was measured using meter scale without footwear to the nearest 0.5 cm. Body Mass Index (BMI) will be calculated as the weight (kg) divided by thesquare of height (m2).¹

The study participants were first tested for preexercise(baseline) pulse rate & blood pressure. This was followed by a bout of isotonic handgrip exercise for 10 minutes. After exercise, again pulse rate & blood pressure was taken.³

Method of Measurement of BP: The blood pressure was measured in the non-dormant arm in the sitting position with arm and back support. The blood pressure was recorded at the interval of 1 min till the difference between two consecutive blood pressure regarding was<5mmHg. The average of the two consecutive readings was used for stastical analysis. The systolic and diastolic blood pressure was measured by using digital sphygmomanometer¹. Pulse pressure (PP) was calculated by using formula: systolic blood pressure (SBP) – diastolic blood pressure (DBP). Mean arterial pressure (MAP) was calculated by formula (Diastolic Pressure + 1/3 Pulse pressure(PP).¹

Method of Performing Single Bout of Isotonic Handgrip Exercise: The single bout of isotonic handgrip exercise was performed by the dominant hand of the participants using smiley ball for duration of 10 minutes continuously at an intensity of MVC. During the exercise the participant was asked to squeeze the ball for 2 seconds (Contraction phase) followed by release of the ball for 1 second (Relaxation phase) such that a compression cycle rate of 20/min (each cycle had 2 seconds contraction followed by 1 second of relaxation) is achieved. (1) Exercise was stopped if the heart rate rises above 85% MHR or Blood Pressure rises above 180/110 mmHg.^{1,3} **Statistical Analysis:** Mean and Standard Deviation of the study variables were calculated for Pre-exercise baseline and Immediate Post-Exercise Period. Student's Paired t-test was used to study if any significant differences in study variables were observed between the Pre-exercise and the post-exercise periods. P value < 0.05 was considered as significant.

Ethical Issues

No ethical issue in this research project because of

• Intervention was simple handgrip exercise in the study

• Voluntary participation is in inclusion criteria.

Feasibility Issues:

- Sample size according to the time
- No ethical issues
- Data will collected rapidly, no complicated procedure involved

So this project is feasible in current set up and condition

Observations:

	Boys(n=50)	Girls (n=50)				
	Normal (n=27)	Preobese(n=23)	Normal (n=28)	Preobese(n=22)			
Age(Yrs)	21.6 ± 1.63	20.7 ± 1.3	20.4 ± 0.64	20.6 ± 0.94			
Weight (Kg)	63 ± 7.07	77.83 ± 8.37	50 ± 5.94	57.4 ± 4.16			
Height (Cm)	172.3 ± 9.08	170.8 ± 11.3	158 ± 6.34	152 ± 9.45			
BMI (Kg/M ²)	21.1 ± 1.5	27.04 ± 1.41	20.02 ± 1.49	26.55 ± 1.4			
Values indicate Mean \pm SD [*] Indicates significant difference between groups. P value < 0.05							

Table 1: Subject Characteristics

Table 2: Short-term Effects of Single Bout of Isotonic Handgrip Exercise on Blood pressure in boys

	Normal weight			Preobese		
	Baseline	Post-exe	p-Value	Baseline	Post-exe	p-Value
Pulse Rate	82.27±6.56	84±6.9	0.35	83.63±5.34	86±6.5	0.184
SBP	122.4±4.89	119±6.37	0.087	129.1 ± 5.67	126±6.32	0.017*
DBP	76.6±5.87	75.2±5	0.35	81.4±7.33	78.2±6.89	0.135
РР	45.75±5.58	44±7.6	0.34	47.75±5.23	47±4.7	0.612
MAP	92±4.9	89.8±4.16	0.081	97±6.4	94±6.33	0.019*
Values indicate M	ean + SD * Indicate	es significant differe	ence between group	r P value < 0.05		

Values indicate Mean \pm SD * Indicates significant difference between groups. P value < 0.05

Table 3: Short-term Effects of Single Bout of Isotonic Handgrip Exercise on Blood pressure in Girls

	Normal weight			Preobese						
	Baseline	Post-exe	p-Value	Baseline	Post-exe	p-Value				
Pulse Rate	79.79±9.35	81.3±6.93	0.48	79.83±8.9	82.5±4.45	0.226				
SBP	116±9.43	105.9±8.66	0.64	115±7.44	106.6±8.75	0.002*				
DBP	71.6±6.4	71±5.76	0.709	74.7±6.99	75.3±7.11	0.784				
РР	44±11	35±7.3	0.001*	40±9.7	31±10	0.005*				
MAP	86.25±5.68	82.7±5.94	0.024*	106.6±8.75	85.7±5.98	0.045*				
Values indicate M	Iean \pm SD [*] Indicate	Values indicate Mean \pm SD [*] Indicates significant difference between groups. P value < 0.05								

Table 1 shows subject characteristics age in yrs, weight (Kg), height (Cms) and BMI (Kg/M²) in both genders. As depicted in Table 2 and Table 3, in comparison to the pre-exercise baseline condition, systolic blood pressure(SBP), mean arterial pressure(MAP) in Preobese groups of both genders were found to be significantly different in the Post-Exercise period. Table 3 shows also significant reduction in pulse pressure(PP) and mean arterial pressure (MAP) in normal weight girls.

Discussions

The current study indicates that Isotonic Handgrip Exercise performed for 10 minutes at an intensity of MVC at a Compression cycle of 20 contractions per minute can produce post-exercise hypotension (PEH) in preobese adults as compared to normal weight adults specially in girls.

PEH has been well documented in humans with both borderline hypertension and hypertension. However, its occurrence in normotensive humans is inconsistent because of lesser magnitude than in hypertensive individuals and compensatory mechanisms such as the Baroreflex, which are activated in normotensive.⁵JR Macdonald et al had found no difference in magnitude of hypotension following 30 min of cycle ergometry at 50% and 75% VO₂ peak in normotensive volunteers.⁵ In contrast Pescatello et al were unable to document PEH in a normotensive.⁶ These findings show that the effect of dynamic exercise on blood pressure in normotensive subjects is less clear. Our study has been conducted on healthy young normalweight adolescents aged 18-25 yrs and this could be possible reason for no significant results after a single exercise session.

Victor Ronald et al. found no significant difference in mean arterial pressure after rhythmic handgrip exercise at 10, 30 and 50 % of MVC and mild two-arm cycling at 0 to 20 watt, but at 40 and 60 watt intensity two arm cycling shows significant difference in arterial pressure response as compared to baseline values in recovery period.⁷ Present study shows significant difference in systolic blood pressure and mean arterial pressure in Preobese adults after a single bout of 10 minutes isotonic handgrip exercise at maximal intensity.

Nilesh Patel et al. study showed no significant difference in blood pressure due to normotensive adolescents and lower intensity isotonic handgrip exercise with more relaxation as compared to contractions.¹ Current study also has no significance result in normal weight group but has significant difference in Preobese group due to higher intensity exercise with more contraction duration as compared to relaxation during exercise session.

A recent meta-analysis of 18 prospective cohortshas shown elevated the risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) by 1.55 (relative risk, RR), coronary heartdisease (CHD) by 1.50, and stroke by 1.71 in pre-hypertension group compared to normotensive group. It is one of the most common modifiable risk factors in CVD. Mean reduction of 3.0mmHg in SBP could reduce mortality from CHD by 6% and from stroke by 9%. Another subanalysis for healthy and hypertensive studies showed mean reduction of 4.03mmHg in SBP and of 2.96mmHg in DBP.⁸ The current study also reported significant reduction in SBP and MAP in Preobese groups in both genders.

Isotonic forearm exercise produces less of demand on heart than continuous isometric exercise. Marjorie et al. found that cardiovascular response produced by isotonic exercises is intensity dependant and exercise sessions which includes relaxation between contractions shows lower cardiovascular response.⁹ Many studies done as rhythmic handgrip exercises show significant rise in Muscle Sympathetic Nerve Activity (MSNA) and blood pressure during exercise sessions of different intensity but post-exercise response is less significant.⁷ In the present study, we have used protocol for isotonic handgrip exercise with less relaxation between contractions and which is probably responsible for the exercise to produce cardiovascular changes in postexercise period specially in preobese adults.

Three mechanisms are thought to be responsible for the neural cardiovascular modulation during voluntary muscle contractions: an activation of higher brain centers ("central command") as well as reflex activity primarily involving inputs from chemo- and mechanoreceptor ("muscle metaboreflex") and baroreceptor afferents ("baroreflex"). The influence of each mechanism on the heart rate and blood pressure response to exercise depends on factors like recruited muscle mass, muscle fiber type, exercise intensity and the exercise mode.¹⁰

When oxygen delivery to active skeletal muscle is insufficient to meet the metabolic demands during dynamic exercise, metabolites (e.g., lactic acid, adenosine, potassium, diprotonated phosphate, and arachidonic acid products, among others) accumulate within the active muscle and stimulate group III and IV afferent neurons. These sensory neurons project to the medulla oblongata and their activity elicits reflex increases in sympathetic nerve activity and systemic blood pressure in an effort to enhance blood flow to the ischemic muscle. Termed the muscle metaboreflex, this response is thought to provide important functional links between metabolism in active muscles and central hemodynamics during exercise. Our results show that increasing workload shifts the muscle metaboreflex threshold to higher blood flow levels and therefore reduces the change in blood flow necessary toelicit a reflex pressor response.¹¹

Conclusion

Present study reveals that a single bout of an isotonic handgrip exercise performed by dominant hand at an intensity of MVC using a **smiley ball** with contraction frequency of 20/minute for 10 minutes can produce post-exercise hypotension into the post-exercise period. However, further studies are required to determine if such exercise form can produce PEH in the hypertensive population and to study the long-term effects of training on blood pressure with such form of exercise in larger population.

Study limitations and Future Perspective: A major limitation of the study was that the participants were also normotensive individuals. Thus, it is essential to study the effect in Prehypertensive and hypertensive population. It is also required to determine if PEH can be produced by lowering the intensity, contraction cycle rate and duration of exercise. And finally, it is essential to study the effects of isotonic handgrip exercise training on blood pressure and cardiovascular autonomic functions in larger groups.

Ethical Clearance: Taken From Sumandeep Vidyapeeth Institutional Ethics Committee (SVIEC).

Source of Funding: Self

Conflict of Interest: Nil

References

- Nileshkumar H Patel, Wasim Shaikh, Sushil Kumar Singh; Can isotonichandgrip exercise cause postexercise hypotension in healthy adolescents? International Journal of Medical Science and Public Health | 2015 | Vol 4 | Issue 11;1580-1583.
- 2. Anand Krishna Gorantla, Murari Pradeep Kumar; A cross sectional study on association between

overweight and obesity in adolescent population; Int J Community Med Public Health. 2017 Jan;4(1):115-119.

- Nileshkumar H Patel, Hasmukh D Shah, Wasim A Shaikh, Sushil K Singh; Short term effects of isotonic handgrip exercise on cardiovascular autonomic reactivity in healthy young adoloscents;National Journal of Community Medicine₁Volume 6₁Issue 2₁Apr – Jun 2015;390-393.
- K. Park; Textbook of Preventive and Social Medicine; 24th Edition; Epidemiology of chronic non communicable diseases and conditions;pp 335-370.
- JR MacDonald, JD MacDougall and CD Hogben. The effects of exercise duration on postexercise hypotension. Journal of Human Hypertension 2000; 14: 125–129.
- Linda S. Pescatello, Ann E. Fargo, Charles N. Leach Jr. and Herbert H. Scherzer. Short-term effect of dynamic exercise on arterial blood pressure. Circulation 1991; 83: 1557-1561.
- Ronald G. Victor, Douglas R. Seals, and Allyn L. Mark. Differential control of heart rate and sympathetic nerve activity during dynamic exercise; insight from intraneural recordings in humans. J. Clin. Invest. 1987; 79: 508-516.
- SonuPunia, SivachidambaramKulandaivelan, Varun Singh,and Vandana Punia; Effect of Aerobic Exercise Training on Blood Pressure in Indians: Systematic Review; International Journal of Chronic Diseases; Volume 2016; Article ID 1370148; 8 pages.
- Marjorie Greer, Susan Dimick and Stephanie Burns. Heart rate and blood pressure response to several method of strength training. PHYS THER. 1984; 64:179-183.
- Matthias Weippert, Kristin Behrens, Annika Rieger, Regina Stoll, Steffi Kreuzfeld; Heart Rate Variability and Blood Pressure during Dynamic and Static Exercise at Similar Heart Rate Levels; December 2013 | Volume 8 | Issue 12;pp.
- 11. Ichinose M, Delliaux S, Watanabe K, Fujii N, NishiyasuT.;Evaluation of muscle metaboreflex function through graded reduction in forearm blood flow during rhythmic handgrip exercise in humans;Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol301: H609–H616, 2011.

Expired Air Carbon Monoxide Levels as a Marker of Passive Smoking In Pregnant Women

Amareswari V.H.¹, Padma K.²

¹Assistant Professor, Dept of Physiology, Rajarajeswari Medical College, Bengaluru, ²Redt Prof and Director, Dept of Physiology, Madras Medical College, Chennai, Tamilnadu

Abstract

Background and Aim: Smoking directly or indirectly has serious impact on health of an individual. During smoking various chemicals and toxic substances are released into the air such as nicotine, carbon monoxide which can be inhaled by the people nearby indirectly. Pregnant mothers may passively inhale carbonmonoxide when exposed to such environment. Maternal Carbon monoxide passes through placenta and enters foetalblood combine with foetalhaemoglobin forming foetal carboxy haemoglobin. Foetal carboxy haemoglobin in turn makes oxygen unavailable to foetal tissues which could be the reason for various poor outcomes in unborn foetus such as low birth weight, intra uterine growth retardation with higher rates of perinatal mortality. This study is aimed at measuring the expired air carbon monoxide levels in passively smoking pregnant women that can be correlated with exposure to passive smoking.

Method and Materials: 100 antenatal women of gestational age between 26 to 34 weeks with and without exposure to passive smoking were measured for carbon monoxide levels in their expired air using simple, portable non invasive carbon monoxidemonitor.

Statistical Analysis: Data analysis was done with unpaired student t test. P value of <0.05 was taken to be significant.

Results: No significant statistical difference is observed between cases and control groups in expired aircarbon monoxide levels.

Discussion and Conclusion: The lesser half life of carbon monoxide in exhaled air. The longtime interval between the exposure and the time of testing, the metabolic changes associated with pregnancy could have made this test inconclusive. Though gold standard blood analytic method cannot be replaced by this breath monitors, it can be used as a simple portable noninvasive tool to educate pregnant women to avoid exposure to passive smoking.

Keywords: Expired air carbon monoxide, pregnant women, passive smokers, foetal carboxy haemoglobin.

Introduction

According to the international consultation on environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) and child health,

Corresponding Author: Dr. Amareswari V.H. Assistant Professor, Dept of Physiology, Rajarajeswari Medical College, Bengaluru, e-mail: amareswarivh@gmail.com maternalsmoking is associated with many harmful effects on the outcome of unborn foetus. Low birth weight and growth retardation are common complications¹. There is also 33% increase in perinatal mortality, 50% increase in idiopathic mental retardation. Other complications include sudden infant death syndrome², attention deficit hyperactivity disordersand premature delivery. The components emitted during smoking cross the placenta and act as mutagens resulting in childhood cancers like acute lymphocytic leukemia and lymphoma³. In countries like India though maternal smoking is not as common as western countries indirect exposure to smoking is not uncommon. There is evidence thatpassively smoking pregnant women show harmful effects on outcome of pregnancy as those of smokingmothers. These includemiscarriage, stillbirth, congenital malformations, low birth weight, intrauterine growth retardation, sudden infant death syndrome, and preterm delivery⁴.

The so called passive smoker inhale the side stream smoke arising from burning end of the cigarette which contributes to 85% of smoke present in the room. This side-stream smoke appears to have the lethal toxic gases in considerably higher concentrations than in the mainstream smoke⁵. Carbon monoxide and nicotine are the common gases emitted during smoking. On average 4% carbon monoxide is present in cigarette smoke⁶. In a smoke filled room a non smoker is exposed to 25-100 ppm carbon monoxide.

Carbon monoxide combines with maternal haemoglobin and form carboxy haemoglobin which in turn crosses the placenta and leads to foetal hypoxia. Nicotine in the smoke causes vasoconstriction aggravating foetal hypoxia. Nicotinic effects may be due to inappropriate stimulation of nicotine cholinergic receptors and its neuroteratogenicity⁷.

Carbon monoxide is a colourless, odourless gas produced from incomplete combustion of fossil fuels. Exhaust fumes from the vehicles, malfunctioning heaters, poorly ventilated fires and exposure to tobacco smoke are some of the commonest sources of carbon monoxide production. It enters the body mainly by inhalation. Haemmetabolism contributes to some of its endogenous production⁸.Carbon monoxide dissolves in the plasma and binds with haemoglobin, the oxygen transporting pigment.It has high affinity for haemoglobin about 240 times that of oxygen, shifting oxygen dissociation curve to left⁹. This results inunavailability and utilization of oxygen by the tissues. In foetus the affinity is still more about 172 times. This accounts for at least some of its toxic effects^{10,11}.There is a close relationship between concentration of carbon monoxide in the expired air andmaternal bloodcarboxyhaemoglobin (% COHb) concentration¹².

The carbon monoxide is eliminated in exhaled breath due to dissociation of carboxyhaemoglobin allowing free carbon monoxide to be present in the expired air. This can be employed in estimating carbon monoxidelevels in the blood by indirectly measuring exhaled CO^{13.}Also there is a direct link between the level of CO in an expectant mother's breath and the level of CO in her unborn foetus blood. This is known as "Fetal carboxyhaemoglobin" (%FCOHb)¹⁴. Proportion of **FCOHb** levelis higher when compared to maternal COHb.This level has been found to be on average 1.8 times higher in the baby than in the mother¹⁵

Various method are used to assess smoking exposure such as assays of cotinine (the major metabolite of nicotine) in urine and blood, hair nicotine, breath carbon monoxide analysis and self reporting.Measure of expired air carbon monoxide levels is a rapid, noninvasive and cheap method to assess exposure to passive smoking and can be used safely for antenatal clinic settings¹⁶. Breath CO monitors measure carbon monoxide in parts per million (ppm) in expired air and display breath concentration of CO reading along with its corresponding blood concentrationlevels.

Therefore, the present study is aimed at measurement of expiredair carbon monoxide level (ppm) in passive pregnant smokers and corresponding % carboxy haemoglobin level (blood CO) using the non invasive Carbon monoxide check+ instrument.

Materials and Method

Study Design: Prospective case control study

This study conducted in August 2014 in Govt Egmorematernity hospital after institutional ethics clearance. 100 pregnant women in the gestational age group between 26-34 weeks were selected randomly from morningantenatal clinic and classified into 2 groups those exposed to passive smoking (Exposure to other people's tobacco smoke) and those not exposed to passive smoking. Inclusion criteria for study selection: Pregnant women with gestational age 26-34 weeks (exposed as well as non exposed to passive smoking) Exclusion Criteria: Pregnant women who are active smokers, those exposed to cooking wood fire, known chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, pulmonary tuberculosis, acute or Chronic lung diseases, and other maternal related or general illness. All the participants included were informed about the study and a written and informed consent were obtained from them. They were subjected to complete general and systemic examination. The study and control group were subjected to non invasive assessment of expired air CO levels using CO check + instrument. After comfortably seated in the chair for a while the subjects were asked to inhale

8 International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03

deeply, hold the breath for 15 sec and exhale slowly into the disposable mouth piece attached to the CO check + instrument. Breath carbon monoxide reading were noted and reported as parts per million (ppm) .The CO Check + instrument detect carbon monoxide gas by means of an electrochemical gas sensor. They incorporate a graphic LCD displayer that display the carbon monoxide concentration level in a numerical format and/or colored indicators that correspond to various concentration ranges like green 0-6 ppm indicates no exposure, yellow 7-10ppm indicates mild -moderate exposure andred 10-20ppm indicates severe exposure. The % COHb along with the results of CO she passed on to her unborn baby were also displayed in % FCOHbor foetalcarboxyhaemoglobin. All measurements were backed up with an appropriate colour code to show the risk of exposure. The sensitivity of the instrument is as low as 1 ppm.



Figure 1: Carbon monoxide check plus instrument

Statistical Analysis: The results of the above tests were evaluated statistically using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software version 21.

Results

The mean and standard deviation of the variable were determined for the two groups. Independent student t test was employed as the Test of significance at 95% confidence interval and P value < 0.05 was considered as significant.

Table 1: Comparison of CO in ppm in exhaled air between exposed and non exposed

Variable	Group	Ν	Mean	SD	P value	
CO (ppm)	Exposed	50	2.78	1.01	0.145**	
	Non exposed	50	2.48	0.97		
** p -value >0.05 not statistically significant						

Variable	Group	Ν	Mean	SD	P value	
	Exposed	50	0.45	0.17	0.1186**	
%CO Hb(ppm)	Non exposed	50	0.39	0.15		
** p -value >0.05 not statistically significant						

Table 2: Comparison of % COHb in ppm between exposed and non exposed

Table 1 shows comparision of carbonmonoxide in ppm in exhaled air between exposed and non exposed to passive smoking which shows that the mean CO ppm in exposed group was 2.78 ± 1.01 and that of non exposed group was 2.48 ± 0.97 . There was no statistically significant difference between the two groups (p-value>0.05)

Table 2 shows comparision of % COHb between exposed and non exposed to passive smoking which shows mean % COHb was 0.45 ± 0.17 and that off non exposed group 0.39 ± 0.15 . There is no statistically significant difference between the two groups(pvalue>0.05).

Discussion

Pregnant mothers fall under high risk groups. They transmit many substances to the unborn foetus compromising the outcome of the baby. These people when inhale carbon monoxide emitted from cigarette smoke passively tend to transmit the same to unborn foetus. Foetalhaemoglobin binds with carbon monoxide so that oxygen is made unavailable to foetal tissue. Exhaled air CO correlates better with blood CO percentage. Though many gold standard method are available to measure carbon monoxide levels, a non invasive simple method is used to find out the exposure to passive smoking in this study. The result of this study showed that expired air breath carbon monoxide analysis by breath monitors is less reliable in detecting exposure to passive smoking in pregnant women. In both case and control groups expired air CO levels were less than 6ppm which indicates no exposure (2.78±1.01 and 2.48±0.97 respectively) and corresponding maternal blood % COHb< $0.96 (0.45\pm0.17 \text{ and } 0.39\pm0.15 \text{ respectively})$ shows highly insignificant results. This unreliability of the test may be related to some of the physiological changes that occur during pregnancy.

The clearance of some drugs, chemicals is altered during pregnancy which results in short half- life of carbon monoxide. This narrow window for detection could be the reason for the negative results in this study (Koren G et al)¹⁷. The plasma half life of carbon monoxide is found to be 5 hours in air. Cotinine test is considered as most accurate method of measuring environmental tobacco exposure with longer half life about 9 hrs in pregnant women (Benowitz NL et al)¹⁸

As per the study by Frederiksen LW, Martin JE et al¹⁹ shows the longer interval between an overnight sleep and the test results in the morning could explain the negative results.

Also the relatively low levels of carbon monoxide in breath during passive smoking when compared to those of active smokers may be the reason of this unreliability. Studies by Ashford KB et al²⁰ showed that passive exposure to smoking results in far lower levels of carbon monoxide in the breath compared with active tobacco smoking.

Thus the findings of this study confirmed that there is no difference in breath carbon monoxide levels between the study and the compared group. And the levels of carbon monoxide in exhaled air as measured by breath monitors can be considered as an invalid tool. But still this method can be used for screening smoking exposure among pregnant population and educating them to avoid further exposure to smoking environment. However further evaluation regarding the method of measurement to reduce passive smoking exposure among pregnant women; more vigorous biomarker detection tests to quantify the smoking exposure are needed²¹

This study population not included occupational environmental tobacco smoke exposure and domestic wood fire exposure which are other common causes of smoke; it should extend to this group too. Sometimes just eliciting history of chronic exposure to passive smoking in pregnant women will alert the primary health care personnel to reinforce the required care.

Antenatal clinic settings represent an opportunity to motivate pregnant women for avoidance of further 10 International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03

smoking exposure whether passive or active. There are studies that confirm health education on the harmful effects of passive smoking was associated with a reduction of further exposure.

The limitations of this study include the use of electronic device rather than gold standard biomarkers.

Conclusion

The result of this study concludes that analysis of expired air carbon monoxidelevels by breath monitors not be useful as marker of exposure to passive smoking in pregnant women. Lesser half life of carbon monoxide, various physiological and metabolic changes associated with pregnancy, prolongedtime interval between the test and exposure might have made this test inconclusive. But in many Indian scenarios the seriousness of passive exposure of smoking usually ignored among pregnant women, thus exposing unborn foetus to various serious consequences. So non invasive portable breath monitors can be used as a tool to educate pregnant women to aware of exposure to passive smoking at earliest to avoid complications in the foetus.

Conflict of Interest: No

Source of Funding: Self

Ethical Clearance: Taken from Institutional Ethics Committee, Madras Medical College.

References

- 1. International Consultation on Environmental Tobacco Smoke (ETS) and Child Health, 11-14 January 1999, Geneva, Switzerland. Consultation Report. Geneva, WHO, 1999
- Hutter CD, BlairME. Carbon monoxide-does fetal exposure cause sudden infant death syndrome? Med hypotheses 1996; 46:1-4
- Kwak HM, Yang MH, Leems. Cytogenic effects on mouse foetus of acute and chronic transplacental in vivo exposure to carbon monoxide; Induction of micro nuclei and sister chromatid exchanges. Yonsei med J 1986: 27: 205-212
- Leonard-Bee J, Britton J, Venn A, Second hand smoke and adverse foetal outcomes in non smoking pregnant women: A meta-analysis. Pediatrics 2011;127:734-41.
- Fielding JE, Phenow KJ . Health effects of involuntary smoking. N Engl J Med 1988;

319:1452-60.

- Osborne JS, Adamek S, Hobbs ME. Some components of gas components of cigarette smoke. Anal Chem 1956; 28: 211
- Roy TS, Andrews JE, Seidler FJ, Slotkin TA. Nicotine evokes cell death in embryonic rat brain during neurulation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1998; 287:1136-44
- Coburn RF, Blakemore WS, Forster RE. Endogenous carbon monoxide in man J Clin Invest 1963; 42:1172–1178.
- 9. Schuwey D, Tempini A, Habb P. Carbon monoxide equilibrium curve of human umbilical cord blood. Adv Exp Med Biol 1990; 277:209-214
- Douglas CG, Haldane JS, Haldane JBS. The laws of combination of haemoglobin with carbon monoxide and oxygen. J Physiol1912; 44:275–304.
- Turner M, Hamilton-Farrell MR, Clark RJ. Carbon monoxide poisoning: an update. J Accid Emerg Med 1999; 16:91–103.
- Wald NJ, Idle M, Boreham J, et al. Carbon monoxide in breath inrelation to smoking and carboxyhaemoglobin levels. Thorax 1981; 36:366– 9.
- 13. Stewart RD, Stewart RS, Stamm W, et al. Rapid estimation of carboxyhaemoglobin levels in fire-fighters. JAMA 1976; 235:390–2.
- Gomez, C (2005). "Expired air carbon monoxide concentration in mothers and their spouses above 5ppm is associated with decreased fetal growth". Preventive Medicine 40: 10–15.
- Secker-Walker RH, Vacek PM, Flynn BS, Mead PB. Exhaled carbon monoxide and urinary cotinine as measures of smoking in pregnancy, Addict Behav 1997;22:671-84
- Bittoun R. Carbon monoxide meter: The essential clinical tool- the 'stethoscope"-of smoking cessation. Journal of Smoking Cessation,2008; 3(2): 69-70.
- Koren G. Pharmacokinetics in pregnancy; clinical significance, J Popul Their Clin pharmacol 2011; 18:e523-7
- Benowitz NL, Jacob P,Metabolism of nicotine to cotinine studied by a dual stable isotope method. Clin pharmacol, Their 1994;56:483-93
- 19. Frederiksen LW, Martin JE. Carbon monoxide and smoking behavior. Addict Bebah 1979; 4:21-30

- Ashford KB, Hahn E, Hall L,Rayens MK, Noland M, Collins R, Measuring prenatal secondhand smoke exposure in mother-baby couplets. Nicotine Tob Res 2010; 12:127-35.
- 21. Florescu A, Ferrence R, Einarson T, Selby P, Soldin

O, Koren G. Method for quantification of exposure to cigarette smoking and environmental tobacco smoke: Focus on developmental toxicology.Ther Drug Monit 2009;31:14-30.

Impact of Elective Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty (PTCA) on Heart Rate Variability in Patients with Coronary Artery Disease

Anahita R. Shenoy Basti¹, Venkatesh D.², V. S. Prakash²

1Assistant Professor, Department of Physiology, Father Muller Medical College, Mangalore-575002, India, ²Professor, Department of Physiology, M.S. Ramaiah Medical College, Bangalore-560054, India

Abstract

Coronary artery disease (CAD) is a major public health problem in India and is one of the leading causes of mortality and morbidity. Impairment of heart rate variability (HRV) has been observed in patients with CAD. Percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty (PTCA) is one of the common modalities of treatment of CAD. In this study we have studied the effect of successful elective PTCA on HRV parameters in patients with CAD.

Material and Method: HRV parameters in both time and frequency domain were studied in 30 male patients before PTCA, one day and three day after PTCA.

Results: - The time and frequency domain parameters between pre PTCA and 1st day post PTCA were not found to be statistically significant. Changes in the time domain parameter rMSSD and SDNN was statistically significant between pre and 3rd day post PTCA but no significant difference was observed in pNN50. A significant decrease in LF n.u and increase in HF n.u was observed between pre and 3rd day post PTCA.

Conclusion: Revascularization with PTCA results in improvement of the autonomic tone. Improved autonomic modulation is seen as early as 3rd day post PTCA. It indicates that restoring the blood flow reverses to some extent the autonomic modulatory effect of coronary artery disease.

Keywords: Coronary artery disease, heart rate variability, PTCA

Introduction

Heart rate variability (HRV) is defined as the physiological variation in the duration of intervals between sinus beats¹. The property of automaticity is intrinsic to the pacemaker tissue of the heart but the rate

Corresponding Author: Dr. D. Venkatesh Professor of Physiology, M.S. Ramaiah Medical College, Bangalore -560054 e-mail: venkatesh40@gmail.com Mobile: 9845938810 and rhythm are influenced by the autonomic nervous system. HRV reflects the activity of the divisions of the autonomic nervous system on the heart rate $(HR)^2$.

HRV is a non invasive, affordable and reproducible technique to measure the autonomic function. HRV is altered in conditions such as obesity, diabetes mellitus, asthma and also coronary artery disease(CAD).

Coronary artery disease is a major public health problem in India and is one of the leading causes of mortality and morbidity³. Impairment of HRV in CAD has been extensively studied and has been attributed to arrythmias and risk of sudden cardiac deaths^{4,5,6}. PTCA is one of the common modalities of treatment of CAD. Successful PTCA results in improved left ventricular (LV) systolic function, reduced anginal symptoms, increased exercise capacity and an increase in survival^{7,8}.

However, there is limited information on the effect of successful PTCA on the recovery pattern of HRV. The importance of studying the recovery pattern of HRV following PTCA is to understand the mechanisms involved in arrhythmias and reperfusion injuries. Variable alterations in HRV have been documented in patients after undergoing PTCA. Some studies have shown a decrease in the parasympathetic tone associated with or without an increase in the sympathetic tone following revascularisation^{9,10}.

The reason for these variations may be due to incomplete understanding of the manner in which obstruction to coronary artery and its reperfusion affects HRV.

Thus, in this study, influence of successful elective PTCA on the parameters of HRV in patients with uncomplicated CAD was evaluated. In addition, the alteration in HRV based on the artery involved is also studied.

Material and Method

Male patients admitted to the hospital with TMT positive for inducible angina and angiography with a single vessel block of more than 70% were screened. Patients in the age group of 40-65 years and satisfying the exclusion criteria were recruited for the study. The control group consisted of age, sex and anthropometrically matched TMT negative subjects. The patients with diseases or on drugsthat altered the autonomic functions, athletes and obese individuals were excluded from the study.

The sample size of 30 was determined based on the projected availability of patients during the period of study.

Detailed protocol of the study, extent of their involvement, the right to terminate during the study and the possible complications was explained in patient's own language. An informed written consent was obtained from the participants.

Detailed history was taken followed by clinical examination of the subject and the findings were confirmed by the attending physician/cardiologist. Their height was measured in meters using a stadiometer and weight was measured in kilograms using sensitive balance. BMI was calculated by using the formula weight in Kg/height in meter². Waist circumference was measured at a level midway between the lowest rib and the iliac crest, the hip circumference at the level of the great trochanters and Waist hip ratio was calculated.

The HRV recordings were done between 9.00am to 12.00 noon of the day in a quiet semi-dark room to avoid the bias of changes due to circadian rhythm. HRV recordings were done a day before, 24 hours after and on the third day after PTCA.

The patient scheduled for HRV recording was instructed to abstain from rigorous exercise, consumption of alcohol, stimulants beverages like coffee or tea and smoking. The patient was rested for period of 15 minutes in supine position. 5 min ECG was recorded by placing the electrodes in right infraclavicular, left infraclavicular and left iliac regions. The ECG was analyzed using RMS Vagus HRV software (RMS, India).

The analysis from the HRV software provides information about time domain and frequency domain parameters.

Statistical Analysis: The data was expressed as mean + standard deviation. One way analyses of variance (ANOVA) were used to test the difference between groups.

Results

The mean age of our study population was 53.97 ± 6.42 yrs. The mean BMI was 25.69 ± 2.57 kg/m² and 0.88 ± 0.87 was the mean waist hip ratio. The resting heart rate was 88.77 ± 4.20 beats/min.

The time and frequency domain parameters between before PTCA and 1st day post PTCA were not found to be statistically significant.

Time domain parameters rMSSDand SDNN was statistically significant between pre and 3rd day post PTCA but no significant change was observed in pNN50. A significant decrease in LF n.u and increase in HF n.u was observed between pre and 3rd day post PTCA.

No statistical significance was found between the involved artery and alteration of HRV.

HRV parameters (n=30)	Pre PTCA	Post day 1	Post day 3
HR (beats/min)	88.77±4.20	89.60±2.71	84.73±3.89
SDNN(ms)	20.08±7.43	19.12±9.04	26.30±10.40
rMSSD	12.62±7.77	12.29±7.53	19.69±10.08
pNN50	1.92±4.19	1.78±5.50	2.34±6.17
LF ms2	51.50±44.95	49.50±39.55	42.70±33.93
HF ms2	21.47±19.00	23.00±22.74	36.26±34.95
LF (n.u.)	67.95±14.12	65.67±14.89	55.06±15.60
HF (n.u.)	31.98±14.12	34.28±14.91	44.83±15.77
LF/HF ratio	2.70±1.26	2.38±1.24	1.56±1.16

Table No. 1: Comparison of HRV pre, 1st and 3rd day post PTCA

Table No. 2: Comparison of HRV parameters pre, 1st and 3rd day post PTCA

Dependent Variable Comparis		rison between	Mean Difference	Std. Error	Sig.
SDNN(ma)	Duo	Post Day 1	0.959	2.33	1.000
SDININ(ms)	Pre	Post Day 3	-6.22	2.33	0.028
rMSSD	Due	Post Day 1	0.33	2.20	1.000
	Pre	Post Day 3	-7.07	2.20	0.006
NB 150	D	Post Day 1	0.14	1.38	1.000
pinin 50	Pre	Post Day 3	-0.42	1.38	1.000
	Due	Post Day 1	2.27	3.84	1.000
LF (n.u.)	Pre	Post Day 3	12.88	3.84	0.004
	D	Post Day 1	-2.30	3.86	1.000
HF (n.u.)	Pre	Post Day 3	-12.84	3.86	0.004
	Duo	Post Day 1	0.32	0.31	0.925
	rie	Post Day 3	1.14	0.31	0.002

Discussion

Alteration of HRV in CAD has been implicated in various adverse outcomes like arrhythmias and also death. Ischemia and infarction resulting from CAD are known to alter the functioning of the autonomic balance to the heart. However, little information exists on the modulation of autonomic system following PTCA, which is a common modality of treatment of CAD.

We have studied the effect of successful PTCA on the parameters of heart rate variability a day before, one day and three day after the procedure. Both the time domain and frequency domain parameters were assessed. In the time domain, SDNN, rMSSD, pNN50 were assessed and in the frequency domain L.F, H.F, and LF/HF ratios were analysed. Time domain parameter SDNN assesses overall variation in the heart rate. rMSSD estimates the vagally mediated changes reflected in HRV, pNN50 correlated with parasympathetic nervous system activity. Frequency domain parameter L.F reflects baroreflex activity, H.F reflects parasympathetic activity and LF/HF ratio reflecting the sympathovagal balance^{11,12}.

In our study, there was a significant improvement in rMSSD and SDNN accompanied by decrease in LF nu and increase in HF nu three day post PTCA. This indicates decrease in sympathetic tone and a shift in the autonomic balance towards parasympathetic system.

In a similar study by Ali Aydinlar et al, found SDNN, rMSSD and HF to be increased and LF to be decreased immediately after PTCA indicating an increase in parasympathetic tone associated with a decrease in sympathetic tone¹³.

Astudy by Agnieszka Janowska-Kulińskaet al analysed the effect of PTCA before and 24 hours the procedure found a decrease in HF and increase in LF/ HF ratio indicating an increase in the sympathetic tone and decrease in the balance between sympathetic and parasympathetic tone. They attributed this to changes induced by myocardial reperfusion which produced a pressure overload and strain on the myocardial fibers. Denervation of the myocardial nerve endings due to accumulation of potassium, adenosine, free radical and mitochondrial loading with calcium has also been hypothesized¹⁴.

Similar findings were reported in a study by Kanadasi et al. They assessed the HRV parameters 24h, 10 days and 30 days after PTCA and found a reduction in HRV 24 hafter PTCA which was more significant in patients with previous Myocardial infarction. Recovery was only observed 10th day post PTCA⁹.

Variable alterations in HRV have been observed in the above studies with some showing changes in the autonomic regulation as early as 24 h after the procedure. Our study has shown an increase in the HF nu one day post PTCA. However statistical significance has not been achieved. Ethnicity could be implicated for the delayed recovery as Indians are more prone to CAD and at an earlier age than the western population. Further research is needed in this direction.

Studies by Tseng et al, Sedziwy E et al, Wennerblom B et al have shown a more gradual recovery of the HRV. Tseng et al showed an improvement in the sympathovagal balance 1 month post PTCA. Sympathovagal imbalance did not correlate with the severity of the CAD score in this study¹⁵. Sedziwy E et al ¹⁶ showed increase in parasympathetic control of the heart rate two weeks after successful PTCA. Beneficial increase influenced both parts of the autonomic nervous system.

Wennerblom B et al¹⁰ studied the effect of complete revascularisation on the HRV parameters 1 month and 6 months after PTCA in patients with no previous myocardial infarction. They found partial normalization of vagal tone at 6 months post PTCA. Thus, concluding that ischemia may not be the only mechanism causing a reduction in HRV.

Incomplete restoration of the autonomic balance

could be due to still unrecognised factors influencing HRV other than the blood supply.

Location of the involved artery did not significantly alter the HRV parameters in our study. Similar results have been reported by Kanadsi et al⁹. However Agnieszka Janowska-Kulińskaet et al have reported statistically significant decrease of HF accompanied by an increase in LF/HF following angioplasty of the right coronary artery(RCA). PTCA of left anterior descending(LAD) caused no significant changes in the HRV indices and in circumflex artery there was significant decrease of time domain indices and a marked increase of the LF/ HF ratio¹³.

Improvement in the autonomic balance in the above mentioned studies have occurred over varying time periods. Although the exact mechanism underlying these is not known, one can hypothesize these to be attributed to the differences in the selection of patient groups. Some studies included patients with previous MI and patients with complicated CAD while these being excluded in others. Presence or absence of diabetes mellitus which is known to modify autonomic function, could also have influenced the results. Presence of collateral circulation could be another factor influencing the results, as presence of collaterals would not cause a marked change in HRV parameters following restoration of blood flow. The reasons for these discrepancies could also be due to not completely understood underlying mechanism of HRV changes associated with myocardial ischemia and improved perfusion.

From this study we can conclude that myocardial ischemia is not the only mechanism altering the HRV since recovery of HRV does not take place immediately post PTCA. Delayed and incomplete restoration of HRV could explain prolongation in the recovery of the patients and susceptibility to arrythmias post PTCA.

Conclusion

Revascularization with PTCA results in improvement of the autonomic tone. Improved autonomic modulation is seen as early as 3rd day post PTCA. It thus indicates that restoring the blood flow reverses to some extent the autonomic modulatory effect of coronary artery disease.

Limitations of the study – The present study is of a short duration. A longer follow up of the patients is required to study the recovery pattern of HRV following PTCA. **Ethical Clearance:** Taken from institutional ethical committee in M S Ramaiah Medical College

Source of Funding: Nil

Conflict of Interest: Nil

Reference

- Nikhil Singh,Kegan James Moneghetti, Jeffrey Wilcox Christle et al. Heart Rate Variability: An Old Metric with New Meaning in the Era of using mHealth Technologies for Health and Exercise Training Guidance. Part One: Physiology and Method. ArrhythmElectrophysiol Rev 2018 Aug; 7(3): 193–198.
- Schwartz, PeterJ and Levy, Matthew N. Vagal control of heart: experimental basis and clinical implications. Futura Pub. Co, Armonk, NY1922-1994.
- Rajeev Gupta, Indu Mohan, Jagat Narula. Trends in Coronary Heart Disease Epidemiology in India. Annals of Global Health 2016;82:307-315.
- Hsin-Ru Li, Tse-Min Lu, Hao-Min Cheng et al.Additive Value of Heart Rate Variability in Predicting Obstructive Coronary Artery Disease Beyond Framingham Risk . Circulation 2016;80:494-50.
- 5. Evrengul H, Tanriverdi H, Kose S, et al. The relationship between heart rate recovery and heart rate variability in coronary artery disease. AnnNon-invasiveElectrocardiol. 2006 Apr;11(2):154-62.
- 6. Maheshwari A, Norby FL, Soliman EZ, et al. Low Heart Rate Variability in a 2-Minute Electrocardiogram Recording Is Associated with an Increased Risk of Sudden Cardiac Death in the General Population: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. PLoS ONE; 2016:11(8): e0161648.
- Khan MF, Wendel CS, Thai HM, Movahed MR. Effects of percutaneous revascularization of chronic total occlusions on clinical outcomes: A metaanalysis comparing successful versus failed percutaneous intervention for chronic total occlusion. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv, 2013; 82: 95–107.

- Olivari Z, Rubartelli P, Pisicone F et al. On behalf of TOAST-GISE Investigators: Immediate results and one-year clinical outcome after percutaneous coronary interventions in chronic total occlusions, (TOAST-GISSE). J Am Coll Cardiol, 2003; 41: 1672–78.
- 9. Kanadasi M, Kudaiberdieva G, Birand A, et al. Effect of the final coronary arterial diameter after coronary angioplasty on heart rate variability responses. Ann NoninvasiveElectrocardiol2002;7:106-13.
- Wennerblom B, LurjeL, Solem J, et al. Reduced heart rate variability in ischemic heart disease is only partially caused by ischemia: HRV study before and after PTCA. Cardiology 2000; 94: 146-51.
- Heart Rate Variability. Standards of Measurement, Physiological Interpretation, and Clinical Use Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology the North American Society of Pacing Electrophysiology. European Heart Journal 1996;17:354–381.
- 12. Fred Shaffer and J. P. Ginsberg.An Overview of Heart Rate Variability Metrics and Norms.Front Public Health. 2017; 5: 258.
- Ali Aydinlar Tunay, Şentürk, BülentÖzdemir et al. Effect of percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty on QT dispersion and heart rate variability parameters. Cardiovascular journal of Africa 2009;20:240-244.
- Agnieszka Janowska Kulińska1, Katarzyna Torzyńska.Changes in heart rate variability caused by coronary angioplasty depend on the localisation of coronary lesions.Kardiol Pol 2009; 67: 130-138.
- 15. Tseng ChD, Wang TL, Lin JL, et al. The causeeffect relationship of sympathovagal activity and the outcome of percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty. Jpn Heart J 1996; 37: 455-62.
- Sedziwy E, Olszowska M, Tracz W, Pieniazek P. Heart rate variability in patients treated with percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty. Przeql Lek. 2002; 59(9):695-8.

Effect of Progressive Muscle Relaxation on DASS Score and Reaction Time

Anitha O.R.¹, Umadevi B.¹, Christofer Thomas²

¹Associate Professor, ²Assistant. Professor, Dept. of Physiology, Sapthagiri Institute of Medical Sciences & Research Centre

Abstract

Background: Reaction time is a reliable indicator of rate of processing of sensory stimuli by central nervous system and its execution in the form of motor response. It is found to be affected by factors like physiological stress, mood and diseases like neuropathy & nerve injury. Various relaxation interventions have shown to reduce stress, but there are fewer reports about the effect of progressive muscle relaxation on stress and reaction time.

Objective: The present investigation was undertaken to study the effect of progressive muscle relaxation on visual and auditory reaction times (RTs) & on Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS) Score.

Method: 66 students who had moderate to severe stress & who met the inclusion & exclusion criteria were enrolled in the study and were randomly divided into 2 groups- subjects & controls. 33 subjects were given progressive muscle relaxation training daily for 6 weeks. DASS score, visual & auditory reaction time were recorded before & after the training period. The readings were compared within the group & also with the age matched 33 controls who did not receive Progressive muscle relaxation training.

Results & Interpretation: In the study group, there was decrease in the DASS score after the training. There was a significant decrease (P< 0.001) in visual RT (from 255.4 ± 58.0 ms to 208.6 ± 37.8 ms) as well as auditory RT (from 225.2 ± 061.4 ms to 187.9 ± 038.5 ms). whereas the change in reaction time & DASS score was not significant in the control group.

Conclusion: Decrease in DASS Score & reduction in reaction times following progressive muscle relaxation technique, shows that it is a very effective tool in decreasing the stress levels in individuals. Progressive muscle relaxation is an easy and inexpensive method as it may help students to concentrate better & excel in their studies.

Keywords: Stress, Reaction time, Progressive muscle relaxation, DASS Score.

Introduction

Stress has become an inevitable component of one's life. The term "stress", coined by Hans Syle is defined as "the non-specific response of the body to any demand for

Corresponding Author: Dr. Anitha O.R.

Associate Professor, Dept. of Physiology, Sapthagiri Institute of Medical Sciences & Research Centre, Bangalore change." Gratuitous levels of stress results in detrimental consequences on the quality of life of an individual. These negative effects are manifested in physical health, learning ability and retention, interpersonal relationships, and behavior.¹ Some individuals even indulge in self-destructive coping mechanisms such as alcohol consumption or smoking in order to alleviate these effects of stress and anxiety. In order to prevent these unhealthy behaviors, various relaxation techniques have been used by the researchers and it has been shown that these techniques help the individuals in positive coping and also been shown to reduce stress.

Method for relaxation can range from various breathing patterns to pleasant visual imagery exercises. These method are also widely used to treat a variety of health problems including headaches, anxiety, and insomnia. Not only do relaxation techniques reduce bad habits and treat some common health problems, but they have also been proven to be effective for relieving stress and anxiety.¹

Reaction time(RT) is a reliable indicator of rate of processing of sensory stimuli by central nervous system and its execution in the form of motor response. Auditory & visual reaction times are the frequently used RTs; shorter RT means better performance which is indeed a prerequisite for surgeons & other professionals. It is altered by number of factors; stress being one among them. Psychological distress such as stress, anxiety and depression are frequent among medical students the reason being peer pressure and academic burden which can affect their academic performance, physical health and psychosocial wellbeing.² 1st year medical students are exposed to huge syllabus in a shorter span of time, that induce stress in them. Though stress in minimal level is facilitatory to the brain, increased stress can be detrimental; it can manifest as Anxiety/Depression disorders. Increased stress increases reaction time & decreases the attention span & concentration.²

There is a need for intervention that can not only decrease stress, but also improve reaction time. In this measure, lot of interventions has been tried in the form of meditation, music, yoga, etc. Progressive muscle relaxation developed by Edmund Jacobson, involves tensing & relaxing the muscles, one group of muscle/one body part at a time, to bring about a feeling of physical relaxation.³ Different relaxation techniques have shown to reduce stress, but less has been proven about the effect of this less known technique of progressive muscle relaxation on stress and reaction time.

Hence this study was designed to explore the effect of progressive muscle relaxation technique on

psychological stress and reaction time in 1st year Medical students.

Subjective assessment of stress was done by self rated DASS Score. It is a reliable indicator of the level of stress and is also easy to administer. DASS Questionnaire is a set of three self report scales designed to measure the negative emotional states of depression, anxiety and stress with 7 items per scale.⁴ Reaction time measurement was used as objective assessment method to see the effect of Relaxation technique.

Materials and Method

The present study was undertaken in a medical college in south India. The study was approved by the institutional ethics Committee. The informed written consent was taken from all the subjects who volunteered to participate in the study. 150 students were given the DASS questionnaire & proforma to fill. 130 students returned the filled forms.

Detailed medical history of subjects was taken, which included history of present illness, past history, personal history (diet, sleep pattern, exercise & sports habits, vehicle driving, addiction). They were further recruited based on the following criteria:

Inclusion Criteria: Students who had moderate to severe stress scores that is between 19-33 scoring according to DASS score for stress.

Subjects aged between 17 - 21 yrs who gave informed consent.

Exclusion Criteria: Any medical or surgical disease (hypertension, diabetes, tuberculosis, psychiatric disorders, head injury, epilepsy, drug therapy etc.) E.N.T. diseases and ophthalmic diseases which would affect reaction time of the individual.

The following protocol was used.



Reaction time recording: The reaction time was recorded in a calm cool place between 11.00 am -12.30 pm hours of the day. Reaction Timer: The device used in the present study to measure Auditory and visual reaction time is a PC1000 reaction timer. PC1000 is a 1000 hertz square wave oscillator which has a soft key for 'start 'and 'stop' function. This instrument has two components (A & B) .Component (A) has a start button which is handled by the examiner only, second component (B) has a stop button which is handled by the subject. Small red LED light was used as visual stimulus. A 1000 Hz tone through the head phone was the auditory stimulus. Audacity software was used which records the reaction time in 0.001sec accuracy in wave format Visual Reaction Time (VRT)Measurement: The Examiner pressed the 'start' button in the component (A) & the subject was instructed to press the 'Stop' button in component (B) with the right index finger first as soon as he/she sees the red light in the instrument. Visual Reaction time was recorded in audacity software.

Auditory Reaction Time (ART) Measurement: The Examiner pressed the 'start' button and the subject was instructed to press the stop button with the right index finger first as soon as he hears the sound (1000 hertz's tone) through the head phone connected to it. Auditory Reaction time was recorded in Audacity software.

Five trials were given for measurement of VRT &

ART. The mean of the five reaction times was taken as the final reaction time.

Progressive muscle relaxation technique: Progressive muscle relaxation uses tension and release of muscles throughout the body to relax. It teaches how to relax the muscles through a two step process.³ First, we systematically tense particular muscle groups in the body, next, we release the tension and notice how muscles feel when they are relaxed. These practice sessions were done using the video demonstration. The students were made to practice the muscle relaxation technique at the same time daily for 6 weeks under the guidance of researchers.

Students were given the handouts of the guidelines to perform the relaxation technique and also the video clipping, so as to facilitate them to continue their relaxation techniques at home/hostel in case of holidays or their absence.

Results

66 students were randomly divided into two groups as cases & controls with 33 members in each. Cases were those who practiced the progressive muscle relaxation technique for 6 weeks. Controls were those who did not practice relaxation.

Earlier to intervention the reaction time was not significantly different among both the groups. (Table 1).

Table 1: Pre intervention reaction time in cases & controls

Reaction time (in Milliseconds)	Cases	Controls	p value	
Visual	$255.4\pm\!\!58.0$	$255.0{\pm}~60.5$	0.98	
Auditory	225.2 ± 61.4	231.2±48.2	0.66	

p Value < 0.05 is statistically significant

Table 2: Reaction time in Controls

Reaction time (in Milliseconds)	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	p value	
Visual Reaction time pretest	33	255.0	60.515	0.12	
Visual Reaction time posttest	33	260.0	57.371	0.13	
Auditory Reaction time Pretest	33	231.2	48.293	0.96	
Auditory Reaction time Posttest	33	232.1	47.125	0.86	

Table 3: Reaction time in Cases before(Pre) & after(Post) the intervention

Reaction time (in Milliseconds)	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	P value	
Visual Reaction time pretest	33	255.4	58.478	- 0.01	
Visual Reaction time posttest	33	208.7	37.828		
Auditory Reaction time Pretest	33	225.3	61.423	0.01	
Auditory Reaction time Posttest	33	187.9	38.543	0.01	

From the above tables 1, 2 & 3 it is clear that the baseline reaction times were not significantly different between the control and study group. After 6 weeks,

the reaction times decreased significantly in the study group who practiced progressive muscle relaxation as compared to controls.

Effect of Progressive muscle relaxation on Reaction times:





Effect of progressive muscle relaxation on DASS Score:

Table 4: DASS Score after progressive muscle relaxation in cases in comparision with controls

Mean Scores	Control	Cases
Depression Pretest	16.48	17.45
Depression Posttest	17.09	11.97
Anxiety Pretest	15.39	17.39
Anxiety Posttest	16.18	15.15
Stress Pretest	19.76	20.79
Stress Posttest	18.67	16.33

There was decrease in all the three scores; depression, anxiety & stress scores after PMR. The decrease in depression scores was much higher, followed by stress and anxiety scores.

Discussion

In the present study Pre intervention scores of reaction times and the DASS score between controls & cases were not statistically different. Post intervention, there was significant decrease in depression, anxiety & stress score in the study group. Similar findings were recorded in the study done by Praseeda P. et. al. wherein they found the post test mean score of academic stress was significantly lower than pre-test score which clearly proved that Progressive Muscle Relaxation was effective in reducing academic stress in classroom situation.⁶

Similar decrease in stress due to music was noted by Stephene Khalfa & others, where relaxing music decreased the Cortisol level.⁷ Stress is a word derived from the Latin word 'stringere', meaning to draw tight. Progressive muscle relaxation (PMR) technique is based on the premise that muscle tension is the body's psychological response to anxiety-provoking thoughts and that muscle relaxation blocks anxiety. This technique involves learning to monitor the tension in specific muscle groups by first tensing each muscle group. This tension is then released, as attention is directed towards the differences felt during tension and relaxation. PMR brings about a feeling of physical relaxation. When the body is physically relaxed, anxiety is also reduced.⁸

Researchers have found that medical science students have higher levels of anxiety & stress than other university students. ⁹ This could have negative effects on the student, their family members and their classmates. Thus practicing PMR on regular basis could bring down the stress & anxiety in medical students.

Studies have attempted to make correlations with

physiological and behavioral responses to stress and relaxation in order to improve performance abilities. A reduction in reaction time was seen with studies that reduced environmental stress.¹⁰

In our study, Post intervention, along with decrease in stress, there was significant decrease in both reaction times: visual & auditory. A decrease in reaction time indicates an improved sensory motor performance and could be due to an enhanced processing ability of the central nervous system. This effect on central nervous system could be due to greater and improved concentration power and inhibition of extraneous stimuli indicating better attention and less distractibility.

Similar findings were found by Borkar and Pednekar who studied the changes on Visual reaction time (VRT) and auditory reaction time (ART) before and after 4 weeks of pranayamic breathing exercises. ¹¹

Similar reduction in reaction times were also observed by Begum N.,et.a l. after short session of yoga, wherein the authors attributed it to the stimulation of the vagal nerves, restoring activities of Parasympathetic Nervous System (PNS) and the Gamma Amino-Butyric Acid (GABA) systems. Added to this, there is increase in the cerebral blood flow particularly in right hemisphere frontal lobe which may improve reaction time.¹²

Another study on yoga-based relaxation techniques in relation to attention speed and information processing showed a significant increase in scores on a six-letter cancellation task as competition. In this study by P. Subramanya and et. al., the supine rest group showed an increase in performance on tasks involving strict motor speed but not on a digit substitution task, which relies more heavily on cognitive function. This suggests differing effects of relaxation based on task type.¹³

Malathi and Parulkar demonstrated a significant decrease in reaction times both after single session of yogasana & also after 6 weeks of training.¹⁴

The medical students get trained to reduce their patient's stress and anxiety and thus improve patient's quality of life. In the meantime the health of medical students and their anxieties are being ignored. Practicing Progressive muscle relaxation technique can help the medical students not only in combating this anxiety and stress but also improve the reaction time, helping them in better judgment and quick action. **Strength of the study:** The main advantage of using Progressive muscle relaxation technique which we observed was better compliance of students towards the practice of this procedure. The students could follow the steps well as it was a guided relaxation video. They neither felt sleepy nor distracted as they were actively involved in the contraction & relaxation of group of muscles as contrary to other techniques which use plain music.

Conclusion

Our results show that practicing progressive muscle relaxation results in significant reduction in visual and auditory RTs and also the DASS Score. Thus we can conclude progressive muscle relaxation is a very effective tool in decreasing the stress levels in individuals. It will not only help students to concentrate better & excel in their studies but also is useful for sportsmen and surgeons.

Limitations of this study: The present study is a case-control study where the subjects were randomly selected from the population. The sample size is very small. The study can be extended to a larger population, so that results could be generalized.

Acknowledgements: The authors thankfully acknowledge subjects for volunteering to participate in the study and also Professor, Dr. Mary Prem Jayarajan for her continuous support and Mrs. Lavanya for statistical analysis.

Conflict of Interest: None

Sources of Funds: Nil

Ethical Clearance: Institutional Ethical Committee, SIMS & RC, Bangalore.

References

- 1. Jacobs GD, Friedman R . EEG spectral analysis of relaxation techniques. Appl Psychophysiiol Biofeedback. 2004;29: 245-254.
- Nahi Salam A, Yousuf R, Bakar SMA, et.al.. Stress among Medical Students in Malaysia: A Systematic Review of Literatures. Int.Med. J Malays.. 2013; 20 (6): 649 – 55.
- Pagnini, F., Gian, M.M., Castelnuovo, G., & Molinari, E. (2009). Efficacy of relaxation training in treating anxiety. International Journal

of Behavioural Consultation and Therapy, 5(3-4), 264-269.

- Lovibond, S.H. & Lovibond, P.F. Manual for the Depression Anxiety & Stress Scales.1955. (2nd Ed.)Sydney: Psychology Foundation.
- 5. Niruba R, Maruthy KN. Assessment of Auditory and Visual Reaction time in Type 2 diabetics Al Ameen J Med Sci 2011;4(3):274-79.
- Nair PP, Meera KP. Effectiveness of Progressive Muscle Relaxation in Reducing Academic Stress of Secondary Schools., IOSR-JHSS.2014; 19(8) : 29-32.
- Khalfa S, Dalla S. Effect of relaxing music on salivary Cortisol level after relaxing music. Ann. N.Y. Acad. of Sci.2003: 374-376
- Rausch, S. M., Gramling, S. E., & Auerbach, S. M. Effects of a single session of large-group meditation and progressive muscle relaxation training on stress reduction, reactivity, and recovery. Int. J. Stress Manag.. 2006.13(3), 273–290.

- Nayeri ND, Hajbaghery MA. Effects of progressive relaxation on anxiety and quality of life in female students: A non-randomized controlled trial. Complement. Ther. Med. 2011 19: 194—200
- Eason RL, Brandon JE, Smith TL, et.al. Relaxation training effects on reaction/response time, frontalis EMG, and behavioral measures of relaxation with hyperactive males. Adapt. Phys. Act. Q.1986; 3: 329-341.
- 11. Borker A Pednekar J. Effect of pranayama on visual and auditory reaction time. IJPP.2003; 47:229-30.
- Begum LN, Kumaran DS, Venkatesh G, et al., Short Course of Yoga to Improve Reaction Time JCDR, 2012 September; 6(7): 1241-1243
- Subramanya P & Telles S Effect of two yoga-based relaxation techniques on memory scores and state anxiety. Bio Psycho Social medicine. 2009; 59:3-8.
- Malathi, Parulkar G V, Effect Of Yogasanas On The Visual And Auditory Reaction Time. IJPP, 1989; 33 (1) 110-112.

Effect of Yoga on Cardio Respiratory Parameter in Medical Students

Ashok Solanki¹, Dharmistha Dodiya², Chandan Chakravarti³, Jaydeep Kagathara⁴

¹Associate Professor, Dept. of Physiology, Smt. NHL Municipal Medical College, Ahmedabad, ²Tutor, Dept. of Physiology, GMERS Medical College, Junagadh, ³Professor, Dept. of Biochemistry, Smt. NHL Municipal Medical College, Ahmedabad, ⁴Associate Professor, Dept. of Physiology, GCS Medical College Hospital & Research Centre, Ahmedabad

Abstract

The competition in medical field, unhealthy food and lack of exercise deteriorate the health of student. Yoga is the ancient technique to increase the concentration power, physical and mental well-being. We have done randomized control study on medical students between study and control group. The study group has practice yoga for 4 weeks whereas the control group hasn't. In the study group there is significantly improvement in cardio-respiratory parameters (p<0.0001). This study showed that regular yoga practice in medical students can decrease their stress and improve cardiac and respiratory function.

Keywords: Yoga, stress, medical students, cardio-respiratory parameters.

Introduction

Medical students are confronted with a variety of life stressors from both college and home. The disproportion between sympathetic and parasympathetic discharge due to stress is associated with morbid condition like diabetes mellitus, hypertension and metabolic syndrome⁽¹⁾.

Yoga is development of the union of mind and body through a combination of exercise respiration and meditation in order to achieve psychosomatic harmony⁽²⁾. Yogaconsists of a holistic combination of postural exercise (Asana)⁽³⁾, relaxation and voluntary breathing exercise (pranayamas). The yoga has been studied in patient of diabetes, hypertension and post traumatic stress disorder for management⁽⁴⁾⁽⁵⁾⁽⁶⁾.

Hence it is pertinent to study of the effects of yoga on cardio respiratory physiology of medical students

Corresponding Author:

Dr. Dharmistha Dodiya

Tutor, Dept. of Physiology, GMERS Medical College,, Junagadh Mobile: 8866506544 e-mail: dodiyadharmishtha@gmail.com in order to better understand its effects on healthy individuals and to provide the scientific basis for the possible use of yoga techniques as preventive and/or alternative therapy for health $disorders^{(7)(8)}$.

Material and Method

Study Design – Randomized control study

Inclusion criteria:

- 1. Those who were ready to give written consent.
- 2. Those who were above 18 years.
- 3. Those who were apparently healthy on history and clinical examination.

Exclusion criteria:

- 1. Those who had BMI < 18.5 or > 24.99
- 2. Those who were on any diet/exercise regime.
- 3. Those who were on any drugs that affect cardiorespiratory functions.
- 4. Those who had any disease/disorder that can affect physiological functions e.g. thyroid disorders, diabetes mellitus bronchial asthma any acute illness of respiratory or cardiovascular system.

5. Those who were smokers and/or alcoholics.

Intervention:

Sample size-300

Randomization: Using simple random sampling, participants were allotted to intervention study group and control group.

- Four weeks yoga training program by a certified yoga teacher.
- Program included yoga training for 6 days a week with one-day rest.
- Graded yoga training schedule with weekly medical examination of subjects.

Week No.	Yoga training	Total daily duration
1	Joint relaxation exercise(JRE) for 15 minutes followed by shavasan for 5 minutes	15+5=20 minutes
Weekly me	dical examination - 1	
2	JREs for 5 minutes followed by pranayams for 10 minutes followed by shavasan for 5 minutes.	5+10+5=20 minutes
Weekly me	dical examination - 2	
3	JREs for 5 minutes followed by pranayams for 10minutes followed by suryanamaskar for 5 minutes followed by shavasan for 5 minutes.	5+10+5+5=25 minutes
Weekly me	dical examination - 3	
4	JREs for 5 minutes followed by pranayams for 10 minutes followed by suryanamaskar for 10 minutes followed by shvasan for 5 minutes	5+10+10+5=30 minutes
Weekly me	dical examination - 4	·

Pranayam included following:

- 1. Anulomvilom pranayama
- 2. Bhramari pranayama
- 3. Shitali pranayama
- 4. Sitkari pranayama

General Parameters studied were Height, Weight and Body Mass Index. The cardiac parameter studied were Resting Pulse Rate (RPR), Resting Systolic and Diastolic Blood Pressure and Fitness Index (FI).

Fitness index: FI was calculated using the Harvard step test⁽⁹⁾.

FI (%) =(100 x test duration in seconds) divided by (2 x sum of heart beats in the recovery periods)

The Respiratory Parameters were measured using a computerized spirometer. The tests recorded were *tidal* volume (TV), slow vital capacity (SVC), forced vital capacity (FVC), forced expiratory volume in first second

(FEV1), *FEV/FVC ratio*, *Peak expiratory flow rate* (PEFR), *forced expiratory flow during middle 50%* (FEF 25-75%),*Forced expiratory flow during 200-1200ml of expiration* (FEF₂₀₀₋₁₂₀₀) and *maximum voluntary ventilation* (MVV). The respiratory parameters for efficiency measured were Breatheholding (BHT), *Maximum expiratory pressure* (MEP) and *40 mm Hg endurance test* (40mmHg ET).

Statistical analysis:

To compare a mean of different variables each group i.e. intervention and control group (post-test value versus pre-test value), paired students test was used.

To compare mean of different variables between the groups i.e. intervention and control group unpaired students test was used.

The alpha level to determine significance was P<0.05 for all analysis. p<0.05 shall be considered highly significant.

26 International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03 Findings:

Carla	Description	Pre yoga	Post yoga	D. J. J.
Gender	Parameter	Mean± SD	Mean ±SD	P value
	Age(years)	18.50 ± 0.71	18.50±0.71	-
Female	Height(cm)	156.46±5.29	156.46±5.29	-
(n=72)	Weight(kg)	52.00±6.44	52.03±6.39	0.32
	BMI(Kg/m2)	21.22±2.26	21.24±2.25	0.39
	Age(years)	18.60±0.62	18.60±0.62	-
Male	Height(cm)	170.72±7.64	170.72±7.64	-
(n=78)	Weight(kg)	61.69±8.81	61.64±8.54	0.44
	BMI(Kg/m2)	21.14±2.46	21.12±2.37	0.47
All (n=150)	Age(years)	18.43±0.67	18.43±0.67	-
	Height(cm)	163.87±9.73	163.87±9.73	-
	Weight(kg)	57.04±9.14	57.03±8.96	0.72
	BMI(Kg/m2)	21.18±2.36	21.18±2.31	0.86

Table 1: Anthropometric parameters in intervention group (paired student's test)

Table 2: Anthropometric parameters in control group (paired student's test)

Canden	Devementer	Pre yoga	Post yoga	Develope
Genuer	rarameter	Mean± SD	Mean ±SD	r value
	Age(years)	$18.09\pm\!\!0.29$	18.09±0.29	-
Female	Height(cm)	158.94±5.51	158.94±5.51	-
(n=64)	Weight(kg)	53.16±6.44	53.13±7.22	0.57
	BMI(Kg/m2)	20.97±2.04	20.96±2.01	0.62
	Age(years)	18.23±0.48	18.23±0.48	-
Male	Height(cm)	171.00±6.43	171.00±6.43	-
(n=86)	Weight(kg)	62.20±8.64	62.13±8.50	0.13
	BMI(Kg/m2)	21.22±2.23	21.20±2.19	0.15
All (n=150)	Age(years)	18.17±0.41	18.17±0.41	-
	Height(cm)	165.85±8.50	165.85±8.50	-
	Weight(kg)	58.34±9.23	58.29±9.13	0.13
	BMI(Kg/m2)	21.11±2.15	21.10±2.11	0.17

Table 3: Cardiovascular efficiency in intervention group (paired student's test)

Gender	Parameter	Pre yoga	Post yoga	Dyalua
		Mean± SD	Mean ±SD	r value
	RPR(beats/min)	75.31±5.39	73.04±5.26	< 0.01
Female	SBP(mmHg)	116.75±8.68	114.44±5.43	< 0.01
(n=72)	DBP(mmHg)	75.95±4.28	74.06±4.49	< 0.01
	fI (%)	69.93±12.10	71.31±10.34	< 0.01

International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03 27

Gender	Parameter	Pre yoga	Post yoga	Develope
		Mean± SD	Mean ±SD	P value
	RPR(beats/min)	79.31±8.14	77.15±6.24	< 0.01
Male	SBP(mmHg)	123.64±7.6	121.03±6.51	< 0.01
(n=78)	DBP(mmHg)	78.26±6.51	76.64±4.96	< 0.01
	fI (%)	75.78±9.03	77.30± 7.14	< 0.01
	RPR(beats/min)	77.39±7.22	75.18±6.13	< 0.01
All (n=150)	SBP(mmHg)	120.33±8.81	117.87±6.84	< 0.01
	DBP(mmHg)	77.13±5.65	75.40±4.90	< 0.01
	fI (%)	72.97±10.98	74.42±9.29	< 0.01

RPR - Resting Pulse Rate; SBP - Systolic Blood Pressure; DBP - Diastolic Blood Pressure; fI - Fitness Index

Table 4: Cardiovascular efficiency in control group (paired student's test)

Carla	Parameter	Pre yoga	Post yoga	Davahaa
Gender		Mean± SD	Mean ±SD	r value
	RPR(beats/min)	76.16±5.35	76.67±4.50	0.11
Female	SBP(mmHg)	119.66±8.24	120.00±6.74	0.75
(n=64)	DBP(mmHg)	77.25±4.21	77.03±3.80	0.77
	fI (%)	71.93±11.38	71.19±11.40	0.96
	RPR(beats/min)	76.29±4.64	76.48±5.32	0.80
Male	SBP(mmHg)	120.95±6.54	119.16±5.93	0.07
(n=86)	DBP(mmHg)	76.77±4.91	76.56±4.54	0.78
	fI (%)	77.05±7.32	75.06± 10.64	0.12
All (n=150)	RPR(beats/min)	76.23±4.94	76.56±4.97	0.54
	SBP(mmHg)	120.40±7.32	119.52±6.28	0.23
	DBP(mmHg)	76.97±4.62	76.76±4.23	0.69
	fI (%)	74.51±9.70	73.41±11.09	0.31

Table 5: Respiratory function tests in intervention group (paired student's test)

Carla	Demonstern	Pre yoga	Post yoga	D. J.
Gender	rarameter	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	r value
	TV(ml)	359.88±25.31	361.83±25.40	0.64
	SVC(liters)	3.10±0.45	3.47±0.57	< 0.01
	BHT(seconds)	37.22±5.06	39.65±4.83	< 0.01
	MEP(mmHg)	64.11±11.24	65.31±11.58	< 0.01
	40mmHg ET(seconds)	28.04±9.57	30.40±10.21	< 0.01
$E_{2} = -72$	FEV1(liters)	2.50±0.52	2.62±0.71	< 0.01
Female(n=72)	FVC(liters)	3.13±0.63	3.25±0.85	< 0.01
	FEV1/FVC(%)	79.86±2.98	81.56±3.86	< 0.01
	PEFR(L/sec)	382.72±26.63	383.88±26.40	< 0.01
	FEF25-75% (L/sec)	296.76±15.82	297.29±15.75	< 0.01
	FEF200-1200(L/sec)	346.58±14.79	347.11±14.83	< 0.01
	MVV(L/sec)	99.95±20.62	100.03±20.60	< 0.01

Carla	Description	Pre yoga	Post yoga	
Gender	Parameter	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	P value
	TV(ml)	409.96±62.36	412.92±62.41	0.77
	SVC(liters)	4.00±0.53	4.30±0.50	< 0.01
	BHT(seconds)	41.77±9.08	45.01±9.54	< 0.01
	MEP(mmHg)	74.95±19.26	76.12±19.60	< 0.01
	40mmHg ET(seconds)	34.68±13.07	37.15±13.49	< 0.01
M 1 (79)	FEV1(liters)	3.25±0.57	3.46±0.59	< 0.01
Male (n=/8)	FVC(liters)	4.07±0.66	4.30±0.71	< 0.01
	FEV1/FVC (%)	79.91±3.29	82.00±3.79	< 0.01
	PEFR(L/sec)	419.73±48.67	455.08±38.30	< 0.01
	FEF25-75% (L/sec)	298.32±16.52	298.88±16.48	< 0.01
	FEF200-1200(L/sec)	341.94±14.88	342.46±14.89	< 0.01
	MVV(L/sec)	129.99±23.95	130.42±23.94	< 0.01
	TV(ml)	385.92±54.27	388.40±54.55	0.69
	SVC(liters)	3.57±0.60	3.90±0.68	< 0.01
	BHT(seconds)	39.59±7.74	42.44±8.09	< 0.01
	MEP(mmHg)	69.75±16.78	70.93±17.08	< 0.01
	40mmHg ET(seconds)	31.49±11.96	33.91±12.46	< 0.01
A 11 (m-150)	FEV1(liters)	2.89±0.66	3.06±0.81	< 0.01
All (n=150)	FVC(liters)	3.62±0.80	3.80±0.94	< 0.01
	FEV1/FVC (%)	79.89±3.13	81.79±3.82	< 0.01
	PEFR(L/sec)	419.73±48.67	420.90±48.62	< 0.01
	FEF25-75% (L/sec)	294.57±16.15	298.12±16.10	< 0.01
	FEF200-1200(L/sec)	344.17±14.97	344.71±14.95	< 0.01
	MVV(L/sec)	115.38±27.05	115.84±27.03	< 0.01

Table 6: Respiratory function tests in control group (paired student's test)

Contra	Demonster	Pre yoga	Post yoga	Davahaa
Gender	rarameter	Mean± SD	Mean ±SD	r value
	TV(ml)	357.84±26.10	358.67±25.74	0.87
	SVC(liters)	3.54±0.54	3.55±0.59	0.94
	BHT(seconds)	37.27±5.33	37.36±4.98	0.88
	MEP(mmHg)	62.91±11.06	62.30±11.19	0.10
	40mmHg ET(seconds)	27.05±9.72	27.39±10.28	0.35
$E_{amala}(n=64)$	FEV1(liters)	2.80±0.52	2.75±0.60	0.45
remaie(n=04)	FVC(liters)	3.57±0.62	3.52±0.77	0.55
	FEV1/FVC (%)	78.34±3.33	78.13±3.34	0.71
	PEFR(L/sec)	390.27±26.56	390.31±26.61	0.86
	FEF25-75% (L/sec)	302.10±16.61	302.14±16.68	0.92
	FEF200-1200(L/sec)	345.81±15.00	345.29±15.90	0.21
	MVV(L/sec)	99.95±20.39	99.89±20.12	0.88

Condon	Paramatar	Pre yoga	Post yoga	Dyaha
Genuer	rarameter	Mean± SD	Mean ±SD	rvalue
	TV(ml)	395.08±48.07	396.56±63.02	0.86
	SVC(liters)	3.76±0.64	3.84±0.53	0.32
	BHT(seconds)	41.97±9.06	42.29±9.13	0.67
	MEP(mmHg)	72.58±14.43	73.45±18.86	0.46
	40mmHg ET(seconds)	35.20±12.86	34.95±13.32	0.68
Mala (n=96)	FEV1(liters)	2.97±0.65	3.02±0.63	0.65
Male (II-80)	FVC(liters)	3.72±0.58	3.81±0.76	0.44
	FEV1/FVC (%)	79.93±3.31	79.06±3.27	0.10
	PEFR(L/sec)	393.34±36.12	392.85±35.96	0.12
	FEF25-75% (L/sec)	306.48±16.56	309.44±16.08	0.17
	FEF200-1200(L/sec)	349.66±15.70	350.00±15.18	0.49
	MVV(L/sec)	101.90±23.83	102.42±23.81	0.88
	TV(ml)	379.19±44.13	380.39±53.84	0.82
	SVC(liters)	3.67±0.61	3.72±0.57	0.43
	BHT(seconds)	39.96±8.02	40.19±8.00	0.78
	MEP(mmHg)	68.45±13.91	68.69±16.93	0.64
	40mmHg ET(seconds)	31.72±12.27	31.73±12.65	0.98
A = 150	FEV1(liters)	2.90±0.60	2.90±0.63	0.96
All (II-150)	FVC(liters)	3.65±0.72	3.69±0.78	0.67
	FEV1/FVC (%)	79.25±3.40	78.66±3.32	0.13
	PEFR(L/sec)	392.03±32.32	391.77±32.23	0.22
	FEF25-75% (L/sec)	304.61±16.67	306.32±16.68	0.17
	FEF200-1200(L/sec)	348.02±15.48	347.99±15.61	0.94
	MVV(L/sec)	101.07±22.37	101.34±22.28	0.89

Discussion

Cardiovascular efficiency parameters: In our study RPR, SBP and DBP reduced significantly whereas Fitness Index (FI) increased significantly following yoga training in participant students compared to control group. The similar effect oncardiovascular parameters was found by Bhavanani et al wherein participants practiced pranayama such as sukhapranayasms and Chandra nadi pranayama^(10,11). Many studies have reported that practice of pranayams increases parasympathetic activity and decreases sympathetic activity which may be responsible for these observed cardiac parameters⁽¹²⁾⁽¹³⁾⁽¹⁴⁾.

The calculated rate of breathing in different pranayams may have contributed to the beneficial cardiovascular effects seen in this study; previous studies have reported that slow and deep breathing decreases the heart rate and heart rate variability possibly due to enhanced vagal tone on sinoatrial node⁽¹⁵⁾. Such enhanced vagal modulation may be responsible for decreased heart rate and blood pressure observed following yoga⁽¹⁶⁾. Bernardi et al reported that slow and deep breathing combines RR interval fluctuations with the rate of respiration and significantly increases their amplitude and thereby enhances baro-reflex competence⁽¹⁷⁾, such enhancement may have contributed to the lowering of blood pressure needs to be reduced. Thus yoga may serve as a simple cost effective adjunct in the management of hypertension in addition to the regular antihypertensive management. Jasmin et al found effect of yoga in diabetic patient to reduce pain with diabetic medication⁽⁴⁾.

The RPR and DBP were significantly lower post

yoga in our study. A similar decrease in RPR and DBP was reported by Bhavani et al. and Bhutkaretal⁽¹⁸⁾⁽¹⁹⁾. The main determining factor of DBP is peripheral vascular resistance which is regulated by sympathetic tone⁽²⁰⁾. In the present study significant decrease in DBP and RPR in yoga group may be attributed to a decrease in peripheral vascular resistance due to reduced sympathetic tone. The SBP was found to be significantly lower in yoga group after training; Bhutkar et al also reported a similar decrease in SBP⁽¹⁹⁾. Interestingly Bhavanani AB et al reported an increase in SBP following fast Suryanamaskar practice which may be due to the speed of Suryanamaskar causing increasing venous return and cardiac output which resembles aerobic exercise⁽¹⁸⁾⁽²¹⁾.

The observed cardiovascular changes may also be due to the shavasan which is reported to reduce cardiac sympathetic modulation⁽²²⁾. Yoga practices including relaxation (such as shavasan) improves autonomic modulation and enhances vagal dominance. Hence shavasan may be included in the non pharmacological management of hypertension.

Respiratory efficiency parameter: We found a significant increase in VC, BHT,MEP and 40 mmHg ET following yoga. While the change in TV was not statistically significant,similar results were reported by karmur et al and mahajan et al. yoga postures (asnas) such as suryanamaskar in our study increase skeletal muscle strength including those respiratory muscles^{(13,23)(24)}. Hence lungs and thorax expand and collapse to the fullest possible. Such strengthening of the respiratory musculature contributes to the increased respiratory efficiency evidenced in our body.

Pulmonary Function Tests: Lung functions depend on many factors including neuropsychological factors and strength of respiratory muscles. We found that all the parameters i.e. FEV1,FVC, FEV1/FVC,PEFR, FEF25-75%, FEF200-1200ml and MVV increased significantly after 4 weeks of yoga in healthy young adults' subjects, irrespective of the gender. Similar results were reported by various previous studies^(18,19,23,25). During yoga training especially during pranayama there are maximal inflation and deflation of the lungs which cause increased strength recruitment and endurance of respiratory musculature. Such maximal inflation and deflation act as a physiological stimulus causing secretion of prostaglandins and surfactants in the alveoli which thereby increase the lung compliance (26,27). There is a reflex increases airway diameter and decreases

resistance to air flow which causes the dynamic PFTs to improve. All the participants were investigated by the same investigators under similar conditions.

Conclusion

Yoga can be advocated as an adjunctive or alternative to conventional therapy for cardio respiratory disorders. We encourage yoga practice as physical activity during undergraduate curriculum in medical study to improve heath condition of medical students.

Conflict of Interest: No

Source of Funding: Self

Ethical Clearance: Yes

References

- 1. Pal G. Yoga and heart rate variability. Int J Clin Exp Physiol. 2015;2(1):2.
- Collins C. Yoga: Intuition Preventive Medicine Treatment. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs [Internet]. 1998 Sep [cited 2020 Feb 2];27(5):563– 8.
- Solari E. Longitudinal prediction of 1st and 2nd grade English oral reading fluency in ELL. J Adolesc [Internet]. 2014;74(4):274–83.
- Parmar J, Kagathara JD, Mistry AH, Patel VJ. A Randomized Control Study on Effect of 12 Weeks Yoga Therapy in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Patients with Distal Polyneuropathy. Int Physiol [Internet]. 2017;5(2):77–82.
- Schmid AA, Van Puymbroeck M, Altenburger PA, Schalk NL, Dierks TA, Miller KK, et al. Poststroke balance improves with yoga: A pilot study. Stroke. 2012;
- Telles S, Gaur V, Balkrishna A. Effect of a yoga practice session and a yoga theory session on state anxiety. Percept Mot Skills. 2009 Dec;109(3):924– 30.
- Salmon P, Lush E, Jablonski M, Sephton SE. Yoga and Mindfulness: Clinical Aspects of an Ancient Mind/Body Practice. Cogn Behav Pract. 2009 Feb;16(1):59–72.
- Stueck M, Gloeckner N. Yoga for children in the mirror of the science: Working spectrum and practice fields of the Training of Relaxation with Elements of Yoga for Children. Early Child Dev Care. 2005;175(4):371–7.

- Gallagher JR, Brouha L. V. A Simple Method of Evaluating Fitness in Boys: The Step Test. Yale J Biol Med [Internet]. 1943 Jul [cited 2020 Feb 6];15(6):769–79. Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21434109
- Bhavanani AB, Sanjay Z, Madanmohan. Immediate effect of sukha pranayama on cardiovascular variables in patients of hypertension. Int J Yoga Therap. 2011;(21):73–6.
- Bhavanani A, Sanjay Z, Madanmohan. Immediate effect of chandra nadi pranayama (left unilateral forced nostril breathing) on cardiovascular parameters in hypertensive patients. Int J Yoga. 2012;5(2):108.
- Chu IH, Wu WL, Lin IM, Chang YK, Lin YJ, Yang PC. Effects of Yoga on Heart Rate Variability and Depressive Symptoms in Women: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Altern Complement Med [Internet]. 2017.
- Ashok S, Aparna P. Yoga As an Exercise Tool: Study of Physiological Parameters of the Healthy Subjects. Orig Artic Int J Basic Appl Physiol Int J Basic Appl Physiol. 2016;5(1):2016.
- MuralikrishnanK, BalakrishnanB, Balasubramanian K, Visnegarawla F. Measurement of the effect of Isha Yoga on cardiac autonomic nervous system using short-term heart rate variability. J Ayurveda Integr Med. 2012 Apr 1;3(2):91–6.
- Sroufe LA. EFFECTS OF DEPTH AND RATE OF BREATHING ON HEART RATE AND HEART RATE VARIABILITY. Psychophysiology [Internet]. 1971 Sep [cited 2020 Feb 2];8(5):648– 55.
- Wang SZ, Li S, Xu XY, Lin GP, Shao L, Zhao Y, et al. Effect of slow abdominal breathing combined with biofeedback on blood pressure and heart rate variability in prehypertension. J Altern Complement Med [Internet]. 2010 Oct [cited 2020 Feb 2];16(10):1039–45.
- Bernardi L, Sleight P, Bandinelli G, Cencetti S, Fattorini L, Wdowczyc-Szulc J, et al. Effect of rosary prayer and yoga mantras on autonomic cardiovascular rhythms: Comparative study. Br Med J. 2001 Dec 22;323(7327):1446–9.

- Jatiya L, Udupa K, Balayogi Bhavanani A. EFFECT OF YOGA TRAINING ON HANDGRIP, RESPIRATORY PRESSURES AND PULMONARY FUNCTION. Vol. 47, Indian J Physiol Pharmacol. 2003.
- Bhutkar PM, Bhutkar M V, Taware GB. Effect of Suryanamaskar Practice on Cardio-respiratory Fitness Parameters : A Pilot Study . Al Ameen J Med Sci [Internet]. 2008;1(2):126–9.
- Hilton SM, Spyer KM. Central Nervous Regulation of Vascular Resistance. Annu Rev Physiol [Internet]. 1980 Oct [cited 2020 Feb 2];42(1):399– 411.
- 21. Bhavanani A, Madanmohan, Udupa K, Ravindra P. A comparative study of slow and fast suryanamaskar on physiological function. Int J Yoga. 2011;4(2):71.
- 22. Santaella DF, Geraldo Lorenzi-Filho I, Marcos Rodrigues IR, Taís Tinucci I, Ana Paula Malinauskas I, Dé cio Mion-Jú nior I, et al. Yoga Relaxation (savasana) decreases cardiac sympathovagal balance in hypertensive patients. MEDICALEXPRESS. 2014;1(5):233–8.
- Karmur keshur A, Joshi VS, Padalia MS, Sarvaiya JL. Effect of ten weeks yoga practice on pulmonary function tests. Int J Biomed Adv Res J [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2020 Feb 2];6(9):682–5.
- 24. Naveen Kumar M, Thanalakshmi J, Kannan R, Mahesh Kumar K, Allu AR, Vijayalakshmi B. The immediate effect of sheethali and sheethkari pranayama on blood pressure and cardiovascular changes among hypertensive patients. Int J Res Pharm Sci. 2018;9(4):1249–52.
- 25. Sodhi C, Singh S, Dandona PK. A STUDY OF THE EFFECT OF YOGA TRAINING ON PULMONARY FUNCTIONS IN PATIENTS WITH BRONCHIAL ASTHMA.
- Hooper SB, Wallace MJ. Physical, Endocrine and Growth Factors in Lung Development. In: The Lung: Development, Aging and The Environment. Elsevier Inc.; 2004. p. 131–48.
- 27. Orgeig S, Daniels CB, Sullivan LC. Development of the Pulmonary Surfactant System. Lung Dev Aging Environ. 2003 Dec 3;149–67.

Effect of Super-Brain Yoga on the Concentrating Ability of Students

G. Aniruddha¹, A. Santakumari², C. Saroja³

¹Postgraduate Student, ²Professor & HOD, ³Associate Professor, Upgraded Department of Physiology, Osmania Medical College

Abstract

Introduction: Frontal and parietal association areas form the neural basis of concentration as evidenced by cellular studies of posterior parietal cortex in monkeys. Cerebral asymmetry, an evolutionary consequence, enhances brain output by synchronizing both hemispheres for maximal brain output facilitated by Super-brain yoga - a simple, effective technique to energize and recharge the brain, assessed with d2 test measuring attention, scanning and mental flexibility.

Aim: To assess the effect of Super-brain yoga on the concentrating ability of students by d2 test.

Materials and Method: 184 school children aged 11-13 yrs, physically fit & unaware of Super-brain yoga formed the study population.

Methodology: (1) d2 test consisting of: (i) **TN**: total number of characters (ii) **E1**: number of characters omitted (iii) **E2**: the number of errors (iv) **CP**: concentration performance **CP** = (**TN**-**E2**) was performed before and after Super-brain yoga to assess students concentrating ability. (2) Super brain yoga/yogic squats performed for 1 month.

Results: 'p' value < 0.05 statistical significance with paired 't' test.

Conclusion: Practicing Super-brain yoga for 1 month increased the concentrating ability of students.

Keywords: Cerebral asymmetry, d2 test, Super-brain yoga.

Introduction

Concentration is focusing the mind on a specific issue at a given moment for learning. Frontal and parietal association areas form the neural basis of concentration as evidenced by cellular studies of posterior parietal cortex in monkeys⁴. Super-brain yoga by Master Chao Kok Sui with crossed hands, squatting up and down is thought to increase concentrating ability.

Cerebral asymmetry of human brain is the consequence of evolution. Complementary areas of

Corresponding Author: Dr. G. Aniruddha Osmania Medical College e-mail: ani3gopireddy@gmail.com both hemispheres synchronize for maximal brain output and can be achieved with Super-brain yoga- simple, effective technique to energize and recharge the brain. Human brain has 100 billion brain cells which are technically called as **"Neurons"** & supporting cells as **"Neuroglia"**. A complex system of neurons, **Corpus callosum** connects the brain's **Right hemisphere**/ Representational hemisphere/Non-dominant hemisphere and **Left hemisphere**/Categorical hemisphere/Dominant hemisphere¹⁰.

One needs to exercise & nurture the brain just like physical exercise for the body to make the most of this miraculous tool⁹. The output of brain can be enhanced by creating & strengthening the synapse, junction between two neurons, through a physiological mechanism of **"Synaptic plasticity"**. The brain can plasticize to maximal extent during childhood.
d2 test of attention is EXECUTIVE FUNCTION TEST, categorized under neuropsychological test. The effect is assessed by d2 test measuring attention, scanning and mental flexibility. The current study focuses on the effectiveness of Super-brain yoga on the concentrating ability of students using d2 test as a key⁶.

Materials and Method

A pre test and post test research design was carried out at Zilla Parishat High School, Hayathnagar, Hyderabad, Telangana. This study was granted approval by the Ethics Committee of Osmania Medical College. In this study, 184 male students of 7th & 8th classes were recruited and assigned Super-brain yoga. They were all explained about the study and motivated. Written consent was obtained from the Principal of the school. The students who were physically & unaware of Super-brain yoga and age of 11 to 13 years were included in the study, while students who were practicing Super-brain yoga and suffering with any musculo-skeletal conditions like polio, muscular dystrophies, etc, were excluded from the study.

d2 test consisting of: (i) TN:total number of characters (ii) E1: number of characters omitted (iii) E2:the number of errors (iv) CP:concentration performance CP=(TN-E2) was performed before and after Super-brain yoga to assess students concentrating ability. The test items consist of the letters d and P with one to four dashes, arranged either individually or in

pairs above and below the letter. The subject must scan across each line to identify and cross out each d with two dashes. The characters of letter d having 2 dashes above, 2 dashes below and 1 dash above and below (correct hits) are called "relevant items." All other combinations of letters and lines are considered "irrelevant", they should not be crossed out. The one-page d2 test form consists of 14 lines, each with 47 characters, for a total of 658 items. The subject is allowed 20 seconds per line.

The Superbrain yoga described by Master Chao kok Sui was practiced by students at the rate of 14 Yogic squats per day² for one month in specific hand position :i) Standing with feet slightly apart, greater than shoulder width and toes pointing forward, facing towards east. ii) Hands are crossed over each other, first left hand is crossed over upper body to take hold of right earlobe with thumb and fore finger, with thumb in front. Then right hand is crossed over left⁵. iii) While squatting down inhale through nose, hold the breath and exhale while coming back to standing position.

Statistical Analysis: Mean & standard deviation for all d2 test parameters were derived with paired 't' test 'p' value <0.05 was considered statistically significant and <0.001 as statistically highly significant.

Results

'p' value from paired 't' test is highly significant for all the variables of d2 test for selective attention.

Parameters	Mean ± SD		Paired t test	<i>p</i> -Value	
	Before	After			
TN	172.30 ± 80.969	203.91 ± 45.423	7.801	0.001 HS	
E1	159.05 ± 64.768	119.77 ± 40.755	13.771	0.001 HS	
E2	38.29 ± 35.433	25.68 ± 12.565	6.262	0.001 HS	
CP (TN-E2)	132.23 ± 63.748	178.23 ± 40.755	13.914	0.001 HS	

Table: Comparison of d2 test parameters, before and after super-brain yoga.

HS = Highly significant

TN: Total attempted E1: Number of letters omitted

E2: Errors CP (TN-E2) : Concentration performance

Discussion

The present study reveals a significant improvement in concentration & selective attention of students after doing Super-brain yoga with 'p' value of 0.001 significance for all d2 test parameters. There is significance for all d2 test parameters (p = 0.001). This is in agreement with "A comparative study of the effects of Super-brain Yoga & aerobic exercise on cognitive functions" the study done by Joseph Irvin Thomas, Venkatesh D² and study done by Srikanth N Jois, Lancy D' Souza, R Moulya on beneficial effects of Super-brain yoga on short term memory & selective attention of students⁷.

In the current study all measures of d2 test of selective attention with 'p' value of 0.001statistical significance correlates with "Effect of repetitive yogic squats with specific hand position (Thoppukarnam) on selective attention ⁷ & psychological states" by Angelica Chandrasekaran et al.

Brickenkamp and Zillmer (1998)⁸ demonstrated that the d2 test correlates with Symbol Digit Modalities Test (Smith, 1973), Stroop Color Word Test (Stroop, 1935), and Trail Making Test Parts A and B (Reitan & Wolfson, 1985), all of which are measures of attention, scanning and mental flexibility. The construct validity and reliability of the test has been investigated with factor analysis and against criterion measures.

To demonstrate the validity of the d2 test, Bates and Lemay (2004) administered d2 test with several other neuropsychological measures to a relatively large participant sample. The tests with measures of attention, processing speed, abstract reasoning, verbal ability, visual spatial ability and working memory were employed in their study. Results were internally consistent as measured by Cronbach's alpha.

Attentional control is the ability to direct attention to only those stimuli that are relevant to our current goals, minimizing the influences that deviate to capture attention(Corbetta and Shulman, 2002). Weber et al. (2009)proposed theory of flow which suggests widespread synchronization between neural attention networks which are the basis for the complete absorption during flow state, which is based on tripartite theory of attention proposed by Posner et al.'s (1987); involving executive, alerting and orienting networks. The alerting network is responsible for initiating and maintaining attentiveness, while the orienting network directs attention to a stimulus, both the networks are modulated by executive network. Optimal synchronization of alerting and orienting networks with executive network enhances attention to be highly goal-directed (Petersen and Posner, 2012). This organization is achieved through synchronized firing rates of neurons within attentional networks.

The importance of higher attentional processes during the flow experience is supported by neuroimaging research. Ulrich et al. (2016) have identified activation of multiple brain are asassociated with the multiple demand (MD) network during flow in an arithmetic task. Prefrontal and parietal cortex areas, including inferior frontal sulcus, anterior insula, presupplementary motor area and in and around intraparietal sulcus form the MD network. Corbetta and Shulman(2002) identified areas of parietal and frontal cortex which form frontoparietal dorsal stream¹¹.MD system serves to coordinate a series of multistep behaviors, guide selective focus to taskrelevant information and provide cognitive control.



Figure: Dorsal and Ventral networks of attention

Projection from the temporoparietal junction (TPJ) toward inferior frontal gyrus (IFG) and middle frontal gyrus (MFG) form ventral network (*blue*), responsible for reorienting attention to salient stimuli. Projection from the superior parietal lobe (SPL) toward the frontal eye fields (FEF) form dorsal network (*orange*), responsible for voluntary allocation of attention. The MD system includes overlapping frontoparietal areas, from the SPL to the premotor cortex and inferior frontal sulcus (IFS).

Neurotransmitter activity of dopamine affectattentional processes. Dopamine pathways are primarily associated with reward networks and also modulate attentional focusing (Nieoullon, 2002), error monitoring (Holroyd and Coles, 2002; Ridderinkhof et al., 2004) and response inhibition (Chambers et al., 2009; Congdon et al., 2008).Increased availability of dopamine D2 receptors in the striatum are functionally related to selective attention (Nieoullon, 2002). Dopamine actionmodulates response inhibition and impulse control for attentional control (Miyake et al., 2000).

The neural basis of concentration lies between the frontal and parietal association areas. When Super-brain yoga is practiced it is thought that, strengthening of synapses occur by physiological mechanism of synaptic plasticity due to increased synchronized firing rates of neurons within attentional networks and Corpus callosum as well which is responsible for synchronization of the two hemispheres giving out maximal output of the brain.

Master Choa kok Sui explains that the Super-brain yoga – YOGIC SQUATS when done correctly moves energy trapped in the basic chakras through the physical body's other major energy centers and finally up into the crown chakra that controls the pineal gland and overall brain health^{1,2}. "Once the energy gets up to the forehead and crown chakras, it is transformed into subtle energy, which is utilized by the brain for its proper functioning," writes Master Choa kok Sui.

Jeremy Vanhelst et al., conducted a study on "Physical activity is associated with attention capacity in adolesecents¹³" concluded that promoting Moderateto-vigorous physical activity may be have a beneficial effect on attention capacity in adolescents. In the present study students doing regular exercise were not excluded as exercise was part of their regular school schedule. Further a study comparing both Super-brain yoga and moderate exercise is to be done.

Conclusion

Instituting Super-brain yoga for one month are effective in enhancing concentrating ability of students as evidenced by:

1. Significant increase in:

TN: Total number of characters attempted and

CP = (**TN-E2**): Concentration performance

- 2. Significant decrease in:
 - E1: Number of letters omitted and
 - E2: Errors committed

Acknowledgments: We acknowledge the support of faculty & post graduate students of Upgraded department of physiology, Osmania Medical College, Hyderabad and the study population in conducting the study.

Ethical Clearance: Taken from Osmania Medical College Institutional ethics committee

Source of Funding: Self

Conflict of Interest: Nil

References

- 1. Verma S, Kumar K. Evidence based study on super brain yoga and its application on alpha EEG in adolescence. Int J Sci Consciousness. 2016;2:40-6.
- Thomas JI, Venkatesh D.A comparative study of the effects of superbrain yoga and aerobic exercise on cognitive functions. National Journal of Physiology, Pharmacy and Pharmacology. 2017;7(9):895.
- Sethi JK, Nagendra HR, Ganpat TS. Yoga improves attention and self-esteem in underprivileged girl student. Journal of education and health promotion. 2013;2.
- 4. Eric r. Kandel. James h. Schwartz, thomas m. Jessell, steven a. Siegelbaum, a. J. Hudspeth. Principles of neural science fifth edition.
- Chandrasekeran A, Rajesh SK, Srinivasan TM. Effect of repetitive yogic squats with specific hand position (Thoppukaranam) on selective attention and psychological states. International journal of yoga. 2014 Jan;7(1):76.
- Lezak MD, Howieson DB, Loring DW, Fischer JS. Neuropsychological assessment. Oxford University Press, USA; 2004.
- Cowan N. What are the differences between longterm, short-term, and working memory? Prog Brain Res. 2008;169:323-38.
- Bates ME, Lemay EP. The d2 Test of attention: construct validity and extensions in scoring techniques. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society. 2004 May;10(3):392-400.
- North V, Israel R. Mind Chi: Re-wire Your Brain in 8 Minutes a Day--Strategies for Success in Business and Life. John Wiley & Sons; 2010 Jan 5.
- 10. Kim E. Barrett, phd; Scott Boitano, phd; Susan M.

- International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03
 Barman, phd; Heddwen L. Brooks, phd. Ganong's Review of Medical Physiology TWENTY-FIFTH 13. J EDITION;
- Wilson M, Walsh V, Parkin B. Sport and the Brain: The Science of Preparing, Enduring and Winning. Academic Press; 2017 Oct 11.
- 12. Sui CK. Superbrain yoga. Institute for Inner Studies

Publishing; 2005.

- 13. Jeremy Vanhelst et al. Physical activity is associated with attention capacity in adolesecents. The journal of pediatrics, publishing 2015.
- John E. Hall. Guyton and Hall Textbook of Medical physiology 13th edition.

A Study of Blood Pressure Variation in Different Phases of Menstrual Cycle

Gidugupati Anuradha¹, Mudassir Mirza²

¹Assistant Professor of Physiology, Gandhi Medical College, Secunderabad, Telangana State, ²Assistant Professor of Physiology, Osmania Medical College, Hyderabad, Telangana State

Abstract

Aim: The aim of the study is to assess blood pressure variation in different phases of menstrual cycle

Objectives: To investigate any changes in blood pressure during different phases of menstrual cycle using mercury sphygmomanometer.

Material and Method: 30 apparently healthy female medical students aged between 18-23 years were selected for the study and blood pressure was recorded by auscultatory method using mercury sphygmomanometer during the different phase of menstrual cycle as follows: a)Menstrual phase(MP) (2nd day) b)Proliferative phase(PP) (11th day) c)Secretory phase(SP) (22nd day).

Results: Statistical analysis was done using SPSS 17.0 Software. To compare means of two independent groups, students t- test for independent samples was used. There was no significant difference in both systolic and diastolic blood pressure among different phases of the menstrual cycle

Conclusion: There was no significant difference in both systolic and diastolic blood pressure among different phases of the menstrual cycle. These findings should be re-examined with a larger study group.

Keywords: Blood pressure, menstrual cycle, Menstrual phase, Proliferative phase, secretory phase.

Introduction

The menstrual cycle is a repetitive phenomenon occurring during the reproductive life of a female, that involves a patterned sequence of structural, functional and hormonal changes in the reproductive system.The menstrual cycle is characterized by cyclical fluctuations in the levels of Follicle stimulating hormone (FSH), Luteinizing hormone (LH), oestrogen and progesterone. These hormones are known to have an effect on oxygen carrying capacity, immune response, bleeding and also

Corresponding Author: Dr. Mudassir Mirza

Assistant Professor of Physiology, Osmania Medical College, Hyderabad, Telangana State e-mail: mirza141@gmail.com changes in serum electrolytes which may be responsible for variable physical, psychological symptoms and autonomic changes.

The characteristic rhythmic changes in the rate of secretion of ovarian hormones produce corresponding changes in reproductive and other organ systems. Variation in Blood Pressure during different phases of menstrual cycle can also be attributed to the effect of ovarian hormones on cardiovascular function.

Data from studies indicate that progesterone, the natural progestin, has either neutral or depressor effects on blood pressure. For example, decreases in blood pressure with the progression of pregnancy are positively correlated with increases in progesterone¹,oestrogen administration was known to promote vasodilator action by increasing prostacyclin and nitric oxide synthesis and the physiologic changes observed during the luteal phase of menstrual cycle are known to mimic early pregnancy¹, These include a marked decrease in total peripheral resistance and a significant decrease in mean arterial pressure in the mid luteal phase².

The incidence of coronary artery disease (CAD) and hypertension (HTN) is relatively low among women in reproductive age, with a sharp rise after menopause³. Oestrogen is also known to reduce the development of HTN in pre-menopausal women through peripheral actions such as up-regulation of endothelium derived vasodilator factors with simultaneous downregulation of vasoconstrictor factors. Oestrogen might protect against elevated arterial pressure by inhibiting sympathetic nervous activity⁴.

This study is carried out to find any blood pressure variation in different phases of menstrual cycle.

Materials and Method

The study was carried out at Gandhi medical college, secunderabad 30 apparently healthy female medical students aged between 18-23 years were selected for the study.

Inclusion Criteria:

- 1. Normal regular menstrual cycles of 27-33 days.
- 2. Ovulatory cycles

Exclusion Criteria:

- 1. Subjects below 18yrs and above 23yrs of age.
- 2. Subjects with endocrinal & gynecological disorders, chronic diseases, allergic conditions.

- 3. Subjects with Diabetes.
- 4. Pregnant subjects.
- 5. Subjects with irregular menstrual cycle.
- 6. History of drugs intake affecting menstrual cycle.

All the subjects were explained about the BP recording and informed consent was taken

Recording of Blood Pressure:

Subjects were allowed to rest for half an hour in the laboratory before taking them to the examination couch.Blood pressure was recorded by mercury sphygmomanometer and littman stethoscope. Blood pressure was measured by auscultatory method. The equipment was checked and calibrated for its accuracy as per the recommendations by British hypertension society⁵.

Blood Pressure was recorded during the following Phases of Menstrual cycle:

- i. Menstrual phase (MP) (2nd day)
- ii. Proliferative phase (PP) (11th day)
- iii. Secretory phase (SP) (22nd day)

Statistical analysis was done using SPSS 17.0 Software. To compare means of two independent groups, students t- test for independent samples was used.

P value < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant

Observation and Results

Table 1: Comparison of Blood pressure in different phases of menstrual cycle S.B.P, Systolic Blood Pressure; D.B.P, Diastolic Blood Pressure

Danamatan	МР	РР	SP	MPV	VsPP	МРУ	VsSP	PPV	/sSP
rarameter	(Mean±S.D)	(Mean±S.D)	(Mean±S.D)	T Value	P Value	T Value	P Value	T Value	P Value
S.B.P (mmHg)	108.33±8.34	109.67±10.66	107.47±11.36	0.542	P=0.62	0.334	P=0.83	0.78	P=0.44
D.B.P (mmHg)	63.67±8.9	67.33±9.07	65.33±8.6	1.578	P=0.14	0.735	P=0.74	0.876	P=0.48

There was no significant difference in both systolic and diastolic blood pressure among phases of the menstrual cycle

Discussion

The human menstrual cycle involves physiological and biochemical changes. It is under the control of Hypothalamo-Pituitary-Ovarian (HPO) axis. Steroid hormones, oestrogen and progesterone which play a major role in menstrual cycle are controlled by an integrated HPO axis through release of FSH and LH.

In the present study, Systolic Blood Pressure (S.B.P) & Diastolic Blood Pressure (D.B.P) were increased in Proliferative Phase (PP) compared toot her phases but were statistically insignificant. Findings of our study were in accordance with previous studies^{6,7}.

However, Other studies showed that Resting SBP was significantly higher in the ovulatory phase than in other phases, but resting DBP did not differ significantly between phases¹². In an another study SBP was lower during the follicular phase while DBP and Heart rate (HR) were lower during the menstrual and follicular phases¹³. In a study carried out by Mcfetridge and Sherwood, Resting DBP was lower during luteal phase and higher during follicular phase whereas SBP remained uniform across the menstrual cycle¹⁴.

Data on the effects of estrogenic preparations on blood pressure are inconsistent, and include reports of blood pressure lowering⁹, blood pressure elevating¹⁰ and blood pressure neutral effects¹¹.

Unlike the natural oestrogen estradiol, the synthetic oestrogen, ethinyl estradiol increases bloodpressure⁸ by an increase in the hepatic synthesis of rennin substrate, which leads to an increase in plasma angiotensin-II level and aldosterone mediated salt and fluid retention.

In a study,oral administration of natural progesterone significantly lowered blood pressure in six men and four postmenopausal women with mild to moderate hypertension who were not receiving antihypertensive drugs¹⁵. However with Natural progesterone administration,no change in blood pressure was recorded¹⁶.

The different findings may be attributed to various complex interactions among vasoactive mediators (e.g., nitric oxide, prostaglandins, prostacyclins, and the renin-angiotensin system), hemodynamic changes (i.e., cardiac output and systemic vascular resistance), and sex hormones (i.e., oestrogens and progesterone).

In our study, there was no significant difference in

both systolic and diastolic blood pressure among phases of the menstrual cycle. Simultaneous hormonal assays would offer an advantage to assess Blood pressure changes in different phases of menstrual cycle, if any. And also the present study was carried out on small number of subjects, further studies should be carried out with more number of subjects to substantiate our result.

Conclusion

There was no significant difference in both systolic and diastolic blood pressure among phases of the menstrual cycle. The findings should be re-examined with a larger study group.

Acknowledgement: We would like to thank all the subjects who participated in the study

Source of Funding: Self

Ethical Clearance: Taken from Scientific Ethical committee, Gandhi Medical Collge, secunderabad, Telangana.

Conflict of Interest: Nil

References

- Kristiansson P., Wang J.X.. Reproductive hormones and blood pressure during pregnancy, Hum Reprod., 2001, vol. 16 (pg. 13-17).
- 2. Hassan AA, Carter G, and Tooke JE. Postural vasoconstriction in women during normal menstrual cycle. Clin Sci (Lond) 78:39-47, 1990.
- Farhat, M.Y., Lavigne, M.C. and Ramwell, P.W. (1996) The vascular protective effects of estrogen. FASEB J. 10, 615-624.
- Kotchen, J.M. and Kotchen, T.A. (2003) Impact of female hormones on blood pressure: review of potential mechanisms and clinical studies. Curr Hypertens Rep. 5, 505-512.
- Jointnational Committee on prevention, detection, evaluation and treatment of High Blood Pressure. Arch. Intern .Med.1997;157:2413-2446.
- Mehnaaz Sameera Arifuddin, Mohammed Abdul Hannan Hazari, Barra Ram Reddy. Blood Pressure variations during different phases of menstrual cycle. International Journal of Science and Nature. 08/2012;3(3):551-554.
- 7. Hirshoren N, Tzoran I, Makrienko I, Edoute Y,

- International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03
 Plawner MM, and Itskovitz JG. Menstrual cycle effects on the neurohumoral and autonomic nervous systems regulating the cardiovascular system. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2000, vol 87:1569-1575.
- 8. Woods J.W.. Oral contraceptives and hypertension, Hypertension, 1988, vol. II Suppl. 2(pg. 11-15)
- Cacciatore B., Paakkari I., Hasselblatt R., et al. Randomized comparison between orally and transdermally administered replacement therapy regimens of long-term effects on 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure in postmenupausal women, Am J Obstet Gynecol, 2001, vol. 184 (pg. 904-909)
- Wren B.G., Routledge D.A.. Blood pressure changes. Oestrogens in climacteric women, Med J Aust., 1981, vol. 2 (pg. 528-531)
- Pripp U., Hall G., Csemiczky G., et al. A randomized trial on effects of hormone replacement therapy on ambulatory blood pressure and lipoprotein levels in women with coronary artery disease, J Hypertens, 1999, vol. 17 (pg. 1379-1386)

- 12. Moran, V.H., Leathard, H.L. and Coley, J. (2000) Cardiovascular functioning during the menstrual cycle. Clin Physiol. 20, 496-504.
- Tsai, P.S., Yucha, C.B., Sheffield, D. and Yang, M. (2003) Effects of daily activities on ambulatory blood pressure during menstrual cycle in normotensive women. Appl Psychophysiol Biofeedback. 28, 25-36.
- McFetridge, J.A. and Sherwood, A. (2000) Hemodynamic and sympathetic nervous system responses to stress during menstrual cycle. AACN Clin Issues. 11, 158-167.
- Rylance P.B., Brincat M., Lafferty K., et al. Natural progesterone and antihypertensive action, Br. Med J., 1985, vol. 5 (pg. 13-14)
- Tapanainem J., Kauppila A., Metsa-Ketela T., Vapatalo H.. Prostanoids and catecholamines after oral administration of natural progesterone, Gynecol Endocrinol., 1989, vol. 3 (pg. 135-142)

Gender Differences in Response to Cold Pressor Test in the Age Group of 18-30 Years

Hasana Fatima¹, R. Anitha², Mudassir Mirza³

¹Postgraduate Student, ²Professor, ³Assistant Professor, Upgraded Department of Physiology, Osmania Medical College, Hyderabad, Telangana State

Abstract

Introduction: The Cold Pressor Test (CPT) was first introduced by Hines and Brown in 1932. It was designed to measure the reactivity of the blood vessels to a standard stimulus². Cold Pressor Test is an established challenge test of sympathetic vascular regulation. Sympathetic nervous system activity varies in males and females.

Aim: To study the response of Cold Pressor Test on blood pressure in normal healthy young adult males and females.

Materials and Method: After Institutional ethics committee approval, a total of 104 subjects in the age group of 18-30 years were recruited with informed consent for the study, after considering inclusion and exclusion criteria. Subjects were explained about the test procedure. Basal blood pressure (pre-test BP) was recorded after 20 min. of rest. Systolic and diastolic blood pressure was measured in mmHg (pre-test). Subject was asked to dip left hand till the wrist in cold water (4^{0} - 8^{0} C) for 1 min. (minute).Blood pressure was recorded from right arm during the test, 1 minute, 2 minutes, 3 minutes and 4 minutes after the test.

Result: Basal BP was significantly higher in males than in females. Systolic BP(SBP) response, Diastolic BP response (DBP) to CPT were statistically higher in males compared to females.

Conclusions: The gender variations are seen due to differences in the sympathetic nervous system activity and due to the effect of sex hormones. Males are more prone to develop hypertension and other cardiovascular disorders when compared to females due to higher sympathetic activity.

Keywords: Cold Pressor test, sympathetic nervous system, males, females.

Introduction

The subjects prone to develop hypertension in later life have a period of underlying sympathetic overactivity¹. Increased sympathetic and decreased parasympathetic activities in young adults alters sympathovagal balance,

Corresponding Author:

Dr. Hasana Fatima

Postgraduate Student, Upgraded Department of Physiology, Osmania Medical College, Hyderabad, Telangana State e-mail: izznafatima@yahoo.in which could be the major mechanism in causation of pre hypertension³. Sustained sympathetic overactivity has been reported as among the primary mechanisms for genesis of essential hypertension². The subjects at risk of developing hypertension can be identified by performing the CPT.

The Cold Pressor Test (CPT) was first introduced by Hines and Brown in 1932. It was designed to measure the reactivity of the blood vessels to a standard stimulus². (CPT) is an established challenge test of autonomic vascular regulation. This study aims to study the gender variation in response to CPT, giving insight into level of sympathetic activity, and subsequent risk of developing hypertension in future and other cardiovascular disorders.

Materials and Method

104 Subjects 18-30 years, studying in Osmania Medical College.

Inclusion Criteria:

Healthy Young adult offspring of

- 1. Normotensive parents.
- 2. Either one or both parents can be hypertensive.

Exclusion Criteria:

Subject with history of

- 1. Hypertension
- 2. Diabetes Mellitus
- 3. Cardiovascular disorders
- 4. Neuropathy
- 5. Addictions to tobacco/alcohol.

Materials and Method

Mercury Sphygmomanometer, Stethoscope, Thermometer, Timer, Ice water at 4°-8°C, Stadiometer, Weighing machine.

Instructions:

Subjects were asked

- 1. Not to have caffeine rich drinksat least 2-3 hour prior to test.
- 2. Not to perform Valsalva manoeuvre & isometric contraction during the test.

Procedure: After Institutional ethics committee approval, with informed consent subjects were recruited for the study. Details regarding the health status, past medical history, past cardiac surgeries, family history of hypertension (in parents), addictions were obtained. Subjects were explained about the test procedure. Basal blood pressure (pre-test BP) was recorded after 20 minutes of rest. SBP & DBP was measured in mmHg (pre-test). Subject was asked to dip left hand till the wrist in cold water (4°-8°C) for 1 minute. Blood pressure was recorded from right arm during test, 1 minute, 2 minute, 3 minute & 4 minute after the test.

Statistical analysis: Unpaired t test was used to find the significance between various parameters. p value <0.05 was considered as statistically significant (*).

Observation and Results:

Table 1: Characteristics of male and female subjects

Parameter	Male	Female	p value
Number	45	59	-
Age (years)	19.78±2.89	20.50±3.97	0.294
Height (meters)	1.671±0.71	1.58±0.091	0.001*
Weight (kg)	59.89±10.71	56.93±11.54	0.185
BMI (kg/m ²)	24.06±4.67	25.90±4.20	0.037

Table 2: Comparison of Basal Blood Pressure (mmHg) between males and females

Parameter	Male	Female	p value
Basal SBP	110±8.52	101.70±9.86	0.001*
Basal DBP	72.67±5.94	69.29±7.22	0.01*

Table 3: Comparison of Systolic Blood Pressure response to CPT (mmHg) between males and females

Parameter	Male	Female	p value
Basal SBP	110±8.52	101.70±9.86	0.001*
During test	127.42±9.48	119.12±10.76	0.001*
1min after test	115.91±11.26	107.56±11.79	0.001*

International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03 43

Parameter	Male	Female	p value
2min after test	109.20±9.12	102.10±10.35	0.001*
3 min after test	108.09±8.92	100.91±9.53	0.001*
4 min after test	107.46±9.18	99.93±9.07	0.001*
Maximum SBP	127.42±9.48	119.12±10.76	0.001*
Change in SBP	16.18±7.45	16.91±8.19	0.637

Table 4: Comparison between Diastolic Blood Pressure (mmHg) response to CPT between males and females

Parameter	Male	Female	p value
Basal DBP	72.67±5.94	69.29±7.22	0.01*
During test	86.98±10.50	69.29±7.22	0.01*
1min after test	77.87±8.81	72.10±9.67	0.002*
2min after test	73.91±6.22	69.53±8.41	0.005*
3 min after test	73.02±6.61	68.47±7.61	0.002*
4 min after test	72.89±6.61	68.03±7.40	0.001*
Maximum DBP	86.76±10.76	81.22±9.04	0.005*
Change in DBP	13.73±8.47	11.18±6.50	0.086

Discussion

Males had higher basal SBP (110 ± 8.52 mmHg) & higher DBP (72.67 ± 5.94 mmHg) compared to basal SBP (101.70 ± 9.86 mmHg) & basal DBP (69.29 ± 7.22 mmHg) in females, which was statistically significant (p=0.001). This is in accordance with study done by Weiinber & colleagues⁴, Khoury et al⁵, a meta- analysis study by Staessen et al⁶, The third National Health & Nutrition Evaluation Survey⁷ (NHANESIII).

BP recordings during CPT & sequentially every minute thereafter up to 4 minutes, reveal statistically significant higher values in males compared to females. The higher SBP in males (127.42 ± 9.48 mmHg) during CPT when compared to females(119.12 ± 10.76 mmHg) correlating with Srivastava et al⁸ (P=0.001).

BP measurement continued after the removal of hand from the cold water in order to detect delayed pressor effect and duration of elevated blood pressure.

The SBP values 1 minute after the test were higher in males $(115.91\pm11.26\text{mmHg})$ than in females $(107.56\pm11.79\text{mmHg})$. The SBP values 2 minutes, 3 minutes, 4 minutes after test were significantly higher in males than in females.

The maximum SBP attained in males was higher $(127.42\pm9.48 \text{ mmHg})$ than in females $(119.12\pm10.76\text{mmHg})$ & the p value was statistically significant (p=0.001). The change in SBP (Maximum SBP minus Basal SBP) was higher in females $(16.91\pm8.19\text{mmHg})$ than in males $(16.18\pm7.45\text{mmHg})$ and was not statistically significant (p=0.637). The change in SBP was higher in females correlating with Srivastava et al⁸.

The DBP response to CPT during test was higher in males (86.98 ± 10.50 mmHg) than in females (69.29 ± 7.22 mmHg) & the values were statistically significant (p=0.001) correlating with Srivastava et al⁸. Males had higher DBP values 1 minute, 2 minutes, 3 minutes & 4 minutes after the test than females. Maximum DBP attained was higher in males than in females. The change in DBP was more in males (13.73 ± 8.47 mmHg) than in females (11.18 ± 6.50 mmHg) in contradiction to Srivastava et al.⁸ with a higher change in DBP in females than in males.

Mechanism of CPT induced increase in BP⁹: When the hand is immersed in cold water (4°-8°C), the A & C fibres are activated in response to pain, temperature sensation. These fibres ascend contralaterally as anterolateral system which includes Spinothalamic, Spino-reticular & Spino-mesencephalic tracts. The nociceptive specific neurons ascend in the lateral mesencephalon, while the thermoreceptive specific neurons project to Dorsomedial part of ventro posteromedial nucleus of Thalamus. The ascending fibres of spinoreticular tract project to medullary reticular formation, via the Ionotropic Glutamate receptors activate the Rostral Ventrolateral Medullary (RVLM) neurons resulting in increased sympathetic nervous activity leading to increase in blood pressure, heart rate, total vascular resistance, muscle sympathetic activity^{10,11,12}, decrease inforearm blood flow¹³. Thus, CPT increases the sympathetic nervous system activity to increase the BP which depends on the sympathetic tone.

In the present study, males had higher:

- 1. Basal SBP & DBP
- 2. SBP & DBP during the test
- 3. SBP & DBP 1 minute, 2 minutes, 3 minutes & 4 minutes after the test.

Gender variations to CPT is due to androgens, estrogen, progesterone.

Androgensplays a crucial role in gender differences in blood pressure regulation. The probable mechanisms by which androgens lead to increased blood pressure are: Androgens lead to increased formation of Angiotensin II, which increasesoxidative stress leading to production of superoxide, quenching of Nitric Oxide, and also reducethe renal vascular response to vasodilators, including residual Nitric Oxide(NO). Androgens also cause production of F2-isoprostanes which potentiate the effect of Ang II as avasoconstrictor, and alsostimulate endothelin-1 production to increase blood pressure further.¹⁴

Estrogens and their receptors play a crucial role in endothelium-dependent maintenance of vascular tone¹⁵⁻¹⁷. Estrogenscause relaxation via endotheliumderived hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF), by inducing vasodilator prostanoids (PGE2, PGI2), and by inhibiting endothelin-1 production¹⁸. Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) also play a crucial role in vascular response. Fertile females havehigher levels of EPC than men. Intrinsic differences within the endothelial cells contribute to differences between men and women. Other factors that modulate autonomic

cardiac activity, may influence sex differences, such as inflammation, increased pain sensitivity to cold, and psychological disorders (e.g. depression). Healthy females have a lower central sympathetic neural output to periphery and a lower sympathetic vasoconstrictor drive when compared to healthy men.¹⁹ Studies done at molecular level indicate that centralactions of estrogens include facilitation of cholinergic transmission and activating the synthesis of a vital rate limiting enzyme choline acetyltransferase, involved in the formation of acetylcholine formation, and also have a role in sympathetic outflow inhibititon^{20,21}

Estrogen²² decreases the production of cyclooxygenase derived products, reactive oxygen species, angiotensin-II & endothelin-1 which are vasoconstrictor agents. It inhibits smooth muscle cells by activating K+ efflux & by inhibiting calcium influx through inhibition of L-type Ca^{2+} channels and decreases myosin light chain phosphorylation and contraction of smooth muscle. Estrogen also inhibits proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cell.

Membrane-impermeant forms of estrogenacts oncell surface estrogen receptors, leading to the activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and increased cGMP production and nitric oxide (NO) release.

Estrogenacts on the renin-angiotensin system is at the formation of Ang II, at the Ang II receptors level and on Ang II-induced responses²². Estrogen increases gene expression and plasma levels of angiotensinogen and antagonizes the AT1 receptor-mediated growthpromoting effects of Ang II in vascular smooth muscle cells. Estrogenacts on the endothelin-1 (ET-1) pathway at different levels: at its formation, at level of the receptors and on ET-1-induced responses.

The luteal phase is associated with a significantly reduced parasympathetic activity. The high progesterone levels during the luteal phase may have an inhibitory role on cardio-vagal activity²²⁻²⁵. Studies showed a higher sympathetic activity and a sympathovagal imbalance in luteal phase with an associated increase in parasympathetic activity in follicular phase, showing sympathetic predominance in luteal phase ²⁶⁻²⁹. In physiological doses, progesterone acts as a sympathomimetic agent which induces nor epinephrine release^{30,31}

The results corroborates with report by Weitz et al³², that the activity of sympathetic nervous system shows

gender specific differences with lower sympathetic nerve activity to muscle vascular bed in women as compared with men, the difference vanishes after menopause.

Thus, the female sex hormones together cause lower BP response to CPT in females.

Conclusion

Males had significantly higher values for - Basal SBP & DBP, SBP & DBP values during the test, SBP & DBP values 1 minute, 2 minutes, 3 minutes & 4 minutes after test, Maximum SBP & Maximum DBP than females.

The gender variations are seen due to differences in the sympathetic nervous system activity and due to the effect of sex hormones. Males are more prone to develop hypertension and other cardiovascular disorders when compared to females due to higher sympathetic activity.

The Change in SBP & change in DBP values between males and females are not statistically significant.

Acknowledgements: My gratitude to Dr. A. Santakumari, Professor & Head of the Department, Faculty members, Post graduate colleagues & study population for their cooperation.

Conflict of Interest: None

Source of Funding: Self

Ethical Clearance: Institutional ethics committee approved.

References

- 1. Biaggioni I, Burnstock G, Low PA, Paton JF, Robertson D, editors. Primer on the autonomic nervous system. Academic Press; 2011.
- Hines Jr EA, Brown GE. The cold pressor test for measuring the reactibility of the blood pressure: data concerning 571 normal and hypertensive subjects. American heart journal. 1936 Jan 1;11(1):1-9.
- Raj M. Essential hypertension in adolescents and children: Recent advances in causative mechanisms. Indian journal of endocrinology and metabolism. 2011 Oct;15(Suppl4):S367.
- Wiinberg N, Høegholm A, Christensen HR, Bang LE, Mikkelsen KL, Nielsen PE, Svendsen TL, Kampmann JP, Madsen NH, Bentzon MW. 24-h ambulatory blood pressure in 352 normal Danish

subjects, related to age and gender. American journal of hypertension. 1995 Oct 1;8(10):978-86.

- Khoury S, Yavows SA, O'Brien TK, Sowers JR. Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in a nonacademicsetting: effects of age and sex. American journal of hypertension. 1992 Sep 1;5(9):616-23.
- Staessen J, Fagard R, Lijnen P, Thijs L, Van Hoof R, Amery A. Reference values for ambulatory blood pressure: a meta-analysis. J Hypertens. 1990;8(suppl 6):S57–S64.
- Burt VL, Whelton P, Roccella EJ, Brown C, Cutler JA, Higgins M, Horan MJ, Labarthe D. Prevalence of hypertension in the US adult population: results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1991. Hypertension. 1995 Mar;25(3):305-13.
- Srivastava RD, Kumar MA, Shinghal R, Sahay AP. Influence of age and gender on cold pressor response in Indian population. Indian J PhysiolPharmacol. 2010;54(2):174-8.
- Nakamura T, Kawabe K, Sapru HN. Cold pressor test in the rat: medullary and spinal pathways and neurotransmitters. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 2008 Oct;295(4):H1780-7.
- Wood DL, Sheps SG, Elveback LR, Schirger A. Cold pressor test as a predictor of hypertension. Hypertension. 1984 May;6(3):301-6.
- Kasagi F, Akahoshi M, Shimaoka K. Relation between cold pressor test and development of hypertension based on 28-year follow-up. Hypertension. 1995 Jan;25(1):71-6.
- Silverthorn DU, Michael J. Cold stress and the cold pressor test. Advances in physiology education. 2013 Mar;37(1):93-6.
- 13. Anthony DM, Hamid HS, Rashmi TM. Autonomic response to cold pressor test in relation to ABO blood groups. Int Res J Biol Sci. 2013;2(10):30-5.
- Reckelhoff JF. Gender differences in the regulation of blood pressure. Hypertension. 2001 May;37(5):1199-208.
- Luksha L, Nisell H, Kublickiene K. The mechanism of EDHF-mediated responses in subcutaneous small arteries from healthy pregnant women. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology. 2004 Jun;286(6):R1102-9.

- 46 International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03
- Huang A, Kaley G. Gender-specific regulation of cardiovascular function: estrogen as key player. Microcirculation. 2004 Jan 1;11(1):9-38.
- Kublickiene K, Luksha L. Gender and the endothelium. Pharmacol Rep. 2008 Jan 1;60(1):49-60.
- 18. Vaccarino V, Badimon L, Corti R, de Wit C, Dorobantu M, Hall A, Koller A, Marzilli M, Pries A, Bugiardini R. Ischaemic heart disease in women: are there sex differences in pathophysiology and risk factors? Position paper from the working group on coronary pathophysiology and microcirculation of the European Society of Cardiology. Cardiovascular research. 2011 Apr 1;90(1):9-17.
- Hogarth AJ, Mackintosh AF, Mary DA. Gender-related differences in the sympathetic vasoconstrictor drive of normal subjects. Clinical Science. 2007 Mar 1;112(6):353-61.
- Bernardi F, Genazzani AR. The brain: target and source for sex steroid hormones. In Women's health and menopause 1999 (pp. 137-143). Springer, Dordrecht.
- 21. Eskin BA, Snyder DL, Roberts J, Aloyo VJ. Cardiac norepinephrine release: modulation by ovariectomy and estrogen. Experimental Biology and Medicine. 2003 Feb;228(2):194-9.
- Tostes RC, Nigro D, Fortes ZB, Carvalho MH. Effects of estrogen on the vascular system. Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research. 2003 Sep;36(9):1143-58.
- 23. Goldstein DS, Levinson P, Keiser HR. Plasma and urinary catechllamines during the human ovulatory cycle. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology. 1983 Aug 1;146(7):824-9.
- Sato N, Miyake S, Akatsu JI, Kumashiro M. Power spectral analysis of heart rate variability in healthy young women during the normal menstrual cycle. Psychosomatic medicine. 1995 Jul 1;57(4):331-5.
- 25. Shetty SB, Pai SR, Nayanatara AK, Shetty B. Comparison of cardiac autonomic activity and BMI in different phases of menstrual cycle using

heart rate variability. Int J Basic Med Sci. 2011 Sep;2(4):100-5.

- 26. Tanaka M, Sato M, Umehara S, Nishikawa T. Influence of menstrual cycle on baroreflex control of heart rate: comparison with male volunteers. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology. 2003 Nov;285(5):R1091-7.
- Yildirir A, Kabakci G, Akgul E, Tokgozoglu L, Oto A. Effects of menstrual cycle on cardiac autonomic innervation as assessed by heart rate variability. Annals of noninvasive electrocardiology. 2001 Jan;7(1):60-3.
- Guasti L, Grimoldi P, Mainardi LT, Petrozzino MR, Piantanida E, Garganico D, Diolisi A, Zanotta D, Bertolini A, Ageno W, Grandi AM. Autonomic function and baroreflex sensitivity during a normal ovulatory cycle in humans. Acta cardiologica. 1999 Aug;54(4):209-13.
- 29. Chatterjee S, Aditya S, Tibarewala DN. A Comparative Study between Females of Pre-Pubertal and Reproductive age groups to explore how HPG-Axis affects the Autonomic Control over Cardiac Activity. Indian J Biomech. 2009 Mar:233-6.
- Mercuro G, Pitzalis L, Podda A, Zoncu S, Pilia I, Melis GB, Cherchi A. Effects of acute administration of natural progesterone on peripheral vascular responsiveness in healthy postmenopausal women. The American journal of cardiology. 1999 Jul 15;84(2):214-8.
- Bai X, Li J, Zhou L, Li X. Influence of the menstrual cycle on nonlinear properties of heart rate variability in young women. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 2009 Aug;297(2):H765-74.
- Weitz G, Elam M, Born J, Fehm HL, Dodt C. Postmenopausal estrogen administration suppresses muscle sympathetic nerve activity. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2001 Jan 1;86(1):344-8.

Can GSR be Used as a Tool to Early Diagnose the Autonomic Dysfunction among GAD Patients

Jai Kumar¹, Deepti Aggarwal², Rajiv Gupta³, CMS Rawat⁴, Vimal Singh Gusain⁵

¹Associate Professor, Department of Physiology, VCSG Government Institute of Medical Sciences & Research, Srinagar (Garhwal), Uttarakhand – 246174, ²Senior Resident, Department of Physiology, PGIMS, Pt. B. D. Sharma University of Health Sciences, Rohtak, Haryana – 124001, ³Senior Professor & Head, Department of Psychiatry, PGIMS, Pt. B. D. Sharma University of Health Sciences, Rohtak, Haryana – 124001, ⁴Professor, Department of Community Medicine, ⁵Professor & Head, Department of Physiology, VCSG Government Institute of Medical Sciences & Research, Srinagar (Garhwal), Uttarakhand – 246174

Abstract

Background: 14% of globen disease burden goes to anxiety. Generalised annxiety disorder is one of the manifestation of anxiety. There has been many studies correlating the association of generalised anxiety disorder with cardiovascular mortality and morbidity. This contribution has been attributed to imbalance in parasympathetic and sympathetic stems of autonomic nervous system. This imbalance in autonmic activity can be measured by many invasive & non invasive method.

Material and Method: The present study was conducted our 60 subjects which were divided into 2 groups of 30 patients of generalised anxiety disorder and 30 age and sex matched normal subjects as control. Both groups were further subdivided based on gender with 15 subjects each. Basal galvanic skin response was recorded in all subjects and comparison was done among patients and controls.

Result: Basal galvanic skin response was decreased in both male and female generalised anxiety disorder patients when compared with controls. The difference was stastically non significant.

Conclusion: Basal galvanic skin response can not be used as an early diagnostic tool of autonomic dysfunction in generalised anxiety disorder.

Keywords: Generalised Anxiety Disorder, Galvanic Skin Response, Autonomic Cardiac Function.

Introduction

Several mechanisms such as poor health habits like smoking, poor diet, sedentary life style etc associated with negative emotions – anxiety, anger and depression have been stamped as the reason for increased coronary heart disease but the main culprit seems to be potential direct effect of the negative emotions on progression

Dr. Jai Kumar

of atherosclerosis as well as lowering the threshold for ventricular arrhythmia and sudden cardiac death¹. Credit of 14% of global disease burden goes to mental health disorders. Out of these anxiety contributes 4.7%^{2,3}. Anxiety disorders have been associated with increased risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. Several studies have predicted the increased risk of CHD in patients with phobic anxiety or panic disorders³. One of the health professionals follow-up study found increased risk of sudden CHD death rather than nonsudden. One of the hypothesis predicts this association as a dysregulation of autonomic nervous system control activity⁴⁻⁶.

Populations exposed to traumatic events have higher prevalence of major depressive disorder (MDD)

Corresponding Author:

Associate Professor, Department of Physiology, VCSG Government Institute of Medical Sciences & Research, Srinagar (Garhwal), Uttarakhand – 246174

and generalised anxiety disorder (GAD). MDD and GAD are highly morbid psychiatric disorders. MDD has been associated with increased mortality mainly due to CHD⁷. Other manifestations of anxiety have been linked with increased CVD mortality^{8,9}. Anxiety has also been linked up with some chronic diseases like diabetes, hypertension and hypercholesterolemia³.

Possible mechanisms for the association of anxiety with CVD include changes in autonomic tone manifested as decreased vagal and increased sympathetic tone³. High level of anxiety has been associated with reduced heart rate variability (HRV). This reduced HRV predicts sudden cardiac death (SCD) in elderly and heart failure patients¹⁰. Increased incidence of SCD in population exposed to traumatic events has been implicated to increased sympathetic nervous system activity¹¹.

There has been many studies showing reduced HRV predicting the severity of of association of cardiovascular morbidity with GAD. But there are no or very minimal studies which has used galvanic skin response as a predictor of association of GAD with cardiovascular mortality & morbidity.

Galvanic Skin Response: Galvanic Skin Response (GSR) is a type of an electrodermal response that represents a change in the electrical conductivity of the skin caused by an increase in activity of sweat glands. GSR measures skin conductivity from the fingers or palms. It is affected in an anxious person because of increased sympathetic activitye¹². The activity of sweat glands in response to sympathetic nervous stimulation results in increase in conductance. Fowler et al have recommended that recordings can be taken from electrodes placed on the middle or distal phalanges of two fingers (either index and middle finger or index finger and thumb) or on the thenar and hypothenar eminences of palmar surface¹³.

Sympathetic activity and emotional arousal has a strong association. Tonic skin conductance changes with psychological arousal. It increases sharply when the subject wakes up and the it is increased further with activity, mental effort and especially in stress. GSR is an automatic response under so much control of cerebral cortex that it can be considered an indication of emotional status of the subject¹⁴.

GSR is the measure of the skin resistance to very small electric current passage. Meditation and relaxation procedures lead to a increase in skin resistance. High and

low skin resistance has direct association with relaxation and stress respectively. High resistance depicts a relaxed state of mind and low resistance means tension. But in psychotherapy session it is exactly opposite. Whenever repressed material comes to surface as in guilt or pain, the skin resistance will increase. In therapy session high skin resistance indicates tension. Suppressed emotions leads to building up of stuck energy in mind. When such emotions are restimulated by past events as in the case of generalized anxiety disorder, there will be increase in basal resistance. The wave like increase in skin conductance is known as Phasic skin conductance¹⁵. Cardiac automaticity is intrinsic to various pacemaker tissues but heart rate and rhythm is mainly under the control of autonomic nervous system. Parasympathetic influence on heart is by vagus nerve via acetylcholine release. Sympathetic effect on heart is by release of epinephrine and nor epinephrine. Under resting conditions, vagal tone is the main regulator of variations in heart rate¹⁶.

Most organs of our body has dual innervations from sympathetic and parasympathetic stems of autonomic nervous system, often mediating opposite effects. The relative balance between sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous system is regulated by afferent input directed primarily to the brain¹⁷. Fine spray type of nerve endings in carotid sinus and aortic arch, as the arterial baroreceptors, are the major contributors in regulation of blood pressure and heart rate. On stretching baroreceptors get stretched and send signals are from carotid sinus through glossopharyngeal nerve and from aortic arch through vagus nerve to the nucleus tractus solitarius in the medulla oblongata. From medulla, signals are sent to two centers- Inhibitory to vasomotor center and excitatory to the vagal center. Effects of stimulation of baroreceptors results in vasodilatation and decrease in heart rate. And this effect decreases the blood pressure by reducing peripheral resistance and cardiac output¹⁸.

Increased blood pressure results in reflex slowing of the heart via baroreceptor reflex. Increase in heart rate in response to lowering blood pressure results from decreased vagal inhibition and increased sympathetic activity. The vagal effects are immediate one but the sympathetic effects are delayed until several seconds. Pressure fall results in "Unloading" of arterial baroreceptors and reduced inhibitory influences on nucleus tractus solitarius and vasomotor center in medulla, resulting in increased sympathetic and decreased parasympathetic tone, which produces vasoconstriction, increased cardiac contractility and increased heart rate.

Multiple ailments have their effect on autonomic nervous system. Impaired autonomic functions may be caused by diseases affecting either the CNS or peripheral autonomic nervous system. Various chronic disorders also have their effects on autonomic nervous system. Several studies have documented increased incidence of morbidity and mortality in patients suffering from various chronic disorders with autonomic irregularity¹⁹

Assessment of autonomic activity-Tests of autonomic functions have been proposed, formulated and standardized by various workers. These tests are broadly divided into two categories:

Invasive Tests: Intraneural recording of postganglionic sympathetic activity, Response of autonomic nervous system to infusion of pressor agents, Plasma catecholamine levels estimation.

Non-Invasive Tests: Basal heart rate variability, Postural challenge tests (Head Up Tilt testing), Valsalva manoeuvre, Sustained handgrip test, Cold pressor test, Pseudomotor (sweating) function test.

A combination of these tests are generally employed in assessment of autonomic nervous system as some of these tests give information about the cardiac sympathetic functions whereas others give information about the cardiac parasympathetic functions²⁰. Out of all these parameter, we included pseudomotor function test in the form of galvanic skin response in our study.

Material and Method

The present study was conducted in Department of Physiology in collaboration with Department of Psychiatry, Pt. B. D. Sharma University of Health Sciences, Rohtak. The study was carried out on 60 patients of Generalised Anxiety Disorder (GAD) of 18-45 years of age of either sex. The normal age and sex matched subjects were selected from our staff members, medical students and healthy attendants accompanying the patients to the institute. The subjects and patients were divided into the following two groups:

Group I (60 in number) included normal healthy subjects. This group was further divided into two subgroups based on gender (30 each):

Group I_A - 30 male healthy subjects.

Group I_B- 30 female healthy subjects.

Group II(60 in number) included GAD patients diagnosed as per ICD-10 guidelines with Hamilton Anxiety Scale score of 28 (i.e. moderate anxiety), further divided into two subgroups based on gender (30 each):

Group II_A- 30 male GAD patients.

Group II_B- 30 female GAD patients.

Exclusion Criteria: The patients with the history of any other major illness (like diabetes, hypertension, myocardial infarction and hyperthyroidism) in the previous one year & history of drug intake for any other ailments in last one month were excluded.

Tests Conducted: In each individual basal GSR was recorded.

Recording of GSR was done by digitalised polygraph (POLYRITE D system, supplied by RMS India PVT. Ltd. Chandigarh). Individual customization of data was done after acquiring.

The following recommendations were followed to make the results reliable and interpretable.

Sampling Rate: The sampling rate in our machine was 256 Hz.

Filters: The machine was provided with different filters. Appropriate filters were chosen for GSR since the baseline shifting may affect the spectrum analysis.

High Filter- 2 Hz

Low Filter- 0.05 Hz

Sensitivity: Sensitivity knob was set on moderate high sensitivity $(50\mu V)$.

Sweep speed: The screen speed was 30 mm/sec.

Preliminary Preparation: The subjects were informed about the whole procedure in detail in their own language to allay any fear or apprehension. Consent was taken from every individual to undergo the whole procedure. All the experiments were conducted in a particular time period (from 10 AM to 1 PM) to avoid the diurnal variations.

Procedure: All the subjects and patients were tested under similar laboratory conditions. They were allowed

to get familiar with the experimental and environmental conditions of the laboratory to allay any apprehension. After performing physical examination they were asked to lie down in supine position on wooden table. For recording GSR, two copper lined electrodes were attached on the palmar aspect of distal digit of the thumb and index finger of right hand after applying the conduction jelly. Then basal recording of GSR weas taken for 5 minutes. **Statistical analysis of data:** For interpretation of the results the data set of each group was analysed statistically. Basal GSR of Group I (normal healthy subjects) were compared with Group II (Patients of GAD) by unpaired student t test. The comparison was done among subgroups IA & IIA and IB & IIB. Significance of result was predicted based on the p value.

Result

We observed the following result:

Table I: Basal GSR among Normal Healthy Males (Group IA) and Male GAD Patients (Group IIA)

Parameter	Group IA (Mean ± SD)	Group IIA (Mean ± SD)	P Value
GSR (µ Mho)	2.135 ± 2.242	1.813 ± 1.959	0.555

Table I shows decrease in GSR among group IIA in comparison to group IA. The difference is statistically not significant.

Fable II: Basal GSR of Normal Healthy Female (Group IB) and Female GAD Patients (Group	IIF	B))
--	-----	---	---	---

Parameter	Group IB (Mean ± SD)	Group IIB (Mean ± SD)	P Value
GSR (µ Mho)	2.390 ± 2.230	2.071 ± 1.555	0.523

Table II shows decrease in GSR among group IIB in comparison to group IB. The difference is statistically not significant.

Discussion

Manifestations of Anxiety have been associated with cardiovascular morbidity due to autonomic nervous system disturbance. It has been observed that longstanding anxiety markedly increases the risk of heart attack. The role of anxiety in hiking heart attack also goes beyond the effects of depression, anger, obesity, type A behaviour and other negative emotions²¹. Autonomic Nervous System plays major role in determining heart rate, stroke volume and peripheral vascular resistance to meet the appropriate requirement of body. Numerous studies have demonstrated the increased sympathetic and decreased parasympathetic nervous system activity hikes the risk of cardiovascular mortality and morbidity²¹.

Present study was carried out to assess and clinicaly evaluate autonomic functions by recording of basal GSR. This study was conducted on 60 patients of GAD and, age and sex matched 60 controls. They are divided into two groups. Group I comprised of 60 controls who are further divided into two subgroups based on gender (IA comprised of 30 male controls and IB of 30 female controls). Group II comprised of 60 GAD patients who are further divided into two subgroups based on gender (IIA comprised of 30 male patients and IIB of 30 female patients).

As shown in the results in table I, there is decrease in GSR among group IIA (1.813 ±1.959) in comparison to group IA (2.135 ± 2.242). This decrease in GSR among male GAD patients as compared to the male normal subjects indicates the decreased parasympathetic tone or increased basal sympathetic activity among GAD patients. Table II shows decreased GSR in group IIB(2.071 ±1.555) as compared to group IB (2.390 ±2.230). Similar to theresults in group I, this also shows decrease of GSR in female GAD patients in comparison to normal female subjects. Our study shows decreased GSR among both male and female GAD patients in comparison to their respective normal subjects. This shows that GAD either decreases the basal level of parasympathetic tone increases the basal sympathetic tone among the affected persons. But in both the scenario the difference is statistically insignificant.

Conclusion

We concluded that though there is decrease in galvanic skin response among generalised anxiety disorder patients but statistically non-significant result does not warrant its use as an indicator for early diagnosis of autonomic dysfunction. Before coming to the final concrete conclusion there need to be done further research.

Ethical Clearance: Taken from PGIMS, Rohtak Institute Ethical Committee (IEC)

Source of Funding: Self

Conflict of Interest: Nil

References

- 1. Kubzansky LD, Kawachi I. Going to the heart of the matter: negative emotions and coronary heart disease. J Psychosom Res. 2000; 48:323-37.
- World Health Organisation. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and related health problems (10th Revision). Geneva: WHO; 1992-94.
- Albert CM, Chae CU, Rexrode KM, Manson JE, Kawachi I. Phobic anxiety and risk of coronary heart disease and sudden cardiac death among women. Circulation. 2005; 111:480-7.
- 4. Dekker JM, Crow RS, Folsom AR, Hannan PJ, Liao D, Swenne CA et al. Low heart variability in a 2-minute rhythm strip predicts risk of coronary heart disease and mortality from several causes: The ARIC study. Atherosclerosis risk in communities study. Circulation. 2000; 102:1239-44.
- Palatini P, Julius S. Elevated heart rate: a major risk factor for cardiovascular disease. Clin Exp Hyperten. 2004;26: 637-44.
- Tsuji H, Larson MG, Venditti FJ Jr, Manders ES, Evans JC, Feldman CL et al. Impact of reduced heart rate variability on risk for cardiac events. The Framingham heart study. Circulation. 1996; 94: 2850-5.

- Kessler RC, Chiu WT, Demler O, Merikangas KR, Walters EE. Prevalence, severity, and comorbidity of 12-month DSM-IV disorders in the national comorbidity survey replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2005; 62: 617-27.
- Holwerda TJ, Schoevers RA, Dekker J, Deeg DJ, Jonker C, Beekman AT et al. The relationship between generalized anxiety disorder, depression and mortality in old age. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2007; 22: 241-9.
- Eaker ED, Sullivan LM, Kelly-Hayes M, D'Agostino RB Sr, Benjamin EJ. Tension and anxiety and the prediction of 10-year incidence of coronary heart disease, atrial fibrillation, and total mortality: The Framingham offspring study. Psychosom Med. 2005; 67: 692-6.
- La Rovere MT, Pinna GD, Maestri R, Mortara A, Capomolla S, Febo O et al. Short- term heart rate variability strongly predicts sudden cardiac death in chronic heart failure patients. Circulation. 2003; 107:565-70.
- 11. Kop WJ, Krantz DS, Nearing BD, Gottdiener JS, Quigley JF, O'Callahan M et al. Effects of acute mental stress and exercise on T-wave alternans in patients with implantable cardioverter defibrillators and controls. Circulation. 2004; 109:1864-9.
- Moore MM, Dua U. Galvanic skin response interface for people with severe motor disabilities. ACC SIGACCESS Accessibility and Computing 2003 September; 48-54.
- Scerbo AS, Freedman LW, Raine A, Dawson ME, Venables PH. A major effect of recording site on measurement of electrodermal activity. Psychophysiol.1992; 29: 241.
- 14. McCleary, RA. Electrodermal Response-Correlation between potential and conductance. Psychol Bull.1950; 47: 97-117.
- 15. Shepherd P. GSR Meter. Monograph on the internet. Available at: http://www.trans4mind.com/ psychotechnics/gsr.html. Assessed on Jan 21, 2020.
- 16. Khurana I. Textbook of medical physiology. !st ed. Delhi: Reed Elsevier India pvt ltd. 2006; 243-78.
- Barmister R. Autonomic failure. A textbook of clinical disorders of autonomic nervous system. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1983: 371-405.
- 18. Kirchheim HR. Systemic arterial baroreceptor reflexes. Physiol Rev. 1971; 56: 76-100.

- 52 International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03
- Ewing DJ, Campbell IW, Clarke BF. Assessment of cardiovascular effect in diabetic autonomic neuropathy and prognostic implications. Ann Intern Med. 1980; 92: 308-11.
- 20. Low PA. Qualification of autonomic responses.

In: Dyek PJ, Thomas PK, Lambert EH, Beninga R. Peripheral neuropathy. NY, WB Saunders CO. 1984; 1139-65.

21. Stein PK, Kleiger RE. Insights from the study of heart rate variability. Annual Rev Med. 1999; 50:249-61.

Vitamin D, Oxidative Stress and Cognition in Diabetes Mellitus

Kanchana R.¹, Pushpa K.²

¹Assistant Professor in Physiology, Dr. Chandramma Dayananda Sagar Institute of Medical Education and Research, Harohalli, ²Associate Professor in Physiology, Sridevi Institute of Medical Sciences and Research Hospital, Tumkur

Abstract

Introduction: Diabetes is a very common disease that affects almost all body systems. Of late recent studies have determined that vitamin D deficiency can cause several diseases such as diabetes, cardiovascular complications etc. Oxidative stress is an imbalance between free radicals and antioxidants in the body. Vitamin D is an antioxidant and its deficiency can cause oxidative stress .Thus vitamin D deficiency by itself and by causing oxidative stress can increase risk of developing diabetes

Hyperglycemia can affect cognition. Oxidative stress too can affect cognition. Studies done studying the role of vitamin D affecting cognition especially in diabetics are very few.

Aim: To determine the role of vitamin D in affecting cognition in Diabetic patients. To determine the correlation between vitamin D, oxidative stress and cognition in diabetes .

Materials and Method:

Comparative cross sectional study

100 Diabetes patients were studied.

Exclusion Criteria: Hypertensives, alzheimers disease, dementia, bone diseases, epileptics, taking calcium or vitamin d supplements, hypo or hyperparathyroidism, thyroid disorders.

After obtaining ethical approval from the institution a structured questionnaire was given to all.

Fasting blood glucose levels was determined by GOD-POD Method.

Hbalc was determined by Immunoturbidometry.

Vitamin D was determined by ELISA method.

Oxidative stress (malonylaldehyde) was measured by manual TBARS(Thiobarbituricacid reactive substances method)

Cognition was assessed using Montreal cognitive assessment questionnaire.

All tests were carried out at the central lab of Sree Balaji Medical College and Hospital, Chennai.

Results were analysed using Microsoft excel.

Results: A negative correlation was seen between vitamin D and MOCA scores.

A positive correlation was seen between MDA and MOCA scores.

Conclusion: Vitamin D deficiency causes oxidative stress and affects cognition in diabetics. Vitamin D supplementation can be considered to reduce oxidative stress and thus improve cognition in diabetes mellitus patients.

Keywords: Diabetes, oxidative stress, vitamin D, Montreal cognitive assessment.

Corresponding Author:

Dr. Pushpa K.

Associate Professor in Physiology, Sridevi Institute of Medical Sciences and Research Hospital, Tumkur

Introduction

Diabetes is a very common disease that affects almost all body systems. Of late recent studies have determined that vitamin D deficiency can cause several diseases such as diabetes, cardiovascular complications etc. Oxidative stress is an imbalance between free radicals and antioxidants in the body. Vitamin D is an antioxidant and its deficiency can cause oxidative stress.¹ Thus vitamin D deficiency by itself and by causing oxidative stress can increase risk of developing diabetes

Hyperglycemia can affect cognition. Oxidative stress too can affect cognition. Studies done studying the role of vitamin D affecting cognition especially in diabetics are very few.

Diabetes is characterized by hyperglycemia resulting from defects in insulin secretion, insulin action, or both. The chronic hyperglycemia of diabetes is associated with long-term dysfunction and failure of different organs, especially the eyes, kidneys, nerves, heart, and blood vessels. Recent studies have shown that diabetic patients are having low level of cognitive function in the form of mild cognitive impairment (MCI) which can lead to dementia and Alzheimer's disease.

MCI is diagnosed when there is:

- (1) Evidence of memory impairment.
- (2) Preservation of general cognitive and functional abilities.
- (3) Absence of diagnosed dementia

Study Design:

Comparative cross sectional study

No of Patients data Collected = 100 Nos

Diabetes Patients with no cognitive impairement data Collected = 43 Nos

Diabetes Patients with mild cognitive impairement data Collected = 57 Nos

Materials and Method

Ethical approval was obtained from the institution ethical committee.

5ml of blood was taken in fasting state from the diabetes patients and subjected to following tests.

Plasma Glucose Level Estimation:

GOD – POD Method:

Principle: Glucose is oxidized by glucose oxidase (GOD) to produce gluconate and hydrogen peroxide. The hydrogen peroxide is coupled oxidatevely with 4 amino- antipyrene (4-AAP) and phenol in the presence of peroxidase (POD) to yield a red quinoeimine dye that is measured at 505nm. The concentration of glucose is proportional to the absorbance at 505nm.

$Glucose + 2H_2O + O_2$	Gluconate + H ₂ O ₂
2H ₂ O ₂ + 4-AAP + Phenol	Quinoeimine Dye

Absorbance of the colored solution at 505nm is directly proportional to the glucose concentration. (Reference Range: 70 - 110 mg/dl)

s Vitamin D Level Estimation: Serum vitamin D levels estimated by immunoenzymetric assay (ELISA).

Principle:

- 1. First 2 hours incubation step -vit.D present in calibrators, controls, samples is dissociated from binding serum proteins to fix on binding sites of a specific monoclonal antibody.
- After 1 washing step a fixed amount of 25Oh vitamin D labelled with biotin in presence of horsedish peroxidase (HRP),compete with unlabelled 25OH vitamin d2 and 25OH vitamin D3 present on binding sites of the specific monoclonal antibody.
- 3. After 30 min incubation at room temperature the microtiter plate is washed to stop the competition reaction.

The DIA source 250H vitamin D total ELISA is a solid phase enzyme linked immunosorbent assay performed on microtiter plates.

4. The chromogenic solution is added and incubated for 15 mins.

The reaction is then stopped with the addition of stop solution and the microtiter plate is then read at the appropriate wavelength.

5. The amount of substrate turnover is determined colourimetrically by measuring the absorbance, which is inversely proportionally to the total 250H vitamin D(D2 and D3) concentration.

(Reference range: 30 – 150 ng/ml)

HbA1c Level Estimation	The concentration of MDA in the sample is got by
HbA1c Level estimated by Immunoturbidimetry	plotting the obtained absorbance against the standard graph. (normal range- $2.02-4.65 \mu$ M/L.)
Principle - Competitive binding	Assessment of Cognition
Reference Values:	Overview of the MoCA
Good control (5.6% - 7.0%) Fair control (7.01% - 8.0%)	Takes approximately 15 minutes to administer
Unsatisfactory control (8.01% - 10.0%)	Requires informed consent
Poor control (>10.01%)	It is a screening tool and not diagnostic
Estimation of Malonylaldehyde	MoCA Scoring
2 mL of blood was collected .Itwas centrifuged at	• The total points was added.
3000 rpm for 5 min. Then the serum MDA was measured using the method of Buege (1978).	• One point was added if the patient had less than 12 years of formal education. •
The samples are kept in boiling water bath for 15 min.	• Normal score is equal to or greater than 26/30. •

Results

All data was analysed using microsoft excel.

Unpaired student t test was performed. P value <0.05 was considered significant.

Table-1: Demographic and Clinical Charecteristics of Total Type 2 Diabetic Patients with and With	out MCI
---	---------

To the diluted sample 1 mL of Trichloroacetic acid

TCA-2-thiobarbituric acid (TBA)–HCl reagent is added. The reaction mixture is cooled and centrifuged. The

supernatant is taken and the optical density of the pink

colour formed is read at 535 nm.

Number of Patients Male/Female	NO MCI N=43(43%) (28/15)	MCI N=57(57%) (19/38)	P Value
Age (Years)	48.55 ± 7.651	57.80 ± 5.664	< 0.05
Duration of Diabetes (Months)	40.11 ± 36.198	156.42 ± 8.950	< 0.05
RBS (mg%)	164.34 ± 38.999	210.12 ± 49.079	< 0.05
HbA1c (%)	7.93 ± 0.462	9.18 ± 1.137	< 0.05
Serum vitamin D level (ng/ml)	41.17 ± 11.544	21.97 ± 7.063	< 0.05
MOCA Score	28.16 ± 1.252	20.70 ± 2.456	< 0.05
MDA Levels	0.93 ± 0.39	2.65 ± 1.33	< 0.05

Table 2: Correlations of MOCA Score with Other Parameters in Total Patients with MCI (n=57)

	MOCA Score		
	R	Р	
Log10[25(OH)d]	+0.512	0.001	
Duration of DM in months	-0.103	0.444	
RBS (mg%)	-0.062	0.647	
HbA1c (%)	+0.003	0.984	
MDA	+ 0.40	0.001	

Number of Patients	Male (n=19)	Female (n=38)	P Value
Age (Years)	58.68 ± 4.308	57.36 ± 6.240	0.412
Duration of DM (months)	167.36 ± 50.354	150.94 ± 62.719	0.326
RBS (mg%)	214.73 ± 49.252	207.81 ± 49.489	0.620
HbA1C (%)	9.24 ± 1.039	9.15 ± 1.195	0.781
Serum Vitamin D Level (NG/ML)	26.57 ± 5.695	19.68 ± 6.592	0.0001
MOCA Score	21.73 ± 2.921	20.18 ± 2.038	0.023
MDA Level	2.67 ± 0.45	2.98 ± 0.53	0.014

Table 3: Comparision of Male and Female Patients with MCI

Table 4: Average MOCA Score in All the Patients According to Different Serum Vitamin D Levels

Range of serum vitamin D (ng/ml)	Average serum vitamin D level (ng/ml)	Average MOCA score	P value
<20(n=28)	15.9 ± 2.916	19.71 ± 4.243	0.0001
20-30(n=28)	25.79 ± 5.187	22.64 ± 3.234	0.009
>30(n=44)	42.18 ± 10.09	27.382 ± 2.470	0.0001

Table 5: Association of Serum Vitamin D Level & Moca Score in Patients with MCI in Two Age Groups

Age Group	Serum vit.D (ng/ml)	MOCA score	P Value
<50 yrs	23.51 ± 13.454	21.28 ± 3.400	0.43
>50 yrs	21.76 ± 11.766	20.62 ± 3.866	0.04

Discussion

In our study, HbA1 cpositively correlated with MOCA scores. In a study by Roy et al., cognitive impairment was observed in 11.6% of the patients who had optimal glycemic control (HbA1c under 7%) and 30.2% with HbA1c 7% or above.⁵ Khullar et al. showed that subjects having glucose levels >125 mg/dl had 1.73 times higher risk of developing neurocognitive impairment.^[6,7] ACCORD-MIND trial done on 2977 type 2 diabetes subjects found a statistically significant age-adjusted association between HbA1c level and score on four cognitive tests.¹⁰ Both clock in a box and clock-drawing test have been shown to inversely correlate with HbA1c.¹¹ Hence, our results are consistent with existing literature that poor glycemic control in type 2 diabetes is associated with cognitive decline.

The diabetes control and complications trial in type 1 diabetes demonstrated that improved HbA1c was related to improved cognition in nonamnestic domains.¹² Luchsinger et al. showed that improving HbA1c levels in an elderly population over a period of 5 years was associated with slowing down of global

cognitive decline.¹³ Being a woman and longer duration of diabetes have been shown to be independent risk factors in previous studies.⁶ Our study did not find any difference between sex or any relation to duration of diabetes perhaps because of inadequate sample size. The MoCA is now accepted as an excellent tool for brief cognitive screening measure and is freely available with multiple editions in various languages. The original MoCA reported a sensitivity of 100% and specificity of 87% in detecting mild AD using a cutoff score of 26.9 Amnestic MCI (a MCI) is said to have a high likelihood of progressing to AD.¹⁰ Hence, the differences noted in the MOCA scoring in our study could be suggestive of risk for development of AD in the future.¹⁵ A study on the effectiveness of cognitive training program in people with MCI underlines the importance of early detection of MCI.¹⁶. In summary, our study shows a high prevalence of undetected MCI in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients attending an outpatient clinic setting. A strong negative correlation was noticed between all parameters of glycemic control and MOCA scores representative of cognitive function. These observations make a strong case for routine screening of type 2

References

diabetes mellitus patients to detect MCI with a sensitive tool such as MoCA. Studies on the benefits of improved glycemic control on cognitive function would need to be performed in the future to help us understand the significance of our finding in the long-term management of these patients.

Vitamin D and Oxidative Stress: When vitamin D status is adequate, many of the intracellular oxidative stress-related activities are downregulated. Having suboptimal concentrations of serum 25(OH) D fails to subdue oxidative stress conditions, augment intracellular oxidative damage and the rate of apoptosis. The intracellular Nrf2 level is inversely correlated with the accumulation of mitochondrial ROS 17 and the consequent escalation of oxidative stress. Thus, Nrf2 plays a key role in protecting cells against oxidative stress; this is modulated by vitamin D. In addition, vitamin D supports cellular oxidation and reduction (redox) control by maintaining normal mitochondrial functions²⁹⁻³¹. Loss in the redox control of the cell cycle may lead to aberrant cell proliferation, cell death, the development of neurodegenerative diseases, and accelerated aging³¹⁻³⁵. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-coactivator 1α (PGC- 1α) is bound to mitochondrial deacetylase (SIRT3). PGC-1a directly couples to the oxidative stress cycle ³¹ and interacts with Nrf2. This complex regulates the expression of SIRT3; this process is influenced by vitamin D metabolites³². Calcitriol has overarching beneficial effects in upregulating the expression of certain antioxidants and anti-inflammatory cytokines³³, thereby protecting the tissues from toxins, micronutrient deficiency-related abnormalities, and parasitic and intracellular microbe-induced harm ³⁴. It regulates ROS levels through its anti-inflammatory effects and mitochondrial-based expression of antioxidants through cell-signaling pathways ³⁴.In our study there was a positive correlation between vitamin D levels and MOCA scores. A positive correlation was also seen between HbA1c, MDA levels and MOCA scores.

Supplementation of vitamin D in Diabetic patients can prove to be beneficial in reducing oxidative stress, improving cognition as well as help control blood sugar levels.

Interests of Conflict: None

Funding: Self

- Contreras CM, Gutiérrez-García AG. Cognitive impairment in diabetes and poor glucose utilization in the intracellular neural milieu. Med Hypotheses 2017; 104:160-5
- Whitlow CT, Sink KM, Divers J, Smith SC, Xu J, Palmer ND, et al. Effects of type 2 diabetes on brain structure and cognitive function: African American-diabetes heart study MIND. Am J Neuroradiol 2015; 36:1648-53.
- Zilliox LA, Chadrasekaran K, Kwan JY, Russell JW. Diabetes and cognitive impairment. Curr Diab Rep 2016; 16:87.
- Velayudhan L, Ryu SH, Raczek M, Philpot M, Lindesay J, Critchfield M, et al. Review of brief cognitive tests for patients with suspected dementia. Int Psychogeriatr 2014; 26:1247-62.
- Roy S, Kim N, Desai A, Komaragiri M, Baxi N, Jassil N, et al. Cognitive function and control of type 2 diabetes mellitus in young adults. N Am J Med Sci 2015; 7:220-6.
- Khullar S, Kaur G, Dhillon H, Sharma R, Mehta K, Singh M, et al. The prevalence and predictors of cognitive impairment in type 2 diabetic population of Punjab, India. J Soc Health Diabetes 2017; 5:47-53.
- Solanki, R K., Dubey V, Munshi, D. Neurocognitive impairment and comorbid depression in patients of diabetes mellitus. Int J Diabetes Dev Ctries 2009; 29:133-8.
- Chen RH, Jiang XZ, Zhao XH, Qin YL, Gu Z, Gu PL, et al. Risk factors of mild cognitive impairment in middle aged patients with type 2 diabetes: A cross-section study. Ann Endocrinol (Paris) 2012; 73:208-12.
- Nasreddine ZS, Phillips NA, Bédirian V, Charbonneau S, Whitehead V, Collin I, et al. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: A brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. J Am Geriatr Soc 2005; 53:695-9.
- Cukierman-Yaffe T, Gerstein HC, Williamson JD, Lazar RM, Lovato L, Miller ME, et al. Relationship between baseline glycemic control and cognitive function in individuals with type 2 diabetes and other cardiovascular risk factors: The action to control cardiovascular risk in diabetes-memory in diabetes (ACCORD-MIND) trial. Diabetes Care 2009; 32:221-6.

58 International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03

- Sukontapol C, Kemsen S, Chansirikarn S, Nakawiro D, Kuha O, Taemeeyapradit U. The effectiveness of a cognitive training program in people with mild cognitive impairment: A study in urban community. Asian J Psychiatr 2018; 35:61-6.
- Holmes, S.; Abbassi, B.; Su, C.; Singh, M.; Cunningham, R.L. Oxidative stress defines the neuroprotective or neurotoxic properties of androgens in immortalized female rat dopaminergic neuronal cells. Endocrinology 2013; 154: 4281–92.
- Petersen, K.S.; Smith, C. Ageing-Associated Oxidative Stress and Inflammation Are Alleviated by Products from Grapes. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2016; 2016: 6236309.
- Nakai, K.; Fujii, H.; Kono, K.; Goto, S.; Kitazawa, R.; Kitazawa, S.; Hirata, M.; Shinohara, M.; Fukagawa, M.; Nishi, S. Vitamin D activates the Nrf2-Keap1 antioxidant pathway and ameliorates nephropathy in diabetic rats. Am. J. Hypertens. 2014; 27:586–95.
- Lewis, K.N.; Mele, J.; Hayes, J.D.; Buffenstein, R. Nrf2, a guardian of healthspan and gatekeeper of species longevity. Integr. Comp. Biol. 2010; 50: 829–43.
- Tullet, J.M.A.; Green, J.W.; Au, C.; Benedetto, A.; Thompson, M.A.; Clark, E.; Gilliat, A.F.; Young, A.; Schmeisser, K.; Gems, D.TheSKN-1/Nrf2 transcription factor can protect against oxidative stress and increase lifespan in C. elegans by distinct mechanisms. Aging Cell 2017; 16:1191–94.
- Forster, R.E.; Jurutka, P.W.; Hsieh, J.C.; Haussler, C.A.; Lowmiller, C.L.; Kaneko, I.; Haussler, M.R.; Kerr Whitfield, G. Vitamin D receptor controls expression of the anti-aging klotho gene in mouse and human renal cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2011; 414:557–62.
- Berridge, M.J. Vitamin D: A custodian of cell signalling stability in health and disease. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 2015; 43:349–358.
- Razzaque, M.S. FGF23, klotho and vitamin D interactions: What have we learned from in vivo mouse genetics studies? Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 2012; 728: 84–91.
- 20. Kuro-o, M. Klotho and aging. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2009; 1790:1049–58.
- 21. Tseng, A.H.; Shieh, S.S.; Wang, D.L. SIRT3 deacetylates FOXO3 to protect mitochondria against oxidative damage. Free Radic. Biol. Med.

2013; 63:222-34.

- 22. Wang, L.; Lewis, T.; Zhang, Y.L.; Khodier, C.; Magesh, S.; Chen, L.; Inoyama, D.; Chen, Y.; Zhen, J.; Hu, L.; etal. The identification and characterization of non-reactive inhibitor of Keap1-Nrf2 interaction through HTS using a fluorescence polarization assay. In Probe Reports from the NIH Molecular Libraries Program; National Center for Biotechnology Information (US): Bethesda, MD, USA, 2010.
- Berridge, M.J. Vitamin D deficiency: Infertility and neurodevelopmental diseases (attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, autism, and schizophrenia). Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 2018; 314:C135–151.
- Ryan, Z.C.; Craig, T.A.; Folmes, C.D.; Wang, X.; Lanza, I.R.; Schaible, N.S.; Salisbury, J.L.; Nair, K.S.; Terzic, A.; Sieck, G.C.; et al. 1alpha, 25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 Regulates Mitochondrial Oxygen Consumption and Dynamics in Human Skeletal Muscle Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 2016; 291:1514–28.
- Bouillon, R.; Verstuyf, A. Vitamin D, mitochondria, and muscle. J.Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 2013; 98:961–63.
- Sarsour, E.H.; Kumar, M.G.; Chaudhuri, L.; Kalen, A.L.; Goswami, P.C. Redox control of the cell cycle in health and disease. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 2009; 11:2985–11.
- Lin, M.T.; Beal, M.F. Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in neurodegenerative diseases. Nature 2006; 443:787–95.
- Berridge, M.J. Vitamin D cell signalling in health and disease. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2015; 460:53–71.
- Ureshino, R.P.; Rocha, K.K.; Lopes, G.S.; Bincoletto, C.; Smaili, S.S. Calcium signaling alterations, oxidative stress, and autophagy in aging. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 2014; 21:123–37.
- Chen, Y.; Zhang, J.; Lin, Y.; Lei, Q.; Guan, K.L.; Zhao, S.; Xiong, Y.Tumoursuppressor SIRT3deacetylates and activates manganese superoxide dismutase to scavenge ROS. EMBO Rep. 2011; 12:534–41.
- Song, C.; Fu, B.; Zhang, J.; Zhao, J.; Yuan, M.; Peng, W.; Zhang, Y.; Wu, H. Sodium fluoride induces nephrotoxicity via oxidative stressregulated mitochondrial SIRT3 signaling pathway. Sci. Rep. 2017; 7:72.

- 32. Wei, R.; Christakos, S. Mechanisms Underlyingthe Regulation of Innateand Adaptive Immunity by Vitamin D. Nutrients 2015; 7:8251–60.
- George, N.; Kumar, T.P.; Antony, S.; Jayanarayanan, S.; Paulose, C.S. Effect of vitamin D3 in reducing metabolic and oxidative stress in the liver of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Br. J. Nutr. 2012; 108:1410–18.
- 34. Shelton, R.C.; Claiborne, J.; Sidoryk-Wegrzynowicz, M.; Reddy, R.; Aschner, M.; Lewis, D.A.; Mirnics, K. Altered expression of genes involved in inflammation and apoptosis in frontal cortex in major depression. Mol. Psychiatry 2011; 16:751–62.

Comparison of Different Teaching Method in First Year Medical Students: Both Subjectively and Objectively

Dr Madhura V. Motagi¹, Chethan H.A.¹

¹Professor, Dept of Physiology, Subbaiah Institute of Medical Sciences

Abstract

Aim: Our study was to compare three different teaching method in first year medical students.

Objectives: To assess the outcome and perception of students towards teaching method.

Method: 150 students were divided randomly in to 3 different groups as group A (attended Lecture), group B (attended demonstration) group C [attended small group discussion (SGD)], topic was Introduction to BP. As a pretest all the groups had answered a set of structured 25 MCQs, after attending their respective teaching sessions, immediately post test I and after 1 month post-test II was conducted. For subjective assessment likert scale was used.

Statistical Analysis: Paired t test was used for comparison. "P"<0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

Results: There was a significant difference between pre-test and post-test I, pre-test and post-test II in all the groups (P<0.001). When we compared post-test I and II, group A and B showed the significant difference (P<0.05), as their performance in post-test II has reduced, but there was no significant difference showed by group C between post-test I and II, as their performance in post-test II has not reduced. Subjectively also Students preferred SGD as better teaching method.

Concussion: Looking at results, clearly states that the SGD is better compared to other two method, both subjectively and objectively.

Keywords: Lecture class, demonstration, small group discussion, MCQs.

Introduction

From the beginning didactic lectures are considered as the method of teaching for large group in medical students. It is challenging task to teachers to deliver the vast subject in a short time of lecture class about 40 to 50 minutes, and also to students where there is no interaction

Corresponding Author: Dr. Chethan H.A. Professor, Dept. of Physiology, Subbaiah Institute of Medical Sciences e-mail: drhachethan@rediffmail.com Ph. Number: 9844255627 and it promotes passive learning and fails to motivate the students. Since few decades many innovative modalities of learning are being implemented to make the learning process interesting like tutorials, seminars, case-based discussions, small group discussions¹. Traditional didactic lecture is more passive and less effective as a teaching tool compared with active learning method like problem-based learning. But, a well-organized lecture can be one of the most effective ways to integrate and present information from multiple sources on difficult topics. So, assistance is needed to enhance the quality of lecture in the form of audio-visual aid like power point teaching which has now become the most popular package of teaching method². Student motivation and performance improve when the instruction is adapted to student learning preferences and styles. According to the experience of the various authors, it was very difficult to retain the attention and interest of medical students in subjects, so there was introduction of problem based learning and small group discussion in addition to didactic lectures, and the students met this approach with enthusiasm. From this success, they began to consider ways to incorporate this technique into the traditional didactic lecture activities³. The emerging trend all over the world is to have a problem-based, integrated student-centred medical curriculum, demanding active participation from the students and facilitating selfdirected learning⁴. Based on the previous research studies students have preference for chalk and talk⁵, chalk and talk with PPT⁶, small group discussion^{1,7} and case based discussion³. So the aim of our study is to compare three different teaching modalities in first year medical students in Physiology (Lecture class, Demonstration and small group discussion (SGD)).

Material and Method

Study was conducted in first year medical students of Subbaiah Institute of Medical Sciences, Karnataka, India, after taking informed consent from all the volunteers.

A batch of 150 students were considered for study, in which we have divided them in to 3 groups randomly and equally including both girls and boys. Group A had 23 boys and 27 girls(total 50), group B had 24 boys and 26 girls(total 50), and Group C had 24 boys and 26 girls(total 50). The topic chosen was introduction to BP, with no prier intimation.

Group A attended lecture class, group B attended demonstration and Group C attended SGD. All the session were conducted by only one faculty and conducted in sequence one after the other(to avoid teacher bias and also time bias).

Objective Assessment: Around 25 MCQ's were prepared related to the topic and all students

had answered to those MCQ's before and after their respective sessions. The test before the session was named as pre-test and the test after the session was posttest I and one more post test was conducted after one month that was named as post- test II. Pre-test, post-test I and Post-test II marks were compared in all the groups after respective sessions of teaching.

All the 150 student were asked to come to lecture class at sharp 8 o' clock, then we divided student in 3 groups (as previously mentioned, and students were not aware of which topic is going to be taken and also what kind of teaching method they were involved).Group A stayed in lecture class and other two groups went to their respect practical hall and seminar hall(to avoid topic bias we told one group to read thyroid and other to read cortisol as we will come and discuss).

In Lecture class group A attended pre-test, 20 min lecture class on Introduction to BP and post-test, so this took around 30 min. Then same faculty took pre-test, practical demonstration of BP for 20 min and post-test for group B. the last group was C, where pre-test was conducted, then SGD on BP which took more time (as it was discussion, we had to divided 50 students in to 6 small groups, provided them textbooks and manuals to read about introduction to BP for about 30 mins and then we discussed) and post-test was conducted for group C. (session were conducted by same faculty, for conducting pre and post other faculty were involved).

Subject Assessment: To find out the students perception towards the different teaching method, five questionnaires were given to each group as a feedback form, which they filled along with the post tests. To evaluate five point likert scale was used.

Statistical Analysis: Statistical analysis was done using paired "t" test to compare the pre test,post-test I and II of group A, group B and group C. A "p" value of less than 0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

Results

	Mean.	N	Std. deviation.	t, value	P value
Grang A (Pre-test)	8.15	47	2.797		
Graup A (Post-test I)	17.38	47	2.533	-23.692	0.000+
Grange B (Pre-test)	7.02	44	2.565	-17.991	
Gtgup B (Post-test I)	15.84	44	2.658		0.000*
Gtgtip C (Pte-test)	6.72	46	2.697	-15.586	
Gtgup C (Post-test I)	15.35	46	3.695		0.000*

Table 1: Paired t test (pre-test and post-test I)

*=P yalue <0.05

Table 2: Paired t test (pre-test and post-test II)

	Mean.	Ν	Std. deviation.	t yalue	P value
Group A (Pre-test)	8.02	44	2.816	-13.169	
Group A (Post-test II)	14.18	44	2912		0.000*
Graup.B (Pre-test)	6.88	41	2.472	-14.647	
Group.B (Post-test II)	14.41	41	3.331		0.000*
Graup.C (Pre-test)	6.91	44	2.595	-16.885	
Gtgup C (Post-test II)	15.27	44	2.944		0.000*

*=P yalue <0.05

	Mean	N	Std. deviation t. value	P value
Group A (Post-test I)	17.36	44	2.598	
Group A (Post-test II)	14.18	44	2.912	0.000 *
Group B (Post-test I)	15.76	41	2.625	
Group B (Post-test II)	14.41	41	2.166 3.331	0.03.6*
Group C (Post-test I)	15.43	44	3.744	0.793
Group C (Post-test II)	15.27	44	2.944	0.785

Table 3: Paired t test (post-test I and post-test II)

*=P value <0.05

Table 4: Likert scale (Subjective assessment)

Lecture dass	Strongly	Demonstration	Strongly	Group discussion	Strongly
(47 students)	agree	(45 students)	agree	(45 students)	agree
Visualizing	18(38%)	Visualizing	36(80%)	Visualizing	19(42%)
concepts		concepts		concepts	
Sustaining	22(46%)	Sustaining	26(57%)	Sustaining interest	28(62%)
interest		interest			
Remembering	20(42%)	Remembering	19(42%)	Remembering	27(60%)
facts		facts		facts	
Understanding	22(46%)	Understanding	25(55%)	Understanding	33(73%)
better		better		better	
Applying	17(36%)	Applying	22(48%)	Applying	25(55%)
knowledge		knowledge		knowledge	

Discussion

Looking at our results all the groups have performed significantly better in post-test I compared to pretest (P=0.00) (Table 1) and also significant (P=0.00) difference is there between pre-test and post-test II in all the groups (Table 2). But looking at the Table 3 where we have compared between post-test I and post-test II in which students performance has reduced significantly (P<0.05) in post-test II in group A (who attended lecture) and group B (who attended demonstration) but post-test II performance is not reduced in group C (who attended discussion), this shows that small group discussion (SGD) is better way of teaching in which students can still remember the subject even after 1 month and performed well compared to other two teaching method. Our results were similar to the other studies ^{1,7}. In subjective assessment of our study, student strongly agreed that group discussion is much better than lecture class and demonstration type of teaching (table 4). So both objective and subjective assessments of our study showed group discussion is better way of teaching. There are studies who showed that small group discussion is better way of teaching in other subjects like in biochemistry⁸ and in microbiology⁹. The study carried out by¹⁰, where instead of using MCQs they used short answer questions (SAQs) and assessed their retention after 15 days of small group discussion, they found it as very effective way of method of teaching. Small group discussion was advantageous because it motivates students to involve in discussion actively and helps for retention and also students were able to express their ideas and then receive input from the group members¹, ⁹. Small group discussion favours participation of everyone, as students are more comfortable in small groups. They are made to prepare specific tasks for the group to answer to the solution. All students when they work in groups, it enhances their reasoning abilities as well¹¹. Some studies have even proved that integrated teaching is be more effective in improving the knowledge and attitude of students than traditional lecturing method, so integrated method of teaching needs to be implemented in the medical education curriculum for better understanding and best outcome¹². In our study we used demonstration as one more method of teaching, where students post-test II performance was reduced, may be OSPE as assessment is better method of assessing with regards to practical demonstration of teaching BP, but to avoid the bias of assessment we used same MCQs method in our study.

Teaching in Physiology is followed always through lectures, practical's and tutorials. According to the university curriculum physiology is taught with the help of lecture classes, as delivering of more information to large group of students, but it is passive method and also teachers centred as a teacher it is not only duty to deliver large information to students but make sure that students should understand the information and can use that skilfully once they enters the clinical departments. Now a days there are so many types of teaching method including integrated teaching which actually help students to correlate the subjects and help them once they enter the final year.

Limitations: To avoid the other biases like, students should not know in which type of teaching they are going to attend, we didn't give any prier intimation to the group which came for discussion, as they need more time to read, we gave them little less time once the session started. For demonstration method of teaching we would have used OSPE, but we didn't used because assessment bias would have arrived.

Conclusion

Our study indicates that small group discussion is better than the lecture class and demonstration type of teaching both subjectively and objectively. To teach Physiology small group discussion is better method, as most of the topics can be discussed but not all can be demonstrated and also retention is much better after small group discussion compared to other two method in our study.

Conflict of Interest: Nil

Source of Funding: Self

Ethical Clearance: Got from institutional ethical committee.

References

- Suhasini. P, Joshi, KP, Yamini D, Swaroopa Chary RS, Sarma D.V.H.S. Educational outcomes of small group discussion versus traditional lecture among first year undergraduate medical students. Journal of Education Technology in Health Sciences 2017;4(3):93-96.
- 2. Joshi KP, Robins M, Yanadi Reddy M. Perception and preferences of teaching and learning method in community medicine: a cross sectional study

Int J Community Med Public Health. 2018 Jul;5(7):2821-2824.

- Madhura M, Kannan N, Santosh P. Evaluation of different teachibg modalities for better understanding of subject in first year medical students. International Journal of Biomedical Research 2015; Vol 6(5)
- Vimal MH, Namrata AT, Purushottam AG Student's preferences for learning in medical education Int J Community Med Public Health. 2015 Aug; 2(3):328-330
- Vikas S, Prerna U, Mushtaq A, Virendra K. An assessment of teachers' preference for lecture delivery method in medical education Educational Research and Review 2010 Vol. 5 (9), pp. 533-537.
- 6. Rajani SN, Yogananda R, Rajesh P.Effective physiology teaching method: from the perspective of first year MBBS students Indian J Clin Anat Physiol. 2016; 3(3): 336–338.
- Joshi KP, Suhasini P, Robins M. Assessment of educational outcomes of small group discussion versus traditional lecture format among undergraduate medical students Int J Community Med Public Health. 2018 Jul; 5(7):2766-2769

- Chetana. PH. Effectiveness of Small Group Discussion Sessions in Teaching Biochemistry for Undergraduate Medical Students South East Asian Journal of Medical Education 2014;Vol 8(1):77-81
- Sudheendra K, Chandrakanth C Evaluation of Small Group Discussion as a Teaching Method in Microbiology for Second Year medical Students in Brims Bidar: A Pilot Study Int.J.Curr.Microbiol. App.Sci 2015; 4(9): 1001-1003
- Zachariah B, Bidhan KC, Sridhar MG, Nandeesha H, Renuka P, Sajita S, et al Formulation of Questions Followed by Small Group Discussion as a Revision Exercise at the End of a Teaching Module in Biochemistry Biochemistry and molecular biology education 2007;Vol 35(1):45–48
- Vijaya SD. Effect of integrated teaching versus conventional lecturing on MBBS phase I Students. Recent Research in Sciences and Technology. 2010;2(11):40-48
- Basanta KB, Narahari A, Kamalakanta S. Evaluation of impact of an integrated lecture method of teaching among undergraduate medical students, compared to traditional didactical lectures in reference to antenatal care Int J Adv Med. 2017; 4(3):640-644

Effect of Indian Classical Instrumental Music on Stress and Anxiety in Male Medical Students

Prashant Bhatnagar¹, Manju Lata Arya²

¹Ph.D. Scholar, Department of Physiology, Rama Medical College, Hospital & Research Center, Kanpur, Uttar Pradesh, ²Professor, Department of Physiology, Rama Medical College, Hospital & Research Center, Kanpur, Uttar Pradesh

Abstract

Introduction: Medical professionals, especially medical students face a lot of stress and anxiety due to various challenges at personal and professional levels. Stress and anxiety affect their health and well-being and causes mental disturbance. Blood pressure, heart rate, and other biochemical parameters show an abnormal rise due to stress and anxiety. Music therapy using Indian classical instrumental music can help relieve this stress and anxiety and bring the biochemical parameters to normal levels.

Aim: The purpose of the present study was to evaluate the immediate and short term effects of Indian classical instrumental music on stress and anxiety using both qualitative and quantitative measurements on male medical students.

Materials and Method: Fifty-six (56) healthy male medical students aged between 17-25 years were selected from Rajkiya Medical College, Jalaun (Uttar Pradesh), for a month-long music therapy which included listening to Indian classical instrumental music every day for thirty minutes. ADSS questionnaire, salivary cortisol, blood pressure, heart rate, and lipid profile other required parameters were recorded twice, once at baseline and another after one month of music therapy.

Results: Post music therapy values revealed a significant decrease in ADSS score anxiety $(4.36 \pm 1.39 \text{ v/s} 3.36 \pm 1.20 \text{ p} < 0.0001)$, depression $(3.14 \pm 1.70 \text{ v/s} 2.23 \pm 1.50, \text{ p} < 0.0001)$ Stress $(4.54\pm1.91 \text{ v/s} 3.39\pm1.77, \text{ p} < 0.0001)$ Salivary cortisol $(4.04\pm1.39 \text{ v/s} 3.33\pm1.35, \text{ p} < 0.0001)$. Further, a significant decrease was recorded in systolic blood pressure $(122.53 \pm 5.24 \text{ v/s} 120.86 \pm 2.50, \text{ p} 0.0005)$ diastolic Blood Pressure $(82.75 \pm 5.36 \text{ v/s} 80.82\pm1.74, \text{ p} = 0.0045)$ and heart rate $(73.43\pm3.09 \text{ v/s} 71.99\pm1.15, \text{ p} < 0.0001)$.

Conclusion: The findings of the present study showed that listening to Indian classical instrumental music notably reduces salivary cortisol, blood pressure, heart rate, respiration rate, blood glucose, and lipid profile, and helps to relieve stress and anxiety in male medical students. However, further studies on a larger population are required to make a general policy to facilitate the better mental health of medical students.

Keywords: Stress, anxiety, young male medical students, music therapy.

Introduction

Stress is an excessive and acute fear and worry about

Corresponding Author:

Prashant Bhatnagar

Assistant Professor, Department of Physiology, Rajkiya Medical College, Jalaun, Orai, Uttar Pradesh e-mail: prashantbhatnagar06@gmail.com Phone Number: 8881309383 anything. Anxiety occurs in response to stress.⁽¹⁾ When a body suffers stress, it responds to it through physical, physiological or mental adaptation.⁽²⁾ Many chronic and acute diseases are triggered by stress. It is also seen that stress acts as a cause for many cardiovascular diseases, and sometimes gives rise to fatal diseases like cancer. ⁽³⁻⁵⁾ In response to stress and anxiety in human body, the level of blood pressure⁽⁶⁾, heart rate⁽⁷⁾, respiration rate⁽⁸⁾, Salivary cortisol (9), blood sugar⁽¹⁰⁾ and lipid profile⁽¹¹⁾ increase. In medical students, stress level is higher as compared to students of other profession because of the medical field, and this stress level keep on increasing throughout the course in medical college.^(12,13) A number of stressors have been found to affect the well-being of medical students and they often result in psychological morbidities like depression and anxiety.⁽¹⁴⁾ In a self-executed, questionnaire-based study, it was found that 39.1% medical students were distressed, 15.6% were suffering from anxiety, and around 12% were found to be depressed.⁽¹⁵⁾

Music helps in lowering anxiety and elevating mood. It also affects various physiological and biochemical factors such as blood pressure, pulse rate, respiration rate, lipids profile and blood sugar levels. ⁽¹⁶⁾ Indian classical instrumental music has been found to relieve stress in gastroscopy patients. ⁽¹⁷⁾ Indian *raga* improves attention and concentration in college students. ⁽¹⁸⁾

However, the effects of Indian classical instrumental music on stress and anxiety of male medical students are still unclear, hence the present study was conducted to assess the effect of Indian classical music on stress and anxiety in male medical students.

Material and Method

Participants: The current interventional type of study included fifty-six (56) male medical students from Rajkiya Medical College, Jalaun (UP). This study took place in the Department of Physiology. The inclusion criteria included a healthy first-year M.B.B.S. male students aged between 17-25 years. Students who were diagnosed with any medical disorders; undergoing medical treatment; having a dislike for music and preferred not to listen to it; suffering from severe anxiety and major depressive disorder; undergoing any Complimentary and Alternative Medicine (CAM's) were excluded from the study.

Pre and post music therapy the following parameters-ADSS questionnaire, salivary cortisol, blood pressure, heart rate, respiration rate, fasting blood sugar and lipid profile, were recorded. All the participants were made aware in detail about the objectives of the study. Informed written consent was taken from all the subjects that ensured that the participants could make an informed, voluntary and rational decision to participate. A demographic questionnaire was filled by them to gather information about their age, weight, and height. Psychological health, i.e., the overall level of stress and anxiety in the subjects was measured by using responses to self-reported measures through the ADSS test questionnaire.⁽¹⁹⁾

Measurements: All of the physiological and biological parameters were recorded and calculated. These parameters were taken before noon. For salivary cortisol, the circadian fluctuations of hormone levels are pronounced in the morning hours and flatten throughout the day.^(20,21)

Music Intervention: Music therapy was started for all the students after recording pre-music therapy parameters. All the subjects were asked to come at 7:30 $am^{(22)}$ sharp in a hall with a capacity of 60 to 70 persons. The hall was properly ventilated and isolated from noisy gathering places and distracting sounds, to provide easy access to all the subjects. Once settled on respective chairs from 7:30 am to 7:40 am, participants were asked to relax and make themselves comfortable. After 10 minutes, i.e., at 7:50 am, the Indian classical instrumental music (Raga *Desi-Todi* played on a flute by a renowned Indian musician, Pt. Hari Prasad Chaurasia)⁽²³⁾ was played by the attendants for the next 30 minutes^(23,24) at 50 to 60 DB.⁽²⁵⁾ All the subjects were advised to keep their eyes closed during music therapy.⁽²⁵⁾

Half an hour later, at 8:20 am, the music was stopped and the candidates were allowed to leave the room. This therapy took place in the same manner for a month.⁽²³⁾ On the fifteenth and the thirtieth day of music therapy, all the candidates were asked feedback about how they felt during the therapy. Students were free to contact for guidance if they had some queries or felt uneasy.

Parameters: Cortisol: For the analysis of cortisol, saliva was collected using small cotton swabs. Participants were given cotton roll to gently chew for 1 minute. After one minute, the stimulated saliva sample was collected by taking the chewed cotton roll and placing it into a small plastic tube. Saliva was analyzed by cortisol ELISA kit by BioVision, and this was conducted between 12:00 to 17:00 hours, to minimize the confounding effect of the hormonal diurnal rhythm.⁽²⁶⁾

Blood pressure: Blood pressure was measured by the auscultatory method using a Sphygmomanometer.⁽²⁷⁾

Heart Rate: Heart rate was recorded from the radial pulse.⁽²⁸⁾

Respiration Rate: In the resting condition, the

68 International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03

respiration rate was calculated by counting the number of chest-rise per minute.^(29,30)

Glucose level: It was estimated by the fasting method by the GOD-POD method.⁽³⁰⁾

Lipid Profile: Lipid profile in the serum sample was measured by serum concentrations of the following parameters:

The serum concentration of total cholesterol was estimated by the enzymatic CHOD-POD method.⁽³⁰⁾

The serum concentration of triglycerides was calculated by the GPO-PAP method.⁽³⁰⁾

The serum concentration of high-density lipoprotein was measured by CHOD-POD/Phosphotungstate method.⁽³⁰⁾

The serum concentration of low-density lipoprotein was evaluated by using Friedewald's formula: LDL cholesterol = total cholesterol - HDL cholesterol -[triglycerides/5].⁽³¹⁾

Statistical Analysis: Outcomes were expressed as Mean \pm SD (standard deviation of the mean). The statistical data were analyzed and compiled using SPSS 21st version software manufactured by IBM USA. To compare values obtained before and after the musical intervention, the student's paired t-test was applied. A p-value<0.05 was considered significant.

Results

Results of the present study included data of various parameters in all the participants before and after music intervention. For all given parameters, degree of freedom: 55, 95% confidence interval was considered.

Table 1: ADSS scores pre music therapy and post music therapy.

	Pre Music Therapy	Post Music Therapy	p-value
Anxiety (0-9)	4.36±1.39	3.36±1.20	< 0.0001**
Depression (0-9)	3.14±1.70	2.23±1.50	< 0.0001**
Stress (0-9)	4.54±1.91	3.39±1.77	< 0.0001**

Values expressed as Mean+/-SD. **highly significant.

The level of anxiety, depression, and stress ranges from 0-9. Above 9, the condition is severe.

Table 1 suggests that mean ADSS score for anxiety $(4.36 \pm 1.39 \text{ v/s} 3.36 \pm 1.20)$, p<0.0001 depression $(3.14 \pm 1.70 \text{ v/s} 2.23 \pm 1.50)$, p<0.00001 and stress $(4.54\pm 1.91 \text{ v/s} 3.39\pm 1.77)$, p<0.0001 was significantly decreased in male medical students after participating in music therapy for one month.





Figure 1. Mean difference in salivary cortisol pre music therapy and post music therapy.
It is evident from Figure 1 that the baseline values of salivary cortisol significantly depleted from 4.04 ± 1.39 nmol/L to 3.33 ± 1.35 nmol/L (p<0.0001) in male medical students post music therapy a month later.

Parameter	Pre Music Therapy	Post Music Therapy	p-value
SBP(mmHg)	122.53±5.24	120.86±2.50	0.0005^{**}
DBP(mmHg)	82.75±5.36	80.82±1.74	0.0045**

 Table 2: Blood pressure pre music therapy and post music therapy

Values expressed as Mean+/-SD. SBP= systolic blood pressure, DBP= diastolic blood pressure, ** highly significant

Further, A significant decrease in systolic blood pressure from 122.54 ± 5.24 mmHg to 120.86 ± 2.50 mmHg (p=0.0005) and diastolic blood pressure from

 82.75 ± 5.36 mmHg to 80.82 ± 1.74 mmHg (p=0.0045) was recorded after one month musical therapy. (Table 2).

Table 3: Heart rate, respiration rate and fasting blood sugar pre music and post music therapy

Parameter	Pre Music Therapy	Post Music Therapy	p-value
HR(beats/min)	73.43±3.09	71.98±1.15	< 0.0001**
RR(/min)	14.46±1.94	12.64±0.94	< 0.0001**
FBS(mg/dL)	91.61±10.35	87.32±8.69	< 0.0001**

Values expressed as Mean+/-SD. **highly significant. HR=heart rate, RR=respiration rate, FBS= fasting blood sugar

Table 3 shows a significant reduction in heart rate, respiration rate and fasting blood sugar post music therapy. There was a significant decrease of 1.45 ± 1.94 beats/min, (p<0.0001), 1.82 ± 1.00 /min, (p<0.0001) and

 4.29 ± 2.66 mg/dL, (p<0.0001) in heart rate, respiration rate and fasting blood sugar respectively in male medical students after month-long music therapy.

Parameter	Pre Music Therapy	Post Music Therapy	p-value
TC(mg/dL)	199.33±33.54	198.98±33.42	< 0.0001**
TG(mg/dL)	115.44±24.49	114.16±24.91	< 0.05*
HDL(mg/dL)	45.96±6.43	46.66±6.50	<0.0001**
LDL(mg/dL)	128.88±30.09	128.53±30.04	< 0.0001**

 Table 4: Lipid profile pre music therapy and post music therapy.

Values expressed as Mean+/-SD. *significant ** highly significant. TC=total cholesterol, TG=triglycerides, HDL= high-density lipoprotein, LDL=low-density lipoprotein.

Further, a significant decrease of TC (p<0.0001), TG (p<0.0001) and LDL (p<0.0001) was observed in all the participants after following one month music therapy. On the other hand, a significant increase of 0.69 ± 0.1 mg/dL with a p-value <0.0001 was recorded in post HDL value compare to pre HDL value. A decrease in TG with a p-value of 0.05 was recorded.(Table 4)

Discussion

Stress is a general response of the body to any mental or physical pressure on it.^(32,33) Stress is a condition or a feeling that one experiences upon the realization that the expectations from him/her overshadow the social as well as personal potentiality and resources the individual can put forth."⁽³⁴⁾ Anxiety, on the other hand, acts as a response to stress both in moderation and in excess. In moderation, stimulates an anticipatory and adaptive response; and if it exceeds, it will destabilize and dysfunction the individual.^(35,36) Although anxiety is as familiar and probably as devitalizing as depression, ⁽³⁷⁾ it has managed to achieve less recognition and is often unseen and undertreated in the general population. ⁽³⁸⁾

Indian medical students suffer more stress and anxiety than other professionals. ^(39, 40) This is also because the Indian medical education system is slightly different from other regions, especially because of its selection process. ⁽⁴¹⁾ Moreover, the influence of one's family in deciding the career in the medical field too plays a role in growing stress, anxiety and depression in Indian medical students.^(39, 42) Furthermore, Indian medical students rarely seek professional help, mostly because of embarrassment and taboo concerning mental health.⁽⁴³⁾

The present study recorded a significant decrease in the ADSS score of anxiety, depression, and stress in male medical students after following one month of music therapy. The results of the current study were very similar to the findings of the previous study of Prakash K et al. ⁽⁴⁴⁾ as they revealed that the music therapy made the subjects feel less stressed and anxious. These significant changes of ADSS score in all three parameters seem to be due to one-month music therapy as a prior study suggests that listening to the music may have increased the HPA axis activation and assisted the faster recovery of the ANS, which further reduced stress and anxiety in the subjects. ⁽¹⁶⁾

Further, a significant decrease in salivary cortisol was observed in the present study. These findings are very similar to the earlier studies of YC Hou et al ⁽⁴⁵⁾ and Shaji John et al. ⁽⁴⁶⁾ YC Hou et al ⁽⁴⁵⁾ recorded that providing music during hemodialysis is an effective complementary therapy to relieve the frequency and severity of adverse reactions, as well as to lower salivary cortisol levels. Besides, Shaji John et al ⁽⁴⁶⁾ found that there was a significant decrease in salivary cortisol levels in participants after music training.

This decrease in salivary cortisol secretion as recorded in our study may be due to reduced secretion of ACTH from the pituitary or decreased secretion of cortisol from the adrenal glands due to a reduction in stress and anxiety. ⁽⁴⁷⁾ It has been suggested in studies

that salivary cortisol is one of the reliable physiological markers of stress which is decreased by music via inducing the activity of HPA-Axis.^(16,47)

Stress is seen as the main threat of health mentally as well as physically. ⁽⁴⁸⁾ The decrease in stress can reduce this threat and facilitate better well-being of the human body and mental health. ⁽⁴⁹⁾ This decrease of stress observed in our study might be helpful to facilitate an improved mental state of mind in male medical students as a low level of stress has been found associated with better use of the mental ability. ⁽⁵⁰⁾ As a response to stress, the endocrine system begins to release cortisol. Therefore a decrease in salivary cortisol marks the decrease in stress and anxiety. ⁽⁵¹⁾

Our study recorded a significant decrease in blood pressure after following one month of music therapy. Similar results were shown in a study conducted by Wendy E. K. and Nikki S. (52) Wendy E. L and Nikki S observed that the exposure to music prevented the stressinduced increases in physiological parameters such as subjective anxiety, heart rate and systolic blood pressure in both male and female subjects. This decrease in blood pressure as observed in the present study might be due to music listening evoke some relaxation response which in turn helps in decreasing the blood pressure. (53) Another possible mechanism of action could be that music intervention resulted in heightened brain dopamine levels via a calmodulin-dependent system. This rise in dopamine levels restrained sympathetic activity via dopamine-2 receptors which in turn reduced blood pressure. ⁽⁵⁴⁾ Besides, it was observed that the heart rate changed to normal post music therapy for a month. This may be due to the reason that classical music tends to relax the body and stimulate the parasympathetic nervous system, thereby changing the abnormal heart rate to normal. (55) It was also perceived that listening to music for a month regulated the respiration rate. Siritunga et al found a similar result in their study. (56) Music acts on the central and autonomic nervous system and the endocrine system sympathetic activity with concurrent activation of parasympathetic drive and a reduction in the stresshormone release, hence regulating the respiration rate. ⁽⁵⁶⁾ Also, fasting blood sugar levels were seen to improve post music therapy. Madhuri Sharma et al⁽⁵⁷⁾ found related derivation in their previous study. Classical music, a refined sound, stimulates the cell activity in the pancreas and normalizes the blood sugar release, hence reducing the increased blood glucose levels. ⁽⁵⁸⁾

A reduction in triglyceride, LDL with an increase in HDL concluded that music therapy lowers blood lipid levels. This finding was consistent with the results of the previous study conducted by Madhuri Sharma et al. ⁽⁵⁷⁾ However, the reasons for such an effect of classical music on the lipid profile is unknown.

Conclusion

Findings of the present study suggest that salivary cortisol, anxiety, depression and stress level were significantly decreased in male medical students after following music therapy with Indian classical instrumental music (*raga*) for a month. Moreover, a significant decrease in blood pressure, heart rate and fasting blood sugar levels were recorded after music therapy. Therefore, we strongly suggest music therapy for medical students suffering from stress and anxiety to decrease the stress level and enhancing mental health. However, further studies on a larger population are required to make a general policy to facilitate the better mental health of medical students.

Acknowledgement: We are grateful to the Head of Department of Physiology, Rajkiya Medical College, Jalaun, Orai, for the support to the study. We are also thankful to the staff and the subjects for their cooperation.

Conflict of Interest: We certify that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Clearance: The Ethical clearance was taken from the ethical committee of Rama Medical College, Hospital & Research Center, Kanpur, Uttar Pradesh

Source of Funding: No funds were required in this study.

References

- Trivedi JK, Gupta PK. An overview of Indian research in anxiety disorders. Indian J Psychiatry. 2010;52(Suppl 1): S210–S218.
- Mannapur B, Dorle AS, Hiremath LD, Ghattargi CH, Ramadurg U, Kulkarni KR. A study of psychological stress in undergraduate medical students at S N Medical College, Bagalkot, Karnataka. Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research. 2010;4:2869-2874.
- 3. Cohen S, Schwartz JE, Epel E, Kirschbaum C, Sidney S, Seeman T. Socioeconomic Status, Race, and Diurnal Cortisol Decline in the Coronary Artery

Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) Study. Psychosomatic Medicine; 2006;68(1):41-50.

- O'Keefe JH, Poston WS, Haddock CK, Moe RM, Harris W. Psychosocial stress and cardiovascular disease: how to heal a broken heart. Comprehensive Therapy; 2004;30(1):37-43.
- Reiche EV, Morimoto HK, Nunes SV. Stress and depression-induced immune dysfunction: Implications for the development and progression of cancer. International Review of Psychiatry; 2005;17(6):515-527.
- Linden W, Moseley JV. The efficacy of behavioral treatments for hypertension. Appl Psychophysiol Biofeedback; 2006;31:51-63.
- Torpy JM, Burke AE, Glass RM. Acute Emotional Stress and the Heart. Journal of the American Medical Association; 2007;298(3):360.
- Suess W, Alexander A, Smith D, Sweeney H, Marion R. The Effects of Psychological Stress on Respiration: A Preliminary Study of Anxiety and Hyperventilation. Psychophysiology; 2007;17:535 - 540.
- 9. Takai N, Yamaguchi M, Aragaki T, Eto K, Uchihashi K, Nishikawa Y.. Effect of psychological stress on the salivary cortisol and amylase levels in healthy young adults. Arch Oral Bioll; 2004;49:963–8.
- Jena SK, Misra A, Mohanty A. Effect of examination stress on blood sugar in medical students. CHRISMED Journal of Health and Research; 2016;3:268-272.
- 11. Assadi SN. What are the effects of psychological stress and physical work on blood lipid profiles? Medicine;2017;96:549 64.
- Ghosal K, Behera A. Study on the prevalence of stress in medical students, J Res Med Dent Sci; 2018;6(5):182-18
- Compton MT, Carrera J, Frank E. Stress and depressive symptoms/dysphoria among US medical students: results from a large, nationally representative survey. J Nerv Ment Dis; 2008;196:891–897.
- Hill MR, Goicochea S, Merlo LJ. In their own words: stressors facing medical students in the millennial generation. Medical Education Online; 2018;23:443 - 10.
- 15. Bhattacharya S, Chakrabarty D, Bhattacharya

72 International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03 DK, Chowdhury A. Predictors of Stress, Anxiety, 2

and Depression among Undergraduate Medical Students: A Scenario in a Medical College of Kolkata, IOSR Journal of Dental and Medical Sciences; 2017;16:10-12.

- Thoma MV, la Marca R, Brönnimann R, Finkel L, Ehlert U, Nater UM. The effect of music on the human stress response. PLoS ONE;2013;8(8):Article e70156.
- Kotwal MR, Rinchhen CZ, Ringe VV. Stress reduction through listening to Indian classical music during gastroscopy. Diagn Ther Endosc; 1998;4(4):191–197.
- Nagarajan K, Srinivasan TM, Ramarao NH. The immediate effect of listening to Indian raga on attention and concentration in healthy college students: A comparative study. J Health Res Rev 2015;2:103-7.
- Singh M, Bhatnagar P. Anxiety Depression Stress Scale (ADSS): A Factor Analytic Study. International Journal of Indian Psychology; 2016;3 (2).
- Edwards S, Clow A, Evans A, Hucklebridge F. Exploration of the awakening cortisol response concerning diurnal cortisol secretory activity. Life Sci; 2001;68:2093-2103.
- Nater UM, Rohleder N, Schlotz W, Ehlert U, Kirschbaum C. Determinants of the diurnal course of salivary alpha-amylase. Psycho neuroendocrinology; 2007;32:392-401.
- 22. Sarkar J, Biswas U. Indian classical ragas to cure diseases. International Journal of Advanced Science and Research; January 2015;1(1):09-13.
- 23. Gupta U, Gupta BS. Psychophysiological responsivity to Indian Instrumental music. Psychology of Music; 2005;33(4):363-372
- Kreutz G, Bongard S, Rihrmann S, Hodapp V, Grebe D. Effects of Choir Singing or Listening on Secretory Immunoglobulin A, Cortisol, and Emotional State. Journal of Behavioral Medicine. December 2004, 27 (6), pp 623–635
- 25. Kumar P, Clerk M. Clinical medicine: A textbook for medical students and doctors. 4th Edition, W.B.aunders, Edinburgh;2001.
- 26. Pritchard BT, Stanton W, Lord R, Petocz P, Pepping GJ. Factors Affecting Measurement of Salivary Cortisol and Secretory Immunoglobulin A in Field Studies of Athletes. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne).

2017;8:168. Published 2017 Jul 24.

- Ogedegbe G, Pickering T. Principles and techniques of blood pressure measurement. Cardiol Clin. 2010 Nov; 28(4):571-86.
- 28. Pickering D. How to measure the pulse. Community Eye Health. 2013;26(82):37.
- 29. Michel S. Hutchison's clinical method. 20th Edition, Saunders Company, London;1995.
- Kumar A, Sharma AK, Mittal S, Kumar G. The Relationship Between Body Mass Index and Bone Mineral Density in Premenopausal and Postmenopausal North Indian Women. J Obstet Gynaecol India. 2016;66(1):52–56.
- 31. Validation of the Friedewald Formula in Patients with Metabolic Syndrome;2014;261878:5 pages,
- 32. Selye, H. A syndrome produced by diverse nocuous agents. Nature; 1936;138:32.
- Journal of Extension: a personal message from Hans Selye; May/June 1980.
- 34. Lazarus RS, Folkman S. Stress, Appraisal, and Coping. New York: Springer;1984.
- Trivedi JK, Gupta PK. An overview of Indian research in anxiety disorders. Indian J Psychiatry. 2010;52(Suppl 1):210–218.
- 36. Babu RD, Nirmala C, Shashikala V; A Study To Assess the Prevalence of Depressive And Anxiety Symptoms Among Higher Secondary Students. IOSR Journal of Dental and Medical Sciences (IOSR-JDMS);Aug. 2017;16(8):49-57.
- 37. Weiller E, Bisserbe JC, Maier W, Lecrubier Y. Prevalence and recognition of anxiety syndromes in five European primary care settings. A report from the WHO study on Psychological Problems in General Health Care. Br. J. Psychiatry Suppl. 1998;34:18–23.
- Kroenke K., Spitzer R.L., Williams J.B., Monahan P.O., Lowe B. Anxiety disorders in primary care: Prevalence, impairment, comorbidity, and detection. Ann. Intern. Med. 2007;146:317–325.
- 39. Sarkar S, Gupta R, Menon V. A systematic review of depression, anxiety, and stress among medical students in India. J Mental Health Hum Behav 2017;22:88-96.
- 40. Taneja N, Sachdeva S, Dwivedi N. Assessment of depression, anxiety, and stress among medical students enrolled in a medical college of New Delhi, India. Indian J Soc Psychiatry 2018;34:157-

62.

- Jayakrishnan T, Honhar M, Jolly GP, Abraham J, T J. Medical education in India: Time to make some changes. Natl Med J India 2012;25:164-7.
- 42. Pruthi S, Pandey R, Singh S, Aggarwal A, Ramavat A, Goel A, et al. Why does an undergraduate student choose medicine as a career. Natl Med J India 2013;26:147-9.
- Barriers to healthcare seeking among medical students: A cross-sectional study from South India. Menon V, Sarkar S, Kumar S. Postgrad Med J. 2015;91:477–482.
- Kamli P, Saini S, Effectiveness of yoga on anxiety, depression and stress level of breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy, International Journal of Research in Medical Sciences; Int J Res Med Sci. 2018 Jan;6(1):74-81.
- 45. Hou YC, Lin YJ, Lu KC, Chiang HS, Chang CC, Yang LK. Music therapy-induced changes in salivary cortisol levels are predictive of cardiovascular mortality in patients under maintenance hemodialysis. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2017;13:263–272.
- 46. Kachanathu S, Verma S, Khanna G. The effect of music therapy on salivary cortisol as a reliable marker for pre-competition stress in shooting performance. Journal of Exercise Science & Physiotherapy;2010;4:16-23.
- 47. David A. Wilson, Clinical Veterinary Advisor, W.B. Saunders 2012, Pages 922-923,
- Kinman G, Jones F. Lay representations of workplace stress: What do people really mean when they say they are stressed? Work and Stress. 2005; 19(2): 84-102.
- Shahsavarani, A., Azad Marz Abadi, E., Hakimi Kalkhoran, M. Stress: Facts and Theories through Literature Review. International Journal of Medical Reviews, 2015; 2(2): 230-241.

- Schneiderman N, Ironson G, Siegel SD. Stress and health: psychological, behavioral, and biological determinants. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. 2005;1:607– 628.
- Tsigos C, Kyrou I, Kassi E, Chrousos GP. Stress, Endocrine Physiology and Pathophysiology. In: Endotext. MDText.com, Inc., South Dartmouth (MA); 2000.
- 52. Knight WE, Rickard NS. Relaxing music prevents stress-induced increases in subjective anxiety, systolic blood pressure, and heart rate in healthy males and females. Journal of Music Therapy; 2001;38(4):254 - 272.
- Kühlmann AYR, Etnel JRG, Roos-Hesselink JW et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis of music interventions in hypertension treatment: a quest for answers. BMC Cardiovasc Disord; 2016;16:69.
- Sutoo D, Akiyama K. Music improves dopaminergic neurotransmission: demonstration based on the effect of music on blood pressure regulation. Brain Res. 2004;1016(2):255–62.
- Chuang CY, Han WR, Li PC, Song MY, Young ST. Effect of Long-Term Music Therapy Intervention on Autonomic Function in Anthracycline-Treated Breast Cancer Patients. Integrat Cancer Ther. 2011;10(4):312–6.
- 56. Siritunga S, Wijewardena K, Ekanayaka R, Mudunkotuwa P. Effect of music on blood pressure, pulse rate and respiratory rate of asymptomatic individuals: A randomized controlled trial. Health.2013;05:59-64.
- 57. Sharma M, Rajnee D, Mathur K. Effects Of Music Therapy On Clinical And Biochemical Parameters Of Metabolic Syndrome. Journal of Bangladesh Society of Physiologist; 2011 December;6(2):108-115.
- 58. Edward P, Music for Your Health. New York: Bernard Ackerman, Inc.1945;26–27.

Correlation of Changes of Blood Pressure and Intra Ocular Pressure After Isometric Handgrip Exercise Test in Young Adults

Priya C. Rao¹, Chethan H.A.²

¹Associate Professor, ²Professor, Subbaiah Institute of Medical Sciences, Purale, Shimoga–577222

Abstract

Objective: To correlate the blood pressure changes to intraocular pressure before and after Handgrip exercise

Method: Healthy young male adults in the age group of 18-22 years were selected among general population. Sample size was 40. Heart rate and intra ocular pressure (IOP) were recorded at rest and after isometric Handgrip test

Results: Handgrip predictably raised Systolic blood pressure has increased significantly from resting of 113.40 ± 5.75 to 133.50 ± 4.29 (p<0.001) immediately after Handgrip exercise SBP has returned back to resting level within 10 min after exercise.

Diastolic blood pressure has increased from significantly from resting of 72.45 ± 4.37 to 89.95 ± 3.28 p<0.001) immediately after Handgrip IOP has returned back to baseline level within 10 min after exercise (p-0.001-sig).

Right eye IOP has decreased significantly from resting 16.27 ± 1.54 to 13.34 ± 1.32 (p<0.001) after handgrip exercise.

Left eye IOP has decreased significantly from resting 16.28 ± 1.55 to 13.04 ± 1.19 (p<0.001)immediately after handgrip exercise;p<0.05).

Blood Pressure is significantly and negatively correlated with IOP (Pearson's correlation coefficient, r = -0.352).

Conclusion: Isometric Handgrip exercise induces raise in blood pressure and simultaneously lowers IOP which were significant. Hence may prove useful in normotensive glaucomatous patients

Keywords: Blood Pressure, Intraocular pressure, Handgrip dynamometer

Introduction

Glaucoma is chronic progressive optic neuropathy caused by a group of ocular conditions which lead to damage to optic nerve with loss of visual function. Most

Corresponding Author: Dr. Chethan H.A. Professor, Subbaiah Institute of Medical Sciences, Purale, Shimoga–577222 common risk factor is raised intraocular pressure^(1,4,5). Relationship between isokinetic exercise & IOP showed significant lowering of IOP after exercise.^(2,3)

Aims and objective: To correlate the blood pressure changes to intraocular pressure before and after Handgrip exercise.

Materials and Method

Fourty healthy young male adults in the age group of 18-22 years with BMI of 18-22.9kg/m² were

selected from general population. Blood pressure and IOP were recorded at rest and after isometric Handgrip test. Subjects with pre-existing refractive error, acute and chronic conjunctivitis, glaucoma, migraine were excluded from study.⁽⁷⁾

Materials:

- Schiotz tonometer
- Handgrip dynamometer
- Sphygmomanometer.

Parameters:

- Study was carried out in physiology department
- Intraocular pressure in mm hg in supine position using standard steps.
- Weight in kilogram. & height in meters were measured. BMI=Weight in kg/height in meter² was calculated to group them as normal weight.
- Systolic and Diastolic blood pressure.
- Maximum voluntary contractions(MVC) was assessed and subjects were asked to carry out endurance isometric exercise at 40% of their MVC

Study Method:

It is a Cross sectional study.

Ethical clearance was obtained from institutional ethical committee. Prior to the procedure written and informed consent was obtained from all the subjects.

Inclusion Criteria:

- Young healthy adults males in the age group of 18-22yrs
- Non obese BMI 18 22.9 kg/m2.
- Normotensive < 130/80mm Hg.
- Non smoker
- Non alcoholic
- Euglycemic

Exclusion Criteria:

- Pre-existing refractive errors.
- Contact lens wearers.
- Glaucoma.
- H/o Migraine.

- H/o Conjunctivitis acute or chronic.
- Any systemic illness affecting IOP.

The exercise was performed in a well-ventilated room. Participants were instructed not to consume beverages nor a heavy meal in previous 4hours or participate in any vigorous activities 24 hour before test.

Isometric endurance contraction at 40% of the individuals MVC was executed with Handgrip dynamometer.

In order to minimize the bias of diurnal variations of IOP and other parameters, the studies were conducted between 3pm to 4pm.

At the reporting time subjects were asked to relax in supine position for 5min. Baseline IOP was recorded. Subjects executed MVC contractions of 1 second duration at 1 minute interval for 3 times. Maximum of these is considered as their MVC .Then endurance contraction at 40% of their MVC is made. Intraocular pressure and Blood pressure were measured in supine position immediately (within 30 sec), at five, at ten, at fifteen minutes after exercise.

Statistical Analysis: Mean and Standard deviation was calculated for isometric Handgrip exercise test in young adults. Paired t-test was applied at 5% level to test the significance of changes in above parameters(Using Epi-Info) Microsoft Excel and EPI-INFO package were used for data entry and statistical analyses respectively.

Correlation was calculated using Pearson's correlation test.

Result

Right eye IOP has decreased significantly from resting 16.27 ± 1.54 to 13.34 ± 1.32 (p<0.001) immediately after handgrip exercise IOP has returned back to baseline level within 15 min after exercise.

Left eye IOP has decreased significantly from resting 16.28 ± 1.55 to 13.04 ± 1.19 (p<0.001)immediately after handgrip exercise IOP has returned back to resting level within 15 min after exercise.

Systolic blood pressure has increased significantly from resting of 113.40 ± 5.75 to 133.50 ± 4.29 (p<0.001) immediately after handgrip exercise SBP has returned back to resting level within 10 min after exercise.

76 International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03

Diastolic blood pressure has increased from significantly from resting of 72.45 ± 4.37 to 89.95 ± 3.28 p<0.001)immediately after handgrip IOP has returned

back to baseline level within 10 min after exercise (p-0.001-sig).

	Duration	Hand Grip	P Value
	Resting	16.27±1.54	>0.05
	1 min exercise	13.34±1.32	<0.001*
Right eye IOP	5 min postexercise	14.61±1.36	<0.001*
	10 mipostexercise	16.03 ± 1.43	<0.001*
	15 min pt exercise	16.28±1.55	>0.05
	Resting	16.28±1.55	>0.05
Left eye IOP	1 min exercise	$13.04{\pm}~1.19$	<0.001*
	5 min postexercise	14.39±1.28	<0.001*
	10 mipostexercise	15.79 ± 1.44	<0.001*
	15 min pt exercise	16.11±1.65	>0.05

Table 1: Mean and SD of IOP of right & left eye between the two groups after Isometric hand grip Exercise

Data presented as mean & SD *Statistically significant p < 0.05

Table 2: Mean and SD of SBP & DBP between the two groups after Isometric hand grip Exercise

Parameter	Duration	Hand Grip	P Value
	Resting	113.40±5.75	>0.05
	1 min postexercise	133.50±4.29	<0.001*
Systolic BP	5 min postexercise	130.25±4.13	<0.001*
	10 min postexercise	113.50±5.65	>0.05
	15 min post exercise	113.50±5.65	>0.05
	Resting	72.45±4.37	>0.05
	1 min postexercise	89.95±3.28	<0.001*
Diastolic BP	5 min postexercise	87.20 ± 3.38	<0.001*
	10 min postexercise	72.60±4.53	>0.05
	15 min post exercise	72.60±4.53	>0.05

Data presented as mean & SD *Statistically significant p < 0.05

Table 3: Correlations between SBP, DBP & IOP Right & left eye after immediate exercise

	ISBP	IDBP
Pearson Correlation		
RIIOP	-0.299	-0.155
Sig. (2-tailed)	0.061	0.340
LIIOP Pearson Correlation	-0.031	-0.107
Sig. (2-tailed)	0.850	0.510

Blood pressure is significantly & negatively correlated with IOP (Pearson's correlation coefficient, r = -0.352.

Discussion

Rise in blood pressure has been suggested to be mediated primarily by the central command which is related to number of motor units activated and to reflex effects from active muscle mechanoreceptors. Inhibition of inhibitory cardiac vagal nerve activity also contributes.⁽⁸⁾

Isometric Hand grip exercise stimulate ocular sympathetic nervous system to increase the facility of outflow and thus decreases IOP. Also epinephrine stimulates synthesis of cAMP. Activation of cAMP decreases IOP by decreasing aqueous humour production.^(6,9)

Also After Hand grip exercise there is rise in blood lactate levels. Increased Lactate levels causes outflux of water from eye which is responsible for fall in IOP.

Conclusion

Isometric handgrip exercise induces raise in blood pressure and simultaneously lowers IOP and both were significant. Hence may prove useful in normotensive glaucomatous patients.

Conflict of Interest: Nil

Ethical Clearance: Ethical clearance was obtained from the institutional ethical clearance committee.

Funding: Self

References

1. Qureshi IA. Effect of exercise on intraocular pressure in physically fit subjects. Clinical and

experimental pharmacology and physiology 1996; 23(8):648-652.

- Avundak AM, Berna Y, Imaz, Nermin S. Comparison of intraocular pressure reductions after isometric and isokinetic exercise in normal individuals. International journal of ophthalmology. 1999; 213:290-294.
- Conte M, Scarpi M J,Rossin RA, Beteli HR, Loopes RG. Intraocular pressure variation after submaximal strength test in resistance training. Arq Bras Ophthalmol. 2009; 72(3): 351-354.
- 4. Dennis BA, David MA, Beck. Ophthalmic arterial hemodynamics during isometric exercise. Journal of glaucoma 1995;4:317-321.
- Geraldo MV, Hildeamo B, Oliveira MS, Daniel T. Intraocular pressure variations during weight lifting. Archives of ophthalmology 2006; 124(9):1251-1254.
- Risner et al. Effects of Exercise on Intraocular Pressure and Ocular Blood Flow: A Review. Journal of Glaucoma: Aug 2009; 18(6) :429-436.
- Marcus DF, Edelhauser HF. Effects of sustained muscular contraction on human intraocular pressure. Clinical science and molecular medicine. 1974;47:249-257
- Hultman E, Sjoholm H. Blood pressure and heart rate response to voluntary andnon-voluntary static exercise in man. Acta Physiol Scand. 1982; 115: 499-501.
- Passo MS, Goldberg L, Elliot D, Van Buskirk EM. Exercise conditioning and Intraocular pressure. Am J Ophthal. 1987; 103(6):754-757.

Assessment of Hormonal Essay in Non-Obstructive and Obstructive Subject in Central India

Santosh Balgote¹, Anshul Singhai², Charuhas Akre³

¹Associate Professor, Department of Physiology, Bharat Ratna Late Shree Atal Bihari Vajpayee Memorial Medical College, Rajnandgaon, (C.G.), ²Assistant Professor, Department of Physiology, Bharat Ratna Late Shree Atal Bihari Vajpayee Memorial, Medical College, Rajnandgaon, (C.G.), ³Associate Professor, Department of Community Medicine, Govt. Medical College, Chandrapur (M.S.)

Abstract

Infertility is slowly become major issue for married fertile couple in India. Now a days due to availability of many techniques and tests we came to know that male partner is equally contributed for infertility. The term "Azoospermia" is defined as the complete absence of sperm in the ejaculate, is identified in approximately 1% of all men and in 10 to 15% of infertile males. The various causes of infertility include disturbances in both partners (26%),disturbances in female partner (39%) and disturbances in the male (20%). No identifiable cause was found in 15% of cases. Around 1.5% azoospermic infertile male attributed to obstruction of the excurrent genital tract. In this study we focus on some etiological facts of azoospermia that plays important role in causing male infertility. We found that the level of hormones FSH and LH are significantly raised as compare to control group. Also, the testosterone level is significantly less in azoospermic subject as compare to control group. When we separately compared the hormonal profile of Obstructive and non-Obstructive Azoospermic patients while the testosterone hormone level is significantly low in Non-obstructive Azoospermic subjects. It indicates the primary hypogonadism. This study depicts the hormonal profile in infertile male that will be helpful in further assessment and management of such individuals.

Keyword: Infertility, Obstructive and non- Obstructive azoospermia, Gonadotropic hormone FSH and LH, Spermatogenesis.

Introduction

In every species the progeny carries the gene that is must for continuation of species. In India since so many decade one more new issue is arises which is related to big issue in society that is male infertility.

According to World Health Organization, "Infertility is the inability of a sexually active non contracepting couple to achieve pregnancy in one year". Infertility

Corresponding Author:

Dr. Anshul Singhai

Assistant Professor, Department of Physiology, Bharat Ratna Late Shree Atal Bihari Vajpayee Memorial Medical College, Rajnandgaon, (C.G) e-mail: dranshuljain5@gmail.com is a common condition with important psychological, economic, demographic and medical implications. Demand for infertility services has grown substantially even though the prevalence of infertility has been stable.

The term "Azoospermia" is defined as the complete absence of sperm in the ejaculate, is identified in approximately 1% of all men and in 10 to 15% of infertile males.¹ This diagnosis must be confirmed by centrifugation of a semen specimen for 15 min at room temperature with high-powered microscopic examination of the pellet and a centrifugation speed of at least 3,000 rotation per minute. The semen analysis should be performed according to the 2010 WHO guidelines, and at least two semen samples obtained more than two weeks apart should be examined.^{2,3}

The various causes of infertility include disturbances in both partners (26%), disturbances in female partner (39%) and disturbances in the male (20%). No identifiable cause was found in 15% of cases. Around 1.5% azoospermic infertile male attributed to obstruction of the excurrent genital tract.⁴

Azoospermia may be due to variety of condition and complete history, physical examination, hormonal profile, genetic and imaging resources will be necessary not only to establish the cause but also to direct the couple towards the best treatment option suitable. The evaluation of a patient with azoospermia is performed to determine the etiology of the patient's condition.

Hormones evaluation is essential parameters in giving a definitive diagnosis in infertile males.⁵ Abnormal hormone production has been noted as a male causative factor in male infertility and hormonal replacement could play a corrective role.^{6,7} The most essential hormones to be evaluated include, follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), luteinizing hormone (LH) and testosterone.⁸ Merino, G et.al., suggested that decrease in sperm count is associated with low testosterone level.⁹ Changes in FSH and LH levels could result in abnormalities of spermatogenesis in patients with low sperm counts.¹⁰

Spermatogenesis is regulated by luteinizing hormone (LH) produced by the pituitary gland. LH binds to receptors on Leydig's cells and stimulates testosterone production, which in turn binds to sertoli cells to promote spermatogenesis. Follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) is also essential because its binding to sertoli cells stimulates testicular fluid production and synthesis of intracellular androgen receptor proteins.¹⁰ Testosterone regulates its own secretion by negative feedback mechanism. It acts on hypothalamus and inhibits the secretion of luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone (LHRH). When LHRH secretion is inhibited, LH is not released from anterior pituitary, resulting in the stoppage of testosterone secretion from testes. On the other hand, when testosterone production is low, lack of inhibition of hypothalamus leads to secretion of testosterone through LHRH and LH.

Some causes of Azoospermia are potentially correctable, other conditions are irreversible but still possibly treatable by assisted reproductive techniques using the husband's semen and finally some causes are irreversible and not amenable to any form of treatment demanding donor semen or adoption in order to constitute a family.

With the above background the present study

was conducted to find out the association between Azoospermia and Gonadotropin levels.

Material and Method

The current cross sectional study was conducted in department of physiology, rural based Medical College during study period from September 2011 to August 2013. The total numbers of subjects studied were 100 in reproductive age group (21 to 45 year). The semen samples were obtained from male partner of infertile couples attending the reproductive biology unit of department of physiology. They were referred from gynecology department. Samples were analyzed as per WHO guidelines (WHO laboratory Manual, 2010).²We obtained an informed written consent from all study participants. The use of confidential patient data in this study was fully within the recent guidelines. During the above mentioned period 603 patients visited the reproductive biology unit, out of which 120 patients were diagnosed as Azoospermic. Out of 120 azoospermic patients 30 were follow up cases. They were excluded and 90 freshly diagnosed patients were selected for study. The patients were interviewed about their case histories, their reproductive problems, and their family background.

Inclusion criteria:-Subjects belonged to active reproductive age group and which demonstrated azoospermia in semen analysis.

Exclusion Criteria: Unmarried male attended reproductive unit for complaints other than infertility & vasectomized subject.

The semen samples were collected after a sexual abstinence of 3 to 5 days (**Preidt. R., 2003**).¹¹ The most preferred method for collection of sample was Masturbation (Self-Stimulation), another method was Coitus interruptus (withdrawal of penis just prior to ejaculation during sexual intercourse). The semen specimen was collected in a small, clean wide mouthed jar of 10 to 20 ml. In subject with absence of spermatozoa in semen three consecutive semen analyses were performed at an interval of one month each. Finding of absence of spermatozoa was confirmed by centrifuging the sample at 3000 rpm for 15 min and examining the sample under compound microscope.

Macro & microscopic examination of Semen sample were performed. Patient had been explained regarding the procedure. After proper exposure of genital region, examination was performed with the patient in standing and supine position. A complete generalized & local examination had been done.

Subject was send to clinical biochemistry laboratory for hormonal profile (FSH, LH & free testosterone) and the data was collected. All the data was abstracted on a standardized data collection form. We used a spreadsheet to enter the data electronically and used statistical software SPSS.

Observation and Results

Table 1: Distribution of study subjects

Study Subjects	No. of patient	Percentage (%)
Type of Azoospermia		
Obstructive Azoospermia	36	40
Non-Obstructive Azoospermia	54	60
Total	90	100

*Control group = 50

In this study, 90 Azoospermic patients were classified on the basis of Pathophysiology diagnosed in Sonological findings as Obstructive and Non-Obstructive Azoospermic patient.

We found 36 cases had obstruction and were classified into Obstructive Azoospermia while in 54

cases obstruction was not seen and were classified into Non-Obstructive Azoospermia.

We observed that out of 90 azoospermic patients, 40 % of patient was of Obstructive Azoospermia and remaining 60 % was of Non- Obstructive Azoospermia. [Table 1].

Hormonal profile	Control (n=10)	Azoospermic (n=90)	z-value	p-value
FSH ((mIU/ml)	17.87±1.76	24.03±9.09	2.12	0.036, S, p<0.05
LH (mIU/ml)	8.07±1.29	12.68±8.54	1.69	0.093, NS, p>0.05
Testosterone (pg/ml)	31.41±3.84	23.23±33.42	0.76	0.444, NS, p>0.05

Table 2: Comparison of Hormonal profile among study groups

The Mean FSH levels in Azoospermic were significantly High (24.03±9.09) as compared to that of control (17.87±1.76) with p<0.05. The comparison of the Mean LH levels and free Testosterone in between Azoospermic and Control were found to be insignificant (p>0.05). [Table 2].

Table 3: Comparative hormonal profile among different subgroup of Azoospermia

Sub Group	FSH (mIU/ml) (Mean ± SD)	LH(mIU/ml) (Mean ± SD)	Free Testosterone (pg/ml) (Mean ± SD)
Obstructive Azoospermia (n=36)	18.37±4	8.04±2.28	36.54±48.95
Nonobstructive Azoospermia (n=54)	28.36±9.57	16.26±9.80	13.35±8.91
z-value	6.66	5.76	2.8
p-value	0.000, S, p<0.05	0.000, S, p<0.05	0.000, S,p<0.05

By comparing Hormonal levels in Obstructive and Non-obstructive Azoospermic patients, We found that Mean FSH level in Non-obstructive azoospermia was significantly high (28.36 ± 9.57) as compare to in Obstructive Azoospermia (18.37 ± 4) with p<0.05. Also, the Mean LH level in Non-obstructive azoospermic subjects was significantly high (16.26 ± 9.80) as compare to in Obstructive Azoospermic subjects (8.04 ± 2.28) with p<0.05. The Mean Free Testosterone level in Obstructive Azoospermic subjects was significantly high (36.54 ± 48.95) as compared to in Non-Obstructive Azoospermic subjects (13.35 ± 8.91) with p<0.05. [Table.3]

Discussion

Most of the time in developing countries like India females is blamed for infertility issue though the fact is that male partner is equally contributed regarding infertility.

In this study we focus on some etiological facts of azoospermia that plays important role in causing male infertility. We found that the level of hormones FSH and LH are significantly raised as compare to control group. Also, the testosterone level is significantly less in azoospermic subject as compare to control group.

When we separately compared the hormonal profile of Obstructive and non- Obstructive subjects we found the level of Gonadotropic hormone FSH and LH is significantly high in Non-obstructive Azoospermic patients while the testosterone hormone level is significantly low in Non-obstructive Azoospermic subjects. It indicates the primary hypogonadism.

Conclusion

This study depicts the hormonal profile in infertile male that will be helpful in further assessment and management of such individuals.

Conflict of Interest: None Declared

Source of Funding: No funding Sources

Ethical Clearance: The study was approved by the Institutional Committee.

References

- 1. Sciarra J. Infertility: an international health problem. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1994;46:155–63
- 2. WHO manual for the standardized investigation and diagnosis of the infertile couple, 2001.
- Van Balen F, Gerrits T. Quality of infertility caPHYre in poor-resource areas and the introduction of new reproductive technologies. Hum Reprod. 2001;16:215–9.
- Reproductive health indicators for global monitoring: Report of the second interagency meeting, 2001. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2001. World Health Organization; p. 23.
- 5. Inhorn MC. Global infertility and the globalization of new reproductive technologies: illustrations from Egypt. Soc Sci Med. 2003;56:1837–51.
- Jarow JP, Espeland MA, Lipshultz LI. Evaluation of the azoospermic patient. J Urol. 1989;142(1):62-5.
- WHO Laboratory manual for the examination and processing of human semen - 5th ed. Geneva: WHO Press, 2010.
- Schlegel PN. Causes of azoospermia and their management. ReprodFertil Dev. 2004; 16(5):561-72.
- 9. Guideline of male Infertility, American Urological Association, 2001.
- 10. Dohle GR et.al. Autosomal chromosomal abnormality genetic risk factor in infertile with sever oligospermia and azoospermia. Human Reprod 17;13.2002 [WHO].
- 11. Rao MM Rao DM: genetic studies in primary infertility Fertil Steril 1977, 28:209.

Knowledge, Attitude & Practise of Voluntary Blood Donation in Students of BRLSABVM Medical College, Rajnandgaon, Chhattisgarh

Santosh Balgote¹, Anshul Singhai², Charuhas Akre³, Atul Deshkar⁴

¹Associate Professor, Department of Physiology, Bharat Ratna Late Shree Atal Bihari Vajpayee Memorial Medical College, Rajnandgfaon, (C.G.), ²Assistant Professor, Department of Physiology, Bharat Ratna Late Shree Atal Bihari Vajpayee Memorial Medical College, Rajnandgaon, (C.G), ³Associate Professor, Department of Community Medicine, Govt. Medical College, Chandrapur (M.S.), ⁴Professor& Head, Department of Physiology, Bharat Ratna Late Shree Atal Bihari Vajpayee Memorial Medical College, Rajnandgaon, (C.G.)

Abstract

There is a crucial need for awaring people regarding blood donation all over the world. According to Census 2011 Rajnandgaon city, Chhattisgarh has 1,63114 population and only around 1000 Voluntary Blood Donation done per year³. This depicts the lack of knowledge and social awareness regarding the blood donation among the population of Rajnandgaon (C.G).

Material and Method: The present study is a cross sectional study and conducted among the students of the various graduate and post graduate colleges of Rajnandgaon, to assess their knowledge and attitudinal variables towards voluntary, non-remunerated blood donation.

Sample Size: It is calculated by using Kish and Lisle formula for cross-sectional studies⁸. Four hundred students were selected to participate in this study

Result: After analyzing the data, we observe that the overall knowledge regarding blood donation in study population was found to be 46.11%. Most amazing thing is that 370 student out of 400 never did blood donation (92.5%). Overall 30.60% of students have negative attitude towards blood donation which includes generalized tiredness after blood donation (10.12%), hypovolemic anemia(15.12%) and decrease in Immunity is (5.36%). Around 69.40% of students have positive attitude and are willing to donate blood if they are demanded for blood donation (39.40%), 3% of non-donors not know much importance of blood donation and 27% don't know the procedure and place where to do blood donation.

Conclusion: Through this study we suggest that appropriate motivational campaign should be launched immediately among this young section of the population to convert this favourable "attitude" towards blood donation into a regular "practice" in order to increase the voluntary blood donation in Rajnandgaon.

Keyword: Voluntary blood donation, knowledge, attitude, practice, hypovolemic anemia.

Corresponding Author: Dr. Anshul Singhai Assistant Professor, Department of Physiology, Bharat Ratna Late Shree Atal Bihari Vajpayee Memorial Medical College, Rajnandgaon, (C.G.) e-mail: dranshuljain5@gmail.com

Introduction

"More blood, more life¹," lifesaving theme of World Blood Donor Day 2011 to express the importance of the crucial need for awaring people regarding blood donation all over the world. According to WHO, Around 93 million blood donors are donating blood annually all over the world². Blood donation is one of the important components in saving the lives of many people in routine and emergency situations like in major surgery, pregnancy and childbirth, trauma etc. It has been observed that low income countries have nine times less donation as compared to high income countries, while day by day in the developing countries like India; the demand for blood supply has progressively increased. Various evidences indicate that there is a major shortage of blood and blood products in these countries.

As per the world health organization the minimum 1% blood donation must be done to meet the demand in given population, but according to Census 2011 Rajnandgaon city, Chhattisgarh has 1,63114 population and only around 1000 Voluntary Blood Donation done per year³. This depicts the lack of knowledge and social awareness regarding the blood donation among the population of Rajnandgaon (C.G). Acceptable age for blood donation is between 18 and 65 years⁴. It has been worldwide reported that college students can be a very good source of quick and accessible quality blood, if they are motivated and recruited well as potential voluntary blood donors⁵. However, information from various blood banks in Rajnandgaon has shown that only onethirds of college students reported to have ever donated blood with varying reasons but many do not donate any longer.

The common reasons faced by college going students regarding Blood donation may be tight schedule at college, lack of knowledge and awareness of blood donation, fear of needle or infection, and lack of opportunity. In many countries,to understand factors that influence blood donationblood donation surveys have been used⁶.

There is no current published information on factors influencing voluntary blood donation among young people and among college students in Rajnandgaon. To fill that information gap, the study aimed at determining awareness, level of knowledge, and attitudes towards voluntary blood donation among university students by using the case of Rajnandgaon region. Such information would be vital in planning for raising awareness and helping young people to donate blood in the country.

Aims and Objectives:

Objectives of the study were as follows: To assess

the level of knowledge regarding blood donation, among the undergraduate and post graduate college students in Rajnandgaon, CG.

To assess the attitudes, regarding the blood donation.

To assess the awareness about practices regarding blood donation.

Material and Method

The present study is a cross sectional study and conducted among the students of the various graduate and post graduate colleges of Rajnandgaon, to assess their knowledge and attitudinal variables towards voluntary, non-remunerated blood donation. The Rajnandgaon city has average literacy rate 86.83% with high rate (94%) of college enrolment⁷.

Including and excluding criteria: We included all healthy adult male and female participating students willing for study. We excluded all visiting students and those who do not have consent to participate or having health related issues.

Sample size: It is calculated by using Kish and Lisle formula for cross-sectional studies⁸. Four hundred students were selected to participate in this study and interviewed face to face on various aspects of blood donation using a structured questionnaire.

Data Collection Tools and Procedures: Questionnaires used in this study were self administrative paper-pencil questionnaire type. The filled questionnaires were collected by hand by the investigators on the same day after distributing them to the students. The questionnaire were developed from review from other pilot studies^{9,10}. Questionnaire contains questions related to socio-demographic characteristics of participants.

Few questions were based on the awareness and knowledge of blood donation. While few questions was related to attitudes towards blood donation which were of "yes/no" answer type, and some questions were on attitude towards blood donation. A part of questionnaire was devoted to collect the source of information regarding blood donation and lastly there are questions related to reasons for donating and not donating blood with open ended type questions.

Observation and Results

Table No. 1: Knowledge towards blood donation

Knowdge	Percentage (%)
Age criteria for blood Donation	67.82
Weight criteria for blood donation	70.34
Blood pressure range for blood donation	54.22
Maximum blood donation per year	36.25
Quantity of blood volume withdraw each time	20.63
Up to how many days blood can be store	16.40
What are the different blood groups	70.31
Lives saved through each unit of blood	26.21
Benefits of blood donation	52.81
Over all percentage of knowledge	46.11

Table No. 2: Attitude towards blood donation

Attitude	92.5% (Never did blood donation)
Blood donation causes generalized tiredness	Negative 10.12%
It causes hypovolemic anemia	Negative 15.12%
It hampers the Immunity	Negative 5.36%
Nobody asked or motivated for blood donation	Positive 39.40%
Non-donors don't know importance of blood donation	Positive 3%
Don't know what to do and where to do blood donation	Positive27%

Table No. 3: Practice on blood donation

Reason for not a regular donor	7.5%
Lake of privacy while procedure	28.37%
Students felt uneasiness after donation	9.23%
Students donated blood only once	7.5%
Never asked or motivated again for blood donation	62.40%
Willing to voluntary donateblood if they are demanded for blood donation	69.40%

After analyzing the data, we observe that the overall knowledge regarding blood donation in study population was found to be 46.11%(Table 1). Most amazing thing is that 370 student out of 400 never did blood donation (92.5%). Overall 30.60% of students have negative attitude towards blood donation which includes generalized tiredness after blood donation (10.12%), hypovolemic anemia(15.12%) and decrease in Immunity is (5.36%) (Table 2). Around 69.40% of students have positive attitude and are willing to donate blood if they are demanded for blood donation (39.40%), 3% of non-donors not know much importance of blood donation

and 27% don't know the procedure and place where to do blood donation. We observed that only 30 students (7.5%) donated blood once(Table 2). We found that amongst the blood donors,28.37% of donors said there is lake of privacy while procedure, around 9.23% felt uneasy after donation and 62.40% said they are never asked or motivated for blood donation(Table 3).

Discussion

Day by day due to population growth hike and other factors like medical emergency, Road traffic accidents the demand of blood and its substitute is tremendously increased. In spite of available resources and facilities the number of voluntary blood donation is quit less. As per the world health organization the minimum 1 % blood donation must be done to meet the demand in given population, but according to Census 2011 Rajnandgaon city, Chhattisgarh has 1,63114 population and only around 1000 Voluntary Blood Donation done per year. This depicts the lack of knowledge and social awareness regarding the blood donation among the population of Rajnandgaon (C.G).It has been worldwide reported that college students can be a very good source of quick and accessible quality blood, if they are motivated and recruited well as potential voluntary blood donors. So in this study we tried to fill that gap between demand and attitude towards voluntary blood donation.

In the above study we found that students have average knowledge (46.11%) regarding blood donation. If we educate them regarding health benefit of blood donation and eradicating the myth towards the various false fact like donation causes anemia, weakness we can change the negative attitude (30.6%) in them.

The common reasons faced by college going students regarding Blood donation are lack of knowledge and awareness of blood donation, fear of needle or infection, and lack of opportunity (39.40%). By motivating them this figure can be easily added in voluntary blood donation.

Conclusion and Implication

Recruiting a sufficient number of safe blood donors in India is an emerging challenge especially with the increase in demands as a result of an increase in population size and an increase in the number of medical facilities. The present study was conducted in Rajnandgaon city in order to understand the various factors contributing to beliefs, attitudes, and level of knowledge associated with blood donation and transfusion that will help the blood centre in building and maintaining an adequate and safe blood supply. The current study was aimed to reflect a general lack of information regarding donation policies and practices among the surveying individuals.

It is also possible that an increased availability of correct information on donation requirement to more eligible potential donors may help persuade some of them to donate. Through this study we suggest that appropriate motivational campaign should be launched immediately among this young section of the population to convert this favourable "attitude" towards blood donation into a regular "practice" in order to increase the voluntary blood donation in Rajnandgaon.

Conflict of Interest: None Declared

Source of Funding: No funding Sources

Ethical Clearance: This study was approved by the Institutional Committee.

References

- Albert Farrugia, More blood, more life? Reflections on World Blood Donor Day – 2011 Indian J Med Res. 2011 Jun; 133(6): 573–576.
- 2. Based on data from the WHO Global Database on Blood Safety, 2008.
- 3. Censusindia.gov.in. 2011 census,xii-a district census handbook rajnandgaon village & town.
- 4. WHO.int/campaigns/world-blood-donorday/2018/who-can-give-blood,WHO Guidelines on assessing donor suitability for blood donation.
- Babita Raghuwanshi et.al,Voluntary Blood Donation among Students - A Cross-Sectional Study on Knowledge and Practice vs. Attitude, J Clin Diagn Res. 2016 Oct; 10(10): EC18–EC22.
- Vox Sang. 2012 Jul;103(1):64-74. doi: 10.1111/j.1423-0410.2012.01600.x. Epub 2012 Mar 23.
- 7. Rajnandgaon City Population Census 2011-2020, Chhattisgarh.
- Jaykaran Charan et.al, How to Calculate Sample Size for Different Study Designs in Medical Research? Indian J Psychol Med. 2013 Apr-Jun; 35(2): 121–126.doi: 10.4103/0253-7176.116232.
- Habtom Woldeab Gebresilase et.al, Knowledge, attitude and practice of students towards blood donation in Arsi university and Adama science and technology university: a comparative cross sectional study, Gebresilase et al. BMC Hematology (2017) 17:20 DOI 10.1186/s12878-017-0092-x.
- Benedict Nwogoh, Knowledge, Attitude, and Practice of Voluntary Blood Donation among Healthcare Workers at the University of Benin Teaching Hospital, Benin City, Nigeria, Hindawi Publishing Corporation Journal of Blood Transfusion Volume 2013, Article ID 797830, 6 pages http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2013/797830.

Alterations in Semen Quality by Antioxidants in Stressed Healthy Individuals

Saurabh Saha¹, Sonali Saxena², R.K. Srivastava³, Chitra Srivastava⁴

¹Associate Professor (Physiology), ²Associate Professor (Medicine), ³Professor (Anatomy), ⁴Associate Professor (Physiology), Department of Physiology, G.S.V.M Medical College, Kanpur

Abstract

The study was conducted to evaluate the role of antioxidants in current therapeutic use on stress induced by exercise on sperm profile. 68 unmarried healthy medical students between 18-24 years of G.S.V.M Medical College who with informed written consentacted as volunteers for study duration of 90 days. Their identities were strictly confidential and were selected randomly. Complete and fresh specimen semen was collected by accepted method of masturbation after abstinence for more than 3 days. Two samples were taken first on commencement and second on conclusion of 3 monthperiod. The subjects have been divided into 4 groups of 17 subjects in a single blinded study. Group I- control and were administered placebo capsules containing arrow root powder. Group II-administered placebo capsules and performed moderate exercise daily for 30 minutes for 3 months on a bicycle ergo meter with persistent increase in heart rate 30 to 50 per minute above their basal heart rate. The subjects carried out exercised for 30 minutes or exercise was stopped due to pain. Group III- carried out the exercise with the same protocol as in group II and were given 1 capsule daily of antioxidant preparation, ECarotin (Franco Indian Pharmaceuticals, India) composition Beta carotene 10 mg, vitamin E acetate I.P. 25 mg, Vitamin C I.P.150 mg, Selenium dioxide monohydrates U.S.P. 75 mcg, Zinc sulphate monohydrate U.S.P. 61.8 mg (equivalent to elemental zinc 22.5 mg). Group IV - Subjects of this group did not perform any exercise and were administered 1 capsule daily of ECarotin. The following physical features of the ejaculate were recorded Color, Liquefaction Time, pH, Volume Microscopic Examination included Sperm Count, Motility, Sperm morphology while Biochemical estimation done for seminal fluid Fructose. A statistically significant (p < .005) decrease in sperm countin group II (exercising and taking placebo) and group III (exercising and taking [ECarotin]) but group IV taking only (ECarotin) showed a significant increase in sperm count (p < 0.05). Group's III and IV consuming antioxidant (ECarotin) showed a significant increase in the number of motile sperms (p < 0.05) and a significant decrease in the number of non-motile/dead sperms (p < 0.05). Most of the subjects had pus cell in mild to moderate quantity.

Keywords: Antioxidants, stress, Sperm count, Sperm Motility, Sperm morphology.

Introduction

Stress in modern times is a multidimensional omnipresent disease creating issue not addressed by most of us unless disease is established. Infertility cases are increasing in the society resulting in a plethora of

Corresponding Author: Dr. Chitra Srivastava Associate Professor, Department of Physiology, G.S.V.M. Medical College, Kanpur e-mail: drchitrasrivastava@gmail.com anti-fertility treatment options available. The seminal profile has been shown to be influenced by numerous physical as well as psychological factors. One of the important conditions is stress, which has marked influence over quality and quantity of sperm production. However, the role of antioxidants in current therapeutic use has been sparingly explored on semen quality of humans. In the literature, the seminal profile has not been explored in response to exercise producing transient stress. Moreover, the effect of antioxidants has not been explored on stress induced changes in sperm profile. The present study has therefore been aimed to explore the effects of antioxidants on quality and quantity of sperm production and also to find out their effects on stress induced changes in sperm profile of human volunteers.

Materials and Method

Present study has been conducted on 68 unmarried healthy male medical student between 18-24 years. Their identities remain strictly confidential and had been selected randomly for the study. Consent was taken in format as prescribed and ethical clearance was given by ethical committee.

The following anthropometric parameters like height, weight, BMI, pulse rate, blood pressure, and respiratory rate were recorded. Complete and fresh semen specimen was collected from volunteers through accepted method of masturbation with abstinence period of 3 days.

The specimen was obtained in a sterilized, wide month, screw capped containers, to avoid contamination. The time and date of collection was registered on the containers and preserved at standard temperature, physical and microscopic examination on the same day

The following physical features of the ejaculate were recorded Color, Liquefaction Time, pH, Volume Microscopic Examination included Sperm Count, Motility, Sperm morphology while Biochemical analysis of seminal fluid was done for Fructose estimation. The Volunteers have been divided into 4 groups; each group containing 17 subjects in a single blinded study.

Group I – Volunteers in this group served as control and were administered placebo capsules containing arrow root powder for duration of 3 months. **Group II** – Volunteers in this group performed moderate exercise daily for 30 minutes for 3 months on a bicycle ergometer until they refused to continue exercising, any further on account of fatigue. Heart rate during exercise monitored persistently 30 to 50 per minute above their normal pulse rate. Generally the subjects carried out fast exercise for 7 to 10 minutes slowing down for rest, repetitively until had to stop due to fatigue/pain. Subjects of this group were also given arrow root powder placebo capsules.

Group III – Volunteers in this group carried out the exercise with the same protocol as in group 2 and were given 1 capsule daily of antioxidant preparation, ECarotin (Franco Indian Pharmaceuticals, India) containing Beta carotene 10 mg, vitamin E acetate I.P. 25 mg, Vitamin C I.P.150 mg, Selenium dioxide monohydrates U.S.P.

75 mcg, Zinc sulphate monohydrate U.S.P. 61.8 mg (equivalent to elemental zinc 22.5 mg).**Group IV** - Volunteers of this group did not perform any exercise and were administered 1 capsule daily of ECarotin for 3 months.

The average value and their standard deviations of each parameter were calculated. The significance of different between the standard deviations of means in different sets of observations would be assessed at 95% level of confidence, by applying Student's 't' test (p < 0.05) The different groups in any study for 3 months are as follows

The above groups have been compared as follows in the presentwork:

Group I & Group IV – This comparison has been carried out to reveal whether ECarotin alone can influence the seminal profile.

Group I & Group II – This comparison has been necessary to find out if the exercise stress alone has a significance on semen profile.

Group II & Group III – This comparison has been done to explore whether the intake of ECarotin for 3 months can influence the exercise response (as revealed by comparison of Group I and Group II).

Observations and Results

The average age of the group is 19.56 + 0.62 years. The color of the ejaculate was found to be light cream or yellowish in 10% of the participating subjects while in 90% of the subjects it was white or off-white. The odour was typically of fishy type in all the subjects. The viscosity was watery or watery-mucoid in most of the subjects while in some it was found to be thick mucoid.

After 3 months of study:

Volume: semen in all the four groups showed insignificant change and was within normal range in the initial samples taken and post analysis after 3 months of study. Statistically the 'p' value was insignificant.

pH: The pH in various groups was in alkaline range and the 'p' value was insignificant.

Liquefaction Time: The Liquefaction Time in the group I (Control group taking placebo) and group IV (taking antioxidants (ECarotin) only) volunteers showed no significant change in the liquefaction time.But the 88 International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03

group's doing exercise irrespective of antioxidant (ECarotin) or placebo showed a statistical significant increase in liquefaction Time.

Sperm Count: The sperm count in the group I of control subjects taking placebo showed no significant change, group II (exercising group taking placebo) and group III (exercising group taking antioxidants [ECarotin]) showed a statistically significant decreased (p<0.05) while group IV taking only antioxidants (ECarotin) showed a significant increase in sperm count (p<0.05).

Motility: The motility of the sperm was studied after 2 hours of semen liquefaction, which was classified as motile, sluggishly motile and non-motile. The group's III and IV consuming antioxidant (ECarotin) showed a significant increase in the number of motile sperms (p<0.05) and a significant decrease in the number of non-motile/dead sperms (p<0.05). The group 1 (control students taking placebo) and the group II (exercising students taking placebo) volunteers showed a statistically non-significant change in motility.

Morphology: The morphology of the sperms were categorized into normal and abnormal forms. The abnormal forms seen were round head, pin head, bifurcated head, long tapering heads, bifurcated tail, kinked tail,no tail and lack of acrosomal cap. After 3 months of study there was no significant change in morphology in any group.

Miscellaneous examinations of semen: The pus cells were 3-8 cells per HPF in 98.4% of the volunteers in the initial sample taken but after 3 months of study 82.6% of the volunteers showed 3-5 pus cells/HPF. However only 2 volunteers had 20 –33 pus cells/HPF in initial sample which decreased to 8-12 pus/HPF in the sample taken after 3 months. The semen fructose level was found to be between 263 to 489 mg%, which is within normal range. The clumping of sperms was present in the sample of 8 subjects (++++). Only 18% of the subjects revealed epithelial cells as 1-2/H.P.F. in initial sample which increased to 3-4/H.P.Fafter 3 months of study. No Trichomonas was seen in any sample.

Some interesting findings were observed during the questionnaire session of the students after 3 months of study.

Vitality (Feeling better): Maximum number of

volunteers taking antioxidants reported that they felt better than before and many wanted to continue the preparation being given to them.

Appetite: Maximum number of students taking placebo reported an increase in appetite while most of the students taking antioxidants reported no change in appetite behavior.

Memory: Some of the students taking antioxidants reported a better retention power.

Sleep: A large number of students taking placebo gave history of increased desire to sleep while most of the group of students taking antioxidants reported no alteration in sleep pattern.

Desire for sex/Libido: There was a significant increase in the number of volunteers who gave history of increased desire for sex/increased libido who were taking antioxidants. Less so in the exercising group but more in the group taking antioxidants only.

Discussion

In the present study, we found that the volume of the ejaculate in most volunteers averaging between 2.3 ml-3.0 ml, which is in accordance with the reported values of Falk and Kaufman^[1] (1950), Bhushan et al (1978)^[2] range of volume was ranging from 1.0-7.2 ml.

The pH of seminal fluid was found to be alkaline (8.4-8.6) in nature which is similar to findings of Bhushan et al $(1978)^{[2]}$ in Indian subjects.

The average Liquefaction time in our study was found at an average to be between 14.4-18.7 minutes, which corroborates with the findings of Lunenfeld and Glezerman (1981)^[3].

The sperm counts, in our study, in the exercising individuals were noted to be decreased. These changes may be attributed to the negative effects of stress produced due to exercise because of the generation of reactive oxygen species. Our findings also corroborates with publication of JAMA (1988)^[4] in which Vietnam Veterans had decreased sperm count and also decreased number of morphologically normal sperms due to war-psychology. Fenster L et al (1997)^[5] and Clarke RN et al (1999)^[6], both of the studies showed an inverse relationship between semen quality and the stress produced due to emotionally charged situations. Comhaire FH et al (2000)^[7] who observed that vitamin A and vitamin E supplementation decreases the reactive oxygen species in oligozoospermic men. We have found a decrease in sperm count in the exercising individuals while an increase in sperm count in the individuals taking antioxidants. This finding is supported by observations made by Clarkson PM et al (2000)^[8] who observed that exercise increases reactive oxygen species but trained athletes receiving antioxidant supplements showed evidence of decreased oxidative stress.

The motility of the sperms in our study was found to be significantly increased while the number of nonmotile sperms decreased significantly after taking antioxidants. Our findings of increase in motility is supported by reports of Omu AE et al $(1998)^{[9]}$ in which they suggested that Zinc increases the motility and the sperm count in men with asthenozoospermia while Scott R et al $(1998)^{[10]}$ who emphasized that Selenium increases motility in sub-fertile men.

In our study, we found that the semen contained a higher percentage of normal and a lower percentage of morphologically abnormal sperms and there was no significant difference between the initial and the final samples. This is supported by the study of Bartoov B et al (1981, 1982) ^[11] in which observed that the morphologically normal sperms have a frequency of 58% or more as found in our study. The semen fructose levels in our study were found to be within normal range (243-489 mg% as recommended by Eliasson and Treichl (1971) ^[12] who reported semen fructose levels to be normal within 150-600 mg% range. The pus cells in the semen sample of north Indian males are indicative of sub-clinical infection for which they do not take any treatment.

Conclusion

The volume of the ejaculate in the volunteers showed no significant change in the initial sample or after 3 months of study in all the groups.

The pH of the ejaculate in the volunteers showed no significant change in both the samples and in all the groups suggesting that antioxidants have no effect of on pH.

The Liquefaction time of semen in the volunteers who were exercising showed a significant increase in it thus demonstrating that exercise has induced a negative effect on liquefaction time. The volunteers who were taking only antioxidants showed no change in liquefaction time.

Antioxidants may increase sperm count but the count of morphologically normal and duration to stay motile increases significantly.

The exercising volunteers who were taking placebo (group II) showed a significant decrease in sperm count due to oxidative stress induced by exercise. The same observation was made in the exercising volunteers taking antioxidants (group III) but the decrease in sperm count was comparatively lesser than group II of volunteers who were doing exercise and taking placebo. So, antioxidants negate the effect of exercise induced stress.

Maximum percentage of North Indian males were having normal sperm count. Exercise induced stress can lead to the normal sperm count of the individuals at the lower normal range (20–36 million/ml) to an oligospermic state. So, exercise led to a significant decrease in sperm count.

The motility of sperms increased significantly after taking antioxidants while the number of non-motile sperms decreased significantly after taking antioxidants.

Maximum number of North Indian males showed pus cells in the semen sample indicative of sub-clinical infection.

The semen fructose level in North Indian subjects was found to be within normal range.

Desire for sex/libido, feeling better and the memory was reportedly better in the volunteers taking antioxidants.

Conflict of Interest: Nil

Source of Funding: Self

Ethical Clearance: Study was approved by Ethical Committee.

References

- 1. Falk HCand Kaufman SA. What constitutes normal semen. Fertil. Steril. 1950; 1:489.
- Bhushan S, Pandey RC, Singh SP. Some observations on human semen analysis. Ind. J. Physiol Pharmacol. 1978; 22:393-396.
- Lunenfeld B, and Glezerman M. Diagnose und therapie manulicher fertilitats storungen. Grosse.1981; Pg 23.

- 90 International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03
- 4. JAMA. Health status of Vietnam veterans. 1988; 259:2708-2714.
- Fenster L, Katz DF. Effects of psychological stress on human semen quality. J. Androl.1997; 18:194-202.
- Clarke RN, Klock SC, Geoghegan A, Travassos DE. Relationship between psychological stress and semen quality among in-vitro fertilization patients. Hum. Reprod. 1999; 14:753-758.
- Comhaire FH, Christophe AB, Zalata AA, DhoogeWS, MahmoudAM. The effects of combined conventional treatment, oral antioxidants and essentialfatty acids on sperm biology in subfertile men. Leukot. 2000; 63:159-165.
- 8. Clarkson PM, Thompson HS. Antioxidants: what

role do they play in physical activity and health? Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 2000; 72(2 Suppl):637-646.

- Omu A, Dashti H and Al-Othman S. Treatment of asthenozoospermia with zincsulphate,androlog ical,immunological and obstetric outcome. Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol. 1998; 79:179-184.
- Scott R, MacPherson A, Yates RW, Hussain B, and Dixon J. The effect of oral selenium supplementation on human sperm motility. British. J. Urol. 1998; 82:76-80.O
- Bartoov B, Eltes F, and PanskyM. Estimating fertilization potential via semen analysis data. Hum. Reprod. 1993; Aug: 65-70.
- 12. Eliasson R. and TreichlL. Supravital staining of human spermatozoa. Fertil. Steril. 1971; 22:134.

Effect of Occupational Exposure to Pesticides on Cardiovascular System among Farmers: A Comparative Study

Sunitha M.¹, Jatin Bhoopala S.², SureshY Bondade³

¹Associate Professor, Physiology Department, ²MBBS Student, ³Associate Professor, Physiology Department, JJM Medical College, Davangere, Karnataka, India

Abstract

Background: Agriculturea very complex occupation, apart from increasing productivity also brings huge loss to community in terms of its ill effects on human health, plant and animal life. Adverse effects on cardiovascular system is likely to occur due to aggressive use of agrochemicals such as pesticides.

Objectives: To Study Changes in ECG due to pesticide exposure among farmers and to Compare these ECG Changes in those farmers with that of normal non-exposed subjects.

Materials and Method: A 12 lead ECG was recorded in apparently healthy male farmers exposed to pesticides and normal non exposed age matched male control subjects and analysed for parameters such as heart rate, PR interval, QTC interval, QRS axis, ST and T wave changes and compared.

Results: This study reports significantly increased heart rate, prolonged QTC interval and non-specific ST and T wave changes among pesticide exposed farmers compared to non-exposed control subjects.

Conclusion: The current study concludes that there is a need to detect these ECG changes as early as possible so that future risk of cardiovascular disease can be prevented by adapting precautionary measures during application of pesticides. Some form of continuous cardiac monitoring seems advisable. Farmers can be advised to quit toxic chemical fertilizers & pesticides and opt Organic ones to be safe from the hazardous implications of exposure.

Keywords: ECG; Pesticides; Farmers; Cardiovascular disease.

Introduction

Agriculture is the backbone of the Indian economy. Agriculture plays a key role in the overall economic output of a country. Since in this modern era of agriculture, because of insufficient rains and due to parched irrigation, there is a persistent crop loss due to invasion by pests, diseases and weeds before the harvest. These losses affect the livelihood of a farmer and their

Associate Professor, Physiology Department, JJM Medical College, Davangere, Karnataka, India e-mail: sunithamprof@gmail.com families. To get best crop yield there was introduction of chemical fertilizers & pesticides. In making India a self-sufficient nation in food grain production day by day resulted in rampant usage of chemical fertilizers & pesticides bringing delineation of soil with toxic chemicals entering the food chain building-up toxicity with huge loss to community in terms of its ill effects on humans,plant and animal life due to aggressive use of agrochemicals^{[1][2]}.

Farmers, mostly being illiterate or ignorant, may not consider the precautions while using pesticides, might inhale, as well ingest or inculcate the toxic chemicals from them by one way or the other due to unhygienic conditions.

Chemicals like endosulfan, tetradifon, pyridaben,

Corresponding Author: Dr. Sunitha M.

lead and many other organo-phosphates are present in pesticides^[3].

Cardiovascular diseases are one of the leading causes of death worldwide^[4]. Nearly 50% of world's labour force is into agricultural sector^[5]. The presence of these toxicants in farmers has the potential to affect cardiovascular health as well as electrocardiogram^[6]. the present study is designed to detect the ill effects of exposure to fertilizers and pesticides on cardiovascular function.

ECG Recording is a simple non-invasive technique. Hence, this study is taken up to detect the Electrocardiographic changes in Asymptomatic Toxicant-Exposed Farmers, to study prevalence of such abnormal ECG findings and thereby predict future cardiovascular complications as early as possible. Farmers can be advised to quit toxic chemical fertilizers & pesticides and opt Organic ones to be safe from the hazardous implications of exposure.

Methodology

This study was undertaken in 60 apparently healthy male farmers, aged between 20 to 40 years with history of working for at least 6-8 hours a day for twice a week for more than 10 years of exposure to pesticides in the farm. Sixty-two apparently healthy male, control subjects were selected randomly from general population. We approached Rural Farmers' associations and APMC Farmers' association for selection of study subjects. Subjects will be matched for age, height and weight. Subjects with History of smoking, Alchohol intake. Diabetes mellitus, Hypertension, Anemia, Abnormalities of Vertebral column and thoracic cage, Pulmonary tuberculosis, Bronchial asthma, Chronic bronchitis, other respiratory diseases, Cardiac diseases, Abdominal or chest surgery were excluded from the study.

After taking written consent and asking detailed history about pesticide exposure with series of questionneries like type of pesticides, mixing procedure, use of protective measures like gloves and masks, frequency of application etc Institutional Ethics Committee (IEC) Clearance was obtained before beginning the study.

A detailed assessment of individual subjects was done using pre-structured pro-forma. Data acquisition

was done in the morning. A detailed physical examination of subjects was done followed by systemic examination and ECG recording. Physical examination of all the subjects included temperature, blood pressure, respiratory rate and pulse rate.

Detailed history was taken which included a comprehensive history on usage of agrochemicals

- 1. Type & composition (mix or solitary; pyridaben\ chlorpyros\urea\organochloride\ammonia and many other compounds)
- 2. Duration of usage-daily\weekly\quantity\mixture
- 3. Precautions considered-masks\clothing\footwear\ eye wear\post-work sanitation
- 4. Type of dispersal-by-hand\spray\tablets

Resting pulse rate was recorded from the radial artery. Blood pressure was recorded using a mercury sphygmomanometer with the appropriately sized cuff from the right brachial artery in supine position.

ECG was recorded in those individuals who are selected for the study. The instrument used for recording ECG is Computerized NIVIQURE Digital 12 Lead ECG machine. Special emphasis was given on Heart Rate, PR Interval, QTc Interval, QRS axis, ST Segment, T Wave changes and all parameters will be analysed. ECG signals were obtained from all the leads. The following ECG parameters have been considered in this study.

Standard ECG reference values will be taken from Wagner G.S: Interpretation of normal electrocardiogram.

Statistical Analysis: Continuous variables will be expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Categorical data will be presented as frequencies and percentages. Differences between the groups will be compared using the two-tailed unpaired student's t-test. Comparisons of categorized variables between groups will be performed using the $\chi 2$ test. All tests of statistical significance will be two-sided and P < 0.05 will be considered to indicate a statistically significant difference. The statistical analyses will be conducted with SPSS 20.0

Results

The results obtained were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. The study showed the following results which are tabulated and analysed.

Age (Yrs.)	Farmers	Controls	Total
25-29	20	26	46
30-34	16	26	42
35-39	23	31	54
40-44	32	15	47
45	9	2	11
Total	100	100	200
Chi Square Test: P<0.000			

Table 1: Age-wise distribution of subjects in each group

Table 2: Incidence Of occurrence of Heart Rate changes in farmers exposed and controls:

HR (bpm)	Farmers	Controls	Total		
Normal	88	98	186		
Abnormal	12	2	14		
Total	100	100	200		
Chi Square Test: P<0.01, Significant					

Table 3: Incidence of occurrence of changes in the ST segment in farmers exposed and controls:

A. With respect to the number of subjects showing the changes:

ST Segment	Farmers	Controls	Total		
Е	3	0	3		
IE	97	100	197		
Total	100	100	200		
Fisher's exact test: P<0.003, Not Significant					

*where E-Elevation & IE-Iso-Electric

B. With respect to the leads and amplitude:

Farmers					
Lead	No. Cases	Max (Amp)	No. Cases		
Ι	1	0.5mm	2		
II	2	1mm	1		
III	1				
V3	2				
V4	2				
V5	1				

Table 4: Incidence of occurrence of changes in T Wave in farmers exposed and controls

T Wave	Farmers	Controls	Fisher's exact test	Significance
Ι	0	0	-	-
Ι	0	0	-	-
III - I	2	0	D <0 211	NC
III-F	5	7	P<0.311	INS

94 International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03

T Wave	Farmers	Controls	Fisher's exact test	Significance
avR	0	0	-	-
avL	0	0	-	-
avF	0	0	-	-
V1	3	0	P,0.123	NS
V2	2	0	P<0.249	NS
V3	1	0	P<0.500	NS
V4	0	0	-	-
V5	0	0	-	-
V6	0	0	-	-
Total	100	100	-	-

Table 5: Comparison of QTc interval (seconds) in farmers exposed and controls

QTc	Farmers	Controls	Total		
Normal	83	98	181		
Abnormal	17	2	19		
Total	100	100	200		
Chi Square Test P<0.01, Significant					

 Table 6: Comparison of mean values of clinical parameters in farmers exposed and controls: Heart rate (bpm), PR interval (sec), QTc interval (sec) and QRS axis (degrees):

Gro	oups	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	P Value	Significance
IID	Farmers	100	88.45	9.59	m<0.000	HS
пк	Controls	100	82.70	9.80	p <0.000	
DD	Farmers	100	0.14734	0.1123	D<0.870	NS
PK	Controls	100	0.14762	0.128	P<0.870	
OT	Farmers	100	0.42241	0.142	D <0.000	HS
Qie	Controls	100	0.38860	0.298	P<0.000	
OPS are	Farmers	100	48.57	12.57	D <0.06	NC
QRS axis	Controls	100	48.66	12.89	r <0.90	IND

Discussion

Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) are associated with increased morbidity and mortality rates and reduced life expectancy^[7]. Apart from the fundamental risk factors, environmental toxic substance including pesticides may affect cardiovascular system^[8]. ECG is influenced by these changes due to the exposure to pesticides. A combination of these changes and continued exposure predisposes to various cardiovascular diseases which can turn out fatal. It is essential to understand the repercussions of these occupational exposures to pesticides and its associated future risk of cardiovascular diseases.

The current study showed the following results which is analysed as follows:

ECG Report:

Heart Rate: The incidence of occurrence of changes in Heart rate was significantly higher in the farmers exposed compared to the control group (P<0.000) (Table 2). There was a highly significant increase in the heart rate in exposed farmers group as compared to control to the control group (P<0.000)

Our finding is in consistent with other studies.

Saadedeh AM and his coworkers in their study reported increase in heart rate compared to controls^[9].

Karki P and his colleagues found significant increase in heart rate as an electrocardiographical manifestation in pesticide exposed subjects^[10].

This increase in HR could be related to the nicotinic effects of OP compounds and other agrochemicals and increased sympathetic tone^[11]. These compounds act by irreversibly inhibiting the enzyme cholinesterase, resulting in accumulation of acetylcholine at synapses and myoneural junctions leading to cholinergic over-activity^{[9][10]}.

PR interval: In this study There was no significant change in the mean PR interval (seconds) in exposed farmers group as compared to the control group (P<0.870) (Table 3).

QTc interval: The mean QTc interval (seconds) in exposed farmers group was significantly prolonged compared to the control group (P<0.000) (Table 6) The QTc interval tended towards the upper end of the normal range.

Wahab A and his coworkers in their study showed increased QTc interval as an effect of pesticides on cardiovascular system^[12].

Mladenka P et al reported prolonged QTc interval in pesticide exposed subjects. Since QTc interval is more important parameter than QT interval since it is corrected with heart rate, here in this study special interest is given to QTc interval^[13].

The QT Interval is an element of ECG that is a representation of ventricular function which includes depolarization and re-polarization. Measurement of QT and QTc can be used as a simple indicator for cardiovascular diseases ^[14]

In this study there was prolongation of QTc interval in fertilizer and pesticide-exposed farmers group which is highly significant compared to controls. The QTc interval tended towards the upper end of the range and significant number showed abnormal QTc prolongation. The QTc interval represents duration of activation of ventricular myocardium and its recovery. The QT interval corrected for heart rate (QTc) which is longer than 0.44 seconds is generally considered to be abnormal. The QT interval represents the duration of activation and recovery of the ventricular myocardium. Prolonged QTc interval here suggests prolonged recovery from electrical excitation which increases the likelihood of dispersing refractoriness, when some parts of myocardium might be refractory to subsequent depolarization^[12].

Prolonged QTc interval can be attributed to the due to direct cardiac toxicity (myocardial necrosis) along with the associated structural myocardial damage caused by pesticides^[13].

Studies done in animals reported that prolongation of the QT interval is a direct myocardial pesticide effect and is independent of cholinergic effects.^[9] The cardiovascular effects of organophosphorus compounds are unpredictable and often change and adverse effects increase with increase over the time course of exposure. ECG changes like QTc prolongation is potentially dangerous and indicates the requirements of continuous cardiac monitoring^[11].

ST segment: In this study non-specific ST segment elevation less than 1 mm was found out in three subjects in farmers exposed to fertilizers & pesticides but it was found to be statistically not significant compared to the normal control groups.(Table 4)

These changes are significant seen in higher dose exposures and acute poisoning^[13].

T wave changes: In our studies, changes in T wave were found to statistically not significant. But certain non-specific changes were seen in the farmers group such as inversions and flattened waves in a few leads which were low amplitude waves. (Table 5)

These non-specific changes in ST segment and T wave changes can be explained by the fact that the inorganic compounds in pesticides cause direct myocardiotoxic damage and studies have the revealed that patchy necrosis, cardiac discoloration, patchy pericarditis, auricular thrombus, right ventricular hypertrophy, myocardial interstitial oedema, vascular congestion, patchy interstitial inflammation and mural thrombus occurs in acutely exposed cases^[13].

QRS axis change: In the current study there was no significant difference in the mean QRS axis in exposed farmers group as compared to the control group (P<0.960) (Table 7)

Conclusion

The present study concluded thatOccupational exposure to pesticides is the major health concern of today's society, especially among farmers as they are mostly unaware of it and it can predispose them for the development of various morbid conditions over the years. The prevalence of unreported case of cardiovascular deaths is of serious concern. The number of farmers that use agrochemicals then retired due to ill health normally die without knowing the cause of their death. The banning of agrochemicals in the agricultural sectors will produce adverse economic effects and people will suffer across the world. As in low dose chronic exposure they may not manifest clinically, and pesticides exposed subjects for long time remain asymptomatic. However, it brings Electrocardiographic changes that are noticed early over a period of exposure and the general impression is that it is advisable to detect these changes as early as possible so that future risk of cardiovascular disease can be reduced by adapting precautionary measures during application of pesticides. Therefore, some form of continuous cardiac monitoring seems advisable. Considering the gravity of this situation, more work needs to be done in this aspect. Farmers can be advised to quit toxic chemical fertilizers & pesticides and opt Organic ones to be safe from the hazardous implications of exposure.

Acknowledgement: Authors are grateful to Dr. S.B. Murugesh, Principal, JJM Medical College, Davangere for his support and encouragement. We also extend our thanks to our statistician. Authors are deeply indebted to all volunteers who participated in this study.

Conflict of Interest: None to declare.

Source of Funding: Self.

Ethical clearance from institution: Obtained

References

 Sekhotha M, Monyeki K, Sibuyi M. Exposure to Agrochemicals and Cardiovascular Disease: A Review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2016 Feb 18; 13(2): 229.

- Beyene N, Hans K, Yalemtshay M, Roel V. Use of Chemical Pesticides in Ethiopia: A Cross-Sectional Comparative Study on Knowledge, Attitude and Practice of Farmers and Farm Workers in Three Farming Systems. The Annuls of Occupational Hygiene. 2016 June 1;60(5):551-556.
- 3. Winand K, Eric SL. Toxicity of Pesticides. Pennsylvania State University. 2016.
- Finegold, Judith A. et al. Mortality from ischaemic heart disease by country, region, and age: Statistics from World Health Organisation and United Nations International Journal of Cardiology. September 2013;168(2): 934 – 945.
- Maroni M, Fanetti A, Metruccio F. Risk Assessment and Management of Occupational Exposure To Pesticides in Agriculture. University of Milan. 2006 April;97(2):430-7.
- Ha MH, Lee DH, Jacobs DR. Association between serum concentrations of persistent organic pollutants and self-reported cardiovascular disease prevalence: results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1999-2002. Environ Health Perspect. 2007;115(8):1204-9.
- Harpal S Buttar, Timao Li et al. Prevention of cardiovascular diseases: Role of exercise, dietary interventions, obesity and smoking cessation:Exp Clin Cardiol.2005; 10(4): 229–249.
- Nicolopoulou-Stamati P, Maipas S, Kotampasi C, Stamatis P and Hens L: Chemical Pesticides and Human Health: The Urgent Need for a New Concept in Agriculture. Front. Public Health:2016. 4:148.
- Saadeh AM, Farsakh NA, Al-Ali MK. Cardiac manifestations of acute carbamate and organophosphate poisoning. Heart. 1997;77(5):461-4.
- Karki P, Ansari JA, Bhandary S, Koirala S. Cardiac and electrocardiographical manifestations of acute organophosphate poisoning. Singapore Medic J. 2004; 45:385-9.
- 11. Tripathy S, Rout P et at., Study of clinical profile of organophosphorus poisoning with special reference to electrocardiographic changes and electrolyte derangement. Int J Adv Med. 2018 Feb;5(1):50-56.
- 12. Wahab A, Hod R, Ismail NH, Omar N. The Effect of Pesticide Exposure on Cardiovascular System: A

Systemic Review. International Journal Community Medicine & Public Health. 2016;3: 1-10.

- Mladěnka P, Applová L, Patočka J, et al. Comprehensive review of cardiovascular toxicity of drugs and related agents. Med Res Rev. 2018;38(4):1332–1403.
- 14. Pieter G. Postema, Arthur A.M. Wilde. The Measurement of the QT Interval Current Cardiology Reviews. 2014: 10, 287-294.

Comparative Study of Sympathetic Activity in Normotensive Obese and Nonobese Adults

Syeda Samina¹, Mohammed Mazhar ul Haque²

¹Assistant Professor of Physiology, Great Eastern Medical School & Hospital, Ragolu, Srikakulam, Andhra Pradesh, ²Professor of Anaesthesia, Patnam Mahender Reddy Institute of Medical Sciences, Chevella, Telangana

Abstract

Aim: The aim of the study is to assess sympathetic activity in Obese Normotensive subjects

Objectives: To investigate any changes in sympathetic activity in Normotensive obese subjects using Cold Pressor test

Method: 50 Obese subjects of both genders between age group 18-25 years with BMI>25kg/m² were selected as study group and 50 age matched subjects of both the genders with BMI<25Kg/m² were selected as control group. Sympathetic activity was assessed using Cold pressor test. In this test, After recording the resting blood pressure (BP), the subject was asked to immerse his hand in cold water (temperature maintained between 5°–9°C). BP measurement from other arm was done at 30 sec interval for two minutes using continuous ambulatory Blood pressure monitoring, after which the subject was asked to remove the hand from cold water. Maximum increase in Diastolic Blood Pressure (DBP) was taken as test response.

Results: Statistical analysis was done using unpaired t test.Increase in diastolic blood pressure with Cold pressor test in study group was significantly increased compared to control group.

Conclusion: Increased sympathetic activity is seen in obese normotensive subjects, which is a risk factor for future development of hypertension and other complications associated with increased sympathetic activity. weight loss and maintanence of healthy lifestyle is suggested to the subjects to prevent the future complications.

Keywords: Normotensive Obese, Cold pressor test, sympathetic activity, Diastolic blood pressure.

Introduction

Obesity, considered a worldwide epidemic, is characterized by the excessive accumulation of fat tissue in the body and its causes are multifactorial, such as genetic susceptibility, sex, age, occupation, diet and others¹. It is well recognized that obesity is associated with reduced quality of life and increased risk

Corresponding Author:

Dr. Mohammed Mazhar ul Haque

Professor of Anaesthesia, Patnam Mahender Reddy Institute of Medical Sciences, Chevella, Telangana e-mail: drmnhaq@gmail.com of premature death and predisposes individuals to the development of a number of chronic illnesses including cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, dyslipidemia, insulin resistance, hyperglycemia, hypertension, degenerative joint diseases, obstructive sleep apnea (OSA), gastroesophageal reflux disease, nonalcoholic fatty liver, and various forms of cancer².

Obesity and its early complications (i.e. insulin resistance and impaired fasting glucose) are associated with overstimulation of the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) and decreased tone of the parasympathetic nervous system (PNS)³

Studies using norepinephrine urinary excretion and plasma concentration measurements from hypothalamic

models of obesity show that sympathetic nervous activity in obesity is low⁴. Young and Macdonald⁵ found that there were numerous studies proposing that Sympathetic nervous system (SNS) in subjects with obesity was either low, normal, or elevated. The heterogeneity of the results most likely occurred because of inadequacy of the method used (in particular, venous or urinary norepinephrine concentrations) and because SNS activity is typically regionalized, where the efferent outflow throughout the body is not uniform.

Studies have also shown that SNS activation may be responsible for development of obesity. Increased plasma norepinephrine concentration and a hyperkinetic circulation in young adulthood have been shown to predict future weight gain and the development of insulin resistance⁶.

The present study is carried out to evaluate the sympathetic activity in Obese subjects.

Materials and Method

The study was carried out at Great Eastern Medical school, Srikakulam, Andhra Paradesh

Study Group: 50 Obese subjects of both genders between age group 18-25 years with BMI>25kg/m² were selected as study group

Control Group: 50 Nonobese subjects of both genders between age group 18-25 years with BMI<25kg/m² were selected as control group

Inclusion criteria for study group:

- 1. BMI>25kg/m²
- 2. Normotensive subjects

Inclusion criteria for control group:

- 1. BMI<25Kg/m²
- 2. Normotensive subjects

Exclusion criteria (common for study and control group):

- 1. Hypertensive subjects
- 2. Diabetic subjects
- 3. Any history of chronic illness

All the subjects were explained about the test to assess sympathetic function and an informed consent was taken.

Sympathetic activity was assessed by cold pressor test.

Cold pressor test (CPT): After recording the resting blood pressure (BP), the subject was asked to immerse his hand in cold water (temperature maintained between $5^{\circ}-9^{\circ}$ C). BP measurement from other arm was done at 30 sec interval for two minutes using continuous ambulatory Blood pressure monitoring, after which the subject was asked to remove the hand from cold water. Maximum increase in Diastolic Blood Pressure (DBP) was taken as test response.

Somatosensory stimulation induced by the cold stimulus increases blood pressure; impulses from receptors in the skin relay via afferent pathways to C1 cells in the rostral ventrolateral (RVL) reticular nucleus and are transmitted via efferent sympathetic neurons to peripheral blood vessels from thoracic spinal cord. Thus, somatosensory stimulation produces the pressor response during the cold pressor test.

Statistical analysis:

Statistical analysis was done using unpaired t test

P value < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant

The results were expressed as Mean \pm standard deviation

F	in	d	in	g:
				-

Variable	Study Group		Control Group		P Value
variable	Mean	SD	Mean SD		- r value
Increase in DBP (mmHg) with Cold Pressor Test	15.7	3.1	13.2	2.3	<0.0001*

DBP-Diastolic blood pressure

On Analysis,

Increase in diastolic blood pressure with cold pressor test in study group was significantly increased compared to control group.

Discussion

In our study, we found that increase in Diastolic blood pressure with cold pressure in obese normotensive subjects was significantly increased compared to Nonobese normotensive subjects.

The findings of our study were in accordance with previous studies⁷ which showed increased sympathetic activity in obese normotensive subjects.

However some studies reported no change and even reduction in sympathetic activity in obese subjects⁸.

Obesity is characterized by excessive accumulation of fat, a highly dynamic endocrine and paracrine organ that releases many cytokines and bioactive mediators which may influence sympathetic nervous system activity⁹.While there exists a large body of evidence indicating that sympathetic nervous activity is evident in obesity, it is important to recognize that many factors may be involved in the genesis of obesity-related sympathetic activation¹⁰.

It is well established that obesity is one of the major determinants in the development of hypertension in the general population¹¹. The mechanisms contributing to the development of higher blood pressure in humans with obesity include many factors such as hyperinsulinemia, activation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, abnormal levels of certain adipokines such as leptin, and an altered spectrum of cytokines acting at the vascular endothelial level¹².

Sympathetic nervous stimulation is certainly a key factor in the development of hypertension. It was demonstrated than when weight gain develops in young men, increased Muscle Sympathetic Nerve Activity (MSNA) occurs early, together with increased blood pressure¹³. It was shown that sympathetic activation to the kidneys occurs as early as 1 wk after exposure to a high-fat diet in rabbits¹⁴.

Conclusion

Increased sympathetic activity is seen in obese

normotensive subjects, which is a risk factor for future development of hypertension and other complications associated with increased sympathetic activity. Weight loss and maintanence of healthy lifestyle is suggested to the subjects to prevent the future complications.

Source of Funding: Self

Ethical Clearance: Taken from Scientific Ethical committee, Great Eastern Medical school, Srikakulam, Andhra Pradesh.

Conflict of Interest: Nil

References

- McArdle WD, Katch FI, Katch VL. Essentials of exercise physiology. Philadelphia - USA. Lea & Febiger; 1994
- Key TJ, Schatzkin A, Willett WC, Allen NE, Spencer EA, Travis RC. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of cancer. Public Health Nutr 7: 187– 200, 2004.
- Emdin M, Gastaldelli A, Muscelli E, Macerata A, Natali A, Camastra S & Ferrannini E. Hyperinsulinemia and autonomic nervous system dysfunction in obesity: effects of weight loss. Circulation 2001 103 513–519.
- Spraul M, Ravussin E, Fontvieille AM, Rising R, Larson DE, Anderson EA. Reduced sympathetic nervous activity: a potential mechanism predisposing to body weight gain. J Clin Invest. 1993; 92: 1730–1735
- Young JB, Macdonald IA. Sympathoadrenal activity in human obesity: heterogeneity of findings since 1980. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 16: 959– 967, 1992.
- Masuo K, Kawaguchi H, Mikami H, Ogihara T, Tuck ML. Serum uric acid and plasma norepinephrine concentrations predict subsequent weight gain and blood pressure elevation. Hypertension 42: 474– 480, 2003
- Guido Grassi, Gino Seravalle, Bianca M. Cattaneo. Sympathetic Activation in Obese Normotensive Subjects. Hypertension. 1995;25:560–563.
- Peterson HR, Rothschild M, Weinberg CR, Fell RD, Macleish KR, Pfeifer MA. Body fat and the activity of the autonomic nervous system. N Engl J Med.1988; 318:1077-1083.
- 9. Head GA, Lim K, Barzel B, Burke SL, Davern PJ.

Central nervous system dysfunction in obesityinduced hypertension. Curr Hypertens Rep 16: 466, 2014.

- Straznicky NE, Eikelis N, Lambert EA, Esler MD. Mediators of sympathetic activation in metabolic syndrome obesity. Curr Hypertens Rep 10: 440– 447, 2008.
- Kannel WB. Fifty years of Framingham Study contributions to understanding hypertension. J Hum Hypertens 14: 83–90, 2000.
- 12. Hall JE, da Silva AA, do Carmo JM, Dubinion J, Hamza S, Munusamy S, Smith G, Stec DE.

Obesity-induced hypertension: role of sympathetic nervous system, leptin, and melanocortins. J Biol Chem 285: 17271–17276, 2010.

- Gentile CL, Orr JS, Davy BM, Davy KP. Modest weight gain is associated with sympathetic neural activation in nonobese humans. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 292: R1834–R1838, 2007.
- 14. Armitage JA, Burke SL, Prior LJ, Barzel B, Eikelis N, Lim K, Head GA. Rapid onset of renal sympathetic nerve activation in rabbits fed a high-fat diet. Hypertension 60: 163–171, 2012.

Evaluation of Efficacy of Long-term Yogic Training on Vascular Endothelial Function and Cardiovascular Responses in Healthy Individuals

Vishnu D. Udhan¹, Pramod U. Shinde², Sharadchandra G. Wankhede³

¹Assistant Professor, Department of Physiology, NAMO Medical Education & Research Institute, Silvassa, UT of DNH & DD, ²Professor and Head, Department of Physiology, MGM Medical College, Aurangabad-431005, ³Professor, Department of Physiology, Amaltas Institute of Medical Sciences, Dewas, MP-455001

Abstract

There are numerous studies confirming the positive effects of physical exercise in improving the functional status of vascular endothelium and cardiovascular parameters. However, there is very less scientific data available showing the efficacy of yoga training on vascular endothelium functions and various cardiovascular parameters with large sample size. Hence the study was intended to measure the change in plasma nitric oxide level (NOx), resting heart rate (HR) and resting systolic (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP). Yoga intervention was given on age matched 200 healthy individuals of both the gender. NOx, Resting HR, SBP and DBP were measured at Baseline and after six months. Data collected was analyzed statistically showed significant elevation in NOx, reduction in HR, SBP and DBP. Positive findings are the suggestive of improved vascular endothelial health and cardiovascular responses.

Keywords: Yoga, Vascular Endothelium, Nitric Oxide, Heart Rate, Blood Pressure.

Introduction

The endothelium is a single cell layer lining the luminal surface of entire vascular tree. Itserve in wide vascular homeostatic processes.^{1,2} Modulation of blood flow, vascular tone^{3,4} and vascular wall protection⁵ are some of the noted functions of vascular endothelium. Normally, it releases diverse vasoactive agentscausing vasoconstrictions and vasodilation. Nitric Oxide (NO) is one of the potent endogenous vasodilatory agents released in response to physical stimuli i.e. sheer stress, hormones and platelet-derived substances. Through these agents, healthy endothelium is proactively involved in vascular tone regulation and protection.^{6–8} The damaged endothelium is critical in a variety of

Corresponding Author: Dr. Vishnu D. Udhan Assistant Professor, Dept. of Physiology, NAMO Medical Education & Research Institute, Silvassa-396230 e-mail: vishnu.udhan@gmail.com human disorders including peripheral vascular disease, stroke, heart diseases, venous thrombosis,disturbance in the physiological haemostatic processes, renal failure, diabetes, etc.¹

Endothelial dysfunction primarily characterized by reduced NO production, bioavailability and vasomotor response which plays crucial role in pathogenesis of atherosclerosis.^{9,10} Lack of regular exercise, high blood pressure, diabetes mellitus, and aging are some of the risk factors linked with vascular endothelial dysfunction.¹¹ Insufficient NO release may cause vasoconstriction in coronary arteries during exercise and mental stress which may result in myocardial infarction, ischeamia and promote vascular inflammation.²

There is reduction in cardiovascular risks factors especially hypertension with improved vascular endothelial functions.^{12,13} Scientific literature indicate the beneficial effects of regular aerobic exercise in improving vascular endothelial health¹⁴, reducing arterial stiffness¹⁵ and blood pressure in healthy individuals.¹⁶ Vascular endothelium-dependent vasodilatory response is principally depends on the NO release. Therefore, measurement of plasma NO and basal blood pressure could be reliable approach to recognize its functional status.¹⁷

Various studies reports yoga as a mind-body exercise modality which enhances cardiopulmonary fitness and mental wellbeing, if practiced regularly.^{18,19}

Physiological role of NO is all apparent, however effect of yoga to assess the vascular endothelial functional status with large sample size in healthy individuals has been least attempted. Therefore, the present study was primarily intended to evaluate the effect of long term yoga training on Total Plasma Nitric Oxide (NOx). Secondarily, to assess the cardiovascular responses at rest to long-term yoga practice.

Material and Method

Design and Sample size: In this pre- and post yoga interventional study, healthy individuals (n=200; 120 Male and 80 Female) within 30-50 years of age range (mean age 39 ± 0.95 years) were recruited.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria: Healthy individuals willing to practice yoga dailyfor six months were included. While, individuals with any systemic, mental disorders, pregnant women and receiving any physical and/or yoga training were excluded from the study. **Ethics:** Written consent was obtained from all study participants. The study was approved by institutional ethical committee (Registration No. ECR/581/INST/MH/2014).

Intervention: Yoga (Asanas, Pranayama and Meditation) intervention was given for six months (1 hour per day, 6 days per week) by trained yoga instructor.

Variables Studied: Total plasma nitric oxide (NOx); resting heart rate (HR), resting SBP and DBP were measured at baseline i.e pre-yogic and post-interventioni.e post-yogic, respectively.

Statistical Analysis: For statistical data analysis, SPSS (24th Version) was used. Quantitative data was presented as Mean±Standard Deviation (SD). Mean±SD was calculated as Mean Difference. Paired t-test was used for data comparison. P-value at 5% was established for significance.

Results

Pre-yogic and post-yogic Total Plasma Nitric Oxide (NOx); Resting HR, SBP and DBP were measured and are shown in Table I. There highly significant (p<0.0001) reduction in post-yogic resting HR, SBP and DBP compared to their respective baseline values was observed.

Variables	Measure-ments	Mean±SD (n=200)	Mean Difference	p-value	
	Pre-yogic	36.25±4.76	()7	.0.0001 **	
NOX (µMole/L)	Post-yogic	42.52±5.32	6.27	p<0.0001**	
Resting HR (bpm)	Pre-yogic	79.97±8.13	5.15	p<0.0001**	
	Post-yogic	74.82±4.99	5.15		
Resting SBP (mmHg)	Pre-yogic	128.41±7.64	1.20	-0.0001**	
	Post-yogic	124.04±6.21	4.30	p<0.0001***	
Resting DBP (mmHg)	Pre-yogic	79.63±4.70	1.00	-0.0001**	
	Post-yogic	78.55±3.61	1.08	p<0.0001**	

Table I: Comparison between Mean Pre- and Post-yogic NOx, Resting HR, SBP and DBP

NOx: Plasma Nitric Oxide; SD=Standard Deviation; HR=Heart Rate; SBP=Systolic Blood Pressure; DBP= Diastolic Blood Pressure, p<0.0001**=Highly Significant.

Post-yogic Resting SBP and DBP were correlated with post-yogic NOx level and are shown in Fig. 1 and Fig. 2 respectively. There significant negative correlation between post-yogic resting SBP and DBP (p<0.0001) with post-yogic NOx was observed and is shown in Table II.



Fig. 1: Correlation between post-yogic Resting SBP and post-yogic NOx level

Fig. 2 :Correlation between post-yogic Resting DBP and post-yogic NOx level



Table II: Correlation between post-yogic NOx level with post-yogic Resting SBP and DBP

Variables	r-value	p-value
Resting SBP (mmHg) vs NOx (µMole/L)	-0.359	p<0.0001**
Resting DBP (mmHg) vs NOx (µMole/L)	-0.245	p<0.0001**

NOx = Total Plasma Nitric Oxide level; SBP = Systolic Blood Pressure; DBP = Diastolic Blood Pressure; S = Significant; p<0.0001** = Highly Significant.

Discussion

The present study was intended to find efficacy of long term yoga training on vascular endothelial functional status by measuring total plasma nitric oxide level andon cardiovascular responses by measuring heart rate and blood pressures at rest.

We found, highly significant (p<0.0001) increase in post-yogic NOx level and reduction in resting HR, SBP & DBP compared to their respective baseline values (Table I). Further, correlation showed significant (p<0.0001) reduction in resting SBP (Fig. 1) & DBP (Fig. 2) with post-yogic NOx (Table II).

Significant increased level of total plasma NO level after long term yoga practice was one of the novel finding of our study. The outcome of this study is in accordance with the finding of Preethi Bangalore Lakshmangowda, et.al.²⁰ Patil SG et.al²¹ had reported the significant increase in NO level in yoga practicing elderly subjects which resulted in reduction in arterial stiffness. Another study has reported the NO elevating effect of Bhramari Pranayama.²² A range of studies showed exercise
stimulates NO release from the endothelial cells.²³⁻²⁵ Increased blood flow through vessels is identified as the root cause of endothelial release of NO.^{26,27}The exact mechanism behind the elevated post-yogic NOx remained unclear. However, we presume that it is most likely the stimulation to increased blood flow due to yoga practice have caused the sheer force over the endothelium. As a consequence, it releases more NO than normal.

Our finding regarding significant reduction of Resting HR was consistent with the findings of various researchers.²⁸⁻³² According to theme, that was probably due to stronger vagal activation and balance in autonomic activities caused by yoga practice. On that context, we attribute the reduction in post-yogic Resting HR to increased vagal tone, deep psychosomatic relaxation and reduction in exercise induced stress on cardiovascular system over the period of yoga training.

The Our findings i.e. significant reduction in postyogic Resting SBP & DBP compared to their respective baseline values were similar with the outcomes of various studies.^{28,29,33-35}It is suggested that the arterial stiffness causes not only elevation of resting BP but also influence BP responses to exercise.³⁶ Arterial stiffness not only decided by the structural components but also by vascular tone and endothelial functional status. It is implied that NO and vascular tone are the key components in the regulation of arterial stiffness therefore they are vital determinants for exercise induced BP response. A study reveals that, pharmacological inhibition of NO synthase increases BP during sub-maximal level of exercise.³⁷ Hence, it may be assumed that, reduction in Resting SBP & Resting DBP might by due to increased parasympathetic activity, reduced vascular tone; increased cardiopulmonary endurance, blood flow to the muscles at rest; elevated post-yogic NOx might have increased vasodilatory effect, decreased arterial stiffness which collectively have caused significant reduction Resting SBP & DBP after long term yoga training.

Conclusion

Increased NOx level due to long term yoga may reflect the improved functional status of the vascular endothelial layer. Reduced resting HR, SBP & DBP also indicate the cardiovascular response modulating efficacy of regular yoga training. This also suggestive of improved cardiac endurance and fitness. Elevated NO levelis the indicator of improved endothelial functional status. Therefore, it may be concluded that, yoga as a complementary exercise modality to reduce the risk of CVDs in healthy adult individuals.

Acknowledgements: Special thanks to Dr. Satish G Patil, Dr. Narayan R Khurde, Dr. Jayant Baride, Yoga Guru Shri. Balasaheb Joshi.

Conflict of Interest: None

Source of Funding: Self

References

- 1. Peramaiyan Rajendran, Thamaraiselvan Rengarajan, Jayakumar Thangavel, Yutaka Nishigaki, Dhanapal Sakthisekaran, Gautam Sethi, Ikuo Nishigaki. The vascular endothelium and human diseases. Int. J. Biol. Sci. 2013; 9(10):1057-1069.
- Richard O. Cannon. Role of nitric oxide in cardiovascular disease: focus on the endothelium. Clinical Chemistry. 1998; 44(8B):1809-1819.
- Feletou M, Vanhoutte PM. Endothelial dysfunction: a multifaceted disorder (The Wiggers Award Lecture). Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006; 291:985-1002.
- 4. Rubanyi GM, Vanhoutte PM. Superoxide anions and hyperoxia inactivate endothelium-derived relaxing factor(s). American Journal of Physiology. 1986; 250:H822-H827.
- Paulo Roberto BE, Caroline FB, Andrea CC, Verena KC. Endothelium dysfunction classification: Why is it still an open discussion? International Journal of Cardiology. 2009; 137(2):175-176.
- Soloviev MA, Kulakova NV, Semiglazova TA, Borodulina EV, Udut VV. Correction of endothelial dysfunction in patients with arterial hypertension. Bull Exp Biol Med. 2011; 151:183-185.
- Woodman CR, Price EM, Laughlin MH. Selected Contribution: Aging impairs nitric oxide and prostacyclin mediation of endothelium-dependent dilation in soleus feed arteries. J Appl Physiol. 2003; 95:2164-2170.
- Cediel E, Vazquez-Cruz B, Navarro-Cid J, delas Heras N, Sanz-Rosa D, Cachofeiro V, et al. Role of endothelin-1 and thromboxane A2 in renal vasoconstriction induced by angiotensin II in diabetes and hypertension. Kidney international Supplement. 2002;2-7.

- Yingzi Zhao, Paul M. Vanhoutte, Susan W.S. Leung. Vascular nitric oxide: Beyond eNOS. Journal of Pharmacological Sciences. 2015; 129:83-94.
- Pedralli ML, Waclawovsky G, Lehnen AM. Impact of exercise training on blood pressure and endothelial function in individuals with systemic hypertension. Austin Sports Med. 2016; 1(2):1006.
- Hadi AR Hadi, Cornelia S Carr, Jassim Al Suwaidi. Endothelial Dysfunction: Cardiovascular Risk Factors, Therapy, and Outcome. Vascular Health Risk Management. 2005; 1(3):183–198.
- Furchgott RF, Zawadzki JV. The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. Nature. 1980; 288:373– 376.
- Ignarro LJ, Edwards JC, Gruetter DY, Barry BK, Gruetter CA. Possible involvement of S-nitrosothiols in the activation of guanylate cyclase by nitroso compounds. FEBS Lett. 1980; 110(2):275–278.
- Ashor AW, Lara J, Siervo M, Celis-Morales C, Oggioni C, Jakovljevic DG, et al. Exercise modalities and endothelial function: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Sports Med. 2015; 45:279-296.
- Ashor AW, Lara J, Siervo M, Celis-Morales C, Mathers JC. Effects of exercise modalities on arterial stiffness and wave reflection: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. PLoS One. 2014; 9:110034.
- Cornelissen VA, Smart NA. Exercise training for blood pressure: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Am Heart Assoc. 2013; 2:004473.
- Kodipet Dharmashankar, Michael E. Widlansky. Vascular endothelial function and hypertension: Insights and directions. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2010; 12(6): 448-455.
- Udhan VD, Wankhede SG, Phatale SR. Effect of Yoga on Cardio-Respiratory Health Markers: Physical Fitness Index and Maximum Oxygen Consumption (VO₂ Max). J Clin Diagn Res. 2018; 12(8): CC21-CC23.
- Vishnu D Udhan, Dr. Sharadchandra G Wankhede, Dr. Pramod Shinde. Effectiveness of yoga as mindbody exercise over memory, perceived stress and mental health. Int J Adv Res. 2018; 6(4):147-151.

- Preethi Bangalore Lakshmangowda, Elizabeth Joseph, Jaisri Goturu, Wilma Delphine Silvia. Beneficial effect of long term yoga training on serum nitric oxide. Asian J Med Cli Sci. 2013; 2(1): 44-47.
- Patil SG, Aithala MR, Das KK. Effect of yoga on arterial stiffness in elderly subjects with increased pulse pressure: A randomized controlled study. Complement Ther Med. 2015; 23(4): 562-569.
- 22. Eddie Weitzberg and Jon O. N. Lundberg. Humming Greatly Increases Nasal Nitric Oxide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2002; 166:144–145.
- 23. Moncada, S. Nitric oxide in the vasculature: physiology and pathophysiology. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1997; 811: 60–67. Discussion: 67–69.
- 24. Hambrecht, R., Adams, V., Erbs, S., Linke, A., Kränkel, N., Shu, Y., et al. Regular physical activity improves endothelial function in patients with coronary artery disease by increasing phosphorylation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Circulation. 2003; 107: 3152–3158.
- Xie, W., Parker, J. L., and Heaps, C. L. Effect of exercise training on nitric oxide and superoxide/ H₂O₂ signaling pathways in collateral-dependent porcine coronary arterioles. J. Appl. Physiol. 2012; 112:1546–1555.
- Pohl U, Holtz J, Busse R, Bassenge E. Crucial role of endothelium in the vasodilator response to increased flow in vivo. Hypertension. 1986; 8:37– 44.
- 27. Rubanyi GM, Romero JC & Vanhoutte PM. Flow induced release of endothelium-derived relaxing factor. Am J Physiol. 1986; 250:H1145–H1149.
- Bharshankar JR, Bharshankar RN, Deshpande VN, Kaore SB, Gosavi GB. Effect of yoga on cardiovascular system in subjects above 40 years. Indian J PhysiolPharmacol. 2003; 47(2):202-206.
- Madanmohan, Udupa K, Bhavanani AB, CC Shatapathy, Sahay A. Modulation of cardiovascular response to exercise by yoga training. Indian J PhysiolPharmacol. 2004; 48(4):461-465.
- Parkhad SB, Palve SB, Chandrashekar M. Effect of yoga on indices of cardiovascular system in Maharashtrian adolescent girls. Natl J Physiol Pharm Pharmacol. 2015; 5:129-133.
- 31. Tamal Chakraborty, Kaushik Majdar, Arbinda Ray, Mainak Ghosh, Debjani Laha. Effect of yoga on selected cardiovascular parameters in elderly

subjects. Indian Journal of Basic and Applied Medical Research. 2015; 4(2):298-304.

- 32. Vasanthan S, Madanmohan, Bhavanani AB, Hanifah M, Jaiganesh K. Comparative study on the effect of yogic relaxing asanas and pranayama on cardiovascular response in healthy young volunteers. Natl J Physiol Pharm Pharmacol. 2017; 7(1):127-130.
- 33. Pratima M Bhutkar, Milind V Bhutar, Govind B Taware, Vinayak Diojad, B.R. Doddamani. Effect of Suryanamaskar Practice on Cardio-respiratory Fitness Parameters: A Pilot Study. Al Ameen J Med Sci. 2008; 1(2):126-129.
- 34. Chu P, Gotink RA, Yeh GY, Goldie SJ, Hunink MG. The effectiveness of yoga in modifying risk factors for cardiovascular disease and metabolic syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Eur J PrevCardiol. 2016; 23: 291-307.

- 35. Catherine Bradley Richmond. Effects of yoga training on heart rate and blood pressure recovery from exercise. 2012. M.Sc (kinesiology exercise physiology) dissertation submitted to Humboldt state university. Available at http://humboldt-dspace.calstate.edu/bitstream/handle/2148/966/ richmond_catherine_bradley_thesis.pdf?sequence. [Last accessed on 07.06.2018.]
- 36. Nashar K, Nguyen JP, Jesri A, Morrow JD, Egan BM. Angiotensin receptor blockade improves arterial distensibility and reduces exercise-induced pressure responses in obese hypertensive patients with the metabolic syndrome. Am J Hypertens. 2004; 17(6): 477–482.
- R Campbell, JP Fisher, JE Sharman, BJ McDonnell, MP Frenneaux. Contribution of nitric oxide to the blood pressure and arterial responses to exercise in humans. Journal of Human Hypertension. 2011; 25:262–270.

Effect of Family History of Hypertension on Left Ventricular Mass in Normotensive Individuals

Yerrolla Mounica¹, A. Santa Kumari², Geetha Shavali³

¹Postgraduate, ²Professor and Head of the Department, ³Assisstant Professor, Upgraded Department of Physiology, Osmania Medical College, Hyderabad, Telangana

Abstract

Introduction: Presence of family history of hypertension is a strong predictor of development of hypertension in normotensive subjects. Increased left ventricular mass might antedate the development of hypertension in the individuals destined to develop systemic hypertension in life.

Aim: To study the left ventricular mass in offspring of normotensive parents (ONP) and offspring of hypertensive parents (OHP) and to find the variations in between the two groups.

Materials and Method: 75 healthy normotensive individuals with family history of hypertension and 75 healthy normotensive individuals without family history of hypertension were included in the study .LV mass was calculated by using 2D M-mode echocardiography by the formula given by American society of Echocardiography, LV mass= $0.8 \times [1.04 \times (LVIDd + IVSd + PWd)3 - (LVIDd)3] + 0.6$ grams.[LVIDd - Left ventricular internal diameter during diastole; IVSd- Interventricular septal thickness during diastole; PWd – Posterior wall thickness during diastole].

Observation and Results: Left ventricular mass was significantly higher in the normotensive individuals with familyhistory of hypertension $(64.33\pm20.22g)$ when compared to those without family history $(56.12\pm16.13g)$.

Conclusion: The present study reveals increased left ventricular mass in normotensive individuals with family history of hypertension. Early evaluation of left ventricular mass and life style modification are recommended in healthy normotensive individuals with family history of hypertension to prevent and delay the clinical symptomatolgy of hypertension.

Keywords: Left ventricular mass, echocardiography, hypertension.

Introduction

Hypertensive heart disease is a complex entity involving cardiovascular changes due to arterial hypertension .Heart as a pump of circulatory system is effected by the increased blood pressure from the early stages of hypertension and actually suffers the common

Corresponding Author: Dr. Yerrolla Mounica Osmania Medical College, Mounika e-mail: yerrolla23@gmail.com hypertension related organ damage⁸. Current approach to the management of systemic hypertension is early diagnosis and identification of individuals at risk through detection of early markers of the disease⁹. Left ventricular hypertrophy is one of the pathological hallmarks of systemic hypertension. Increased left ventricular mass might antedate the development of hypertension in the individuals destined to develop systemic hypertension in life.¹ Since essential hypertension is thought to have an important genetic component in its causation, offspring of hypertensive parents represent an excellent opportunity to study the early subclinical phases of syndrome of systemic hypertension. The main purpose of the present study was to evaluate left ventricular structure in normotensive Offspring of hypertensive parents (OHP) with the aim of detecting early abnormalities preceding the onset of systemic hypertension.

Materials and Method

A cross sectional hospital based study including 75 normotensive individuals with family history of hypertension and 75 normotensive individuals without family history of hypertension between the age group of 30 - 40 years was conducted in Osmania general hospital. Subjects with blood pressure > 130/90 mmHg, with family history of – Diabetes mellitus, Thyroid disorders and subjects using cardioactive drugs were excluded from the study.

Materials:

- 1. Automatic blood pressure monitor
- 2. Height measuring stand
- 3. Digital weighing machine
- 4. 2D M-mode Echocardiographic machine

Procedure: Institutional ethics committee approval and informed consent was taken.

Height, weight and average of two blood pressure recordings with a time gap of 10 min was taken . BMI was calculated using Queteletformula BMI = weight in kg/height in m2. Echocardiography was done in the partial left lateral decubitus position after a resting period of 3-4 minutes. A 2D guided M- mode recording of the left ventricle was obtained in the parasternal long axis view and measurements of wall thickness and chamber diameter were determined in diastole in accordance with method outlined by American society of echocardiography. The mean value of the parameters were taken from three consecutive beats.LVM was calculated using the formula given by American society of echocardiography

 $LVM = 0.8 \times [1.04 \times (LVIDd + IVSd + PWd)3 - (LVIDd)3] + 0.6 \text{ grams}$

Observations and Results

Statistical analysis was done using unpaired students t test and P value < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

	OHP	ONP	P Value	
Age	37.32 ± 3.81	37.63 ± 2.98	0.584NS	
Males	37 (49.5%)	37(49.5%)	0.47NS	
Females	38 (50,5%)	38(50,5%)	0.47NS	

Table 1: Age and gender distribution in OHP and ONP

Table 2: Comparison of anthropometric measurements in OHP and ONP

	OHP	ONP	P Value
Height (Inch)	5.1 ± 1.0	4.9 ± 1.3	0.22NS
Weight (kg)	64 ± 12	68 ± 9	0.61NS
BMI	34.88 ± 8.68	32.67 ± 5.66	0.03 S

Table 3: Comparison of systolic and diastolic blood pressure in OHP and ONP

	ОНР	ONP	P Value
SYSTOLIC BP	116.0 ± 8.85	118.27 ± 8.75	0.117NS
DIASTOLIC BP	75.20 ± 7.94	77.47 ± 8.39	0.092NS

	OHP	ONP	P Value
IVS	1.13 ± 0.12	1.01 ± 0.02	0.12NS
PWT	0.95 ± 0.12	0.89 ± 0.52	0.47NS
LVIDd	4.29 ± 0.32	4.12 ± 0.57	0.53NS
LVIDs	2.93 ± 0.43	2.57 ± 0.34	0.32NS
LVM	126.15 ± 28.04	104.56 ± 28.01	0.01S

Table 4: Comparison of left ventricular geometric parameters in OHP and ONP

Discussion

The results of this study showed that left ventricular mass was significantly higher in OHP .The presence study suggests that alterations in left ventricular structure may also have genetic basis as there is abnormal left ventricular geometry in normotensive offspring of hypertensive parents. This is supported by a recent study by Lam et al which showed familial aggregation of left ventricular geometry in a two generation community-based sample.².

At equal blood pressure levels, some individuals develop LV hypertrophy, whereas others do not, indicating a genetic susceptibility of the development of LV hypertrophy. Because the major causes of morbidity and mortality among hypertensive patients are due to the cardiovascular manifestations of hypertension and not the level of blood pressure per se, understanding the genetic susceptibility of the LV hypertrophy to the effects of hypertensionremains a matter of intense interest⁵.

Left ventricular mass (LVM) is a significant risk factor for cardiovascular disease and hence it is an important clinical measure in both healthy individuals and patients with disease, LVM is determined by a combination of genetic factors, environmental and mechanical factors. During embryogenesis, heart development is under the control of a series of transcription and growth factors acting on cell differentiation and on heartmorphogenesis⁶.

Left ventricular structural adaptation is highly dependent on oxidation of glucose and fatty acids by mitochondria. A plausible working hypothesis is therefore that the close concordance between mothers and offspring might be explained by mitochondrial DNA that sons and daughters inherit from them. The mendelian hypothesis that offspring derived their genetic makeup in equal proportions from their mothers and fathers is known to be incorrect. Genomic imprinting is the differential modification of the maternal and paternal contributions to the zygote. Thus,during development and growth into adulthood offspring are under influences of distinct maternal and paternal "imprints" that result in divergent expression of parental alleles. The intrauterine environment plays a pivotal role in the development of the fetus and is predominantly determined by genetic and environmental factors linked to the mother⁷.

In the Dutch Hypertension and Offspring Study, the thickness of LV posterior wall and inter-ventricular septum were increased in the offspring of hypertensive parents but the difference from the offspring of normotensive parents was not significant. However, LV mass and LV end-diastolic diameter were significantly increased in the former group. This is in agreement with our study which also showed significant increase in LVM in OHP when compared to ONP.

Family history of cardiovascular diseases are predictors of cardiovascular risk in adulthood and the relationship between them starts a symptomatically from the first years of life. High blood pressure (HBP) is considered one of the major risk factors for cardiovascular disease among them. Normotensive children of hypertensive parents are exposed to greater risk of developing hypertension in adulthood as they have shown early cardiovascular changes.

There are many reports on left ventricular mass heritability with estimates from different populations. Most studies showed significant heritability and sibling correlations, especially among African Americans. The heritability decreased after matching the blood pressure. It implied possible pleiotrophic effects of genes on controlling blood pressure and LV mass. Among young adults and adolescents, Hemodynamicload, such as stroke volume, has an influence on LV mass, and this impact ismore important than body size. However, high proportions of LV mass variations still remain unexplained .Genetic components played important role in residual LVmass variations⁴.

In this study the relation between LVM measured by echocardiography with BMI and blood pressure was studied which showed that there was significant increase in LVM in subjects with increased BMI. This is in agreement with the study done by Chad garner et al. which showed that the strongest predictor of LVM was BMI and they both are strongly correlated.

Such a correlation implies that at least some of the familial factors that affect weight also affect LVM. Thus, if the familial factors are genetic, this would suggest that at least some of the genes acting on the traits are pleiotropic, that is influence both traits. Thus, LVM and weight are determined in large part by common genetic and/or familial environmental factors in both adults and children, whereas the impact of correlated nonfamilial environmental factors appears to be much larger in children compared with adults⁶.

Left ventricular (LV) hypertrophy profoundly affects morbidity and mortality from cardiovascular diseases, including myocardial infarction, congestive heart failure, and stroke. Therefore, it is important to measure LV mass and manage LV hypertrophy among the hypertensive population in clinical practice .The understanding of natural history of LVhypertropy has been enhanced by noninvasive imaging method of echocardiography that have greatly increased the capability of determining the increased LVmass. Blood pressure and volume overload are considered as a strong determinant of LV hypertrophy. However, interindividual variations in LV mass can be explained, only to a limited extent, by hemodynamic load. Moreover, LV hypertrophy may occur in the absence of hypertension. Genetic components are considered to be important factors for LV mass, and it has been proved by twin studies which showed that heritability accounts for up to 20-70%. Significant heritability and evidence of strong familial aggregation in LV mass have been reported in different populations, such as in Caucasian, African Americans, American Indians and Caribbean Hispanic families .Previous segregation study showed the mode of inheritance of LV mass was compatible to polygenic model, but the study did not prove major gene effects controlling LV mass. The existence of major gene effects can be investigated by segregation analysis besides the polygenic background effects, and help to facilitate the

further genomic study.

Our results are contrast to that of Jalal et al who found no significant difference in LVM between the two groups. This may be because our patients were older than those evaluated by Jalal et al .and hence age does appear to be an important factor in the expression of LVM phenotypes in OHP. It is possible and seems likely that their subjects might have been examined at an earlier stage in the natural history before the full expression of the morphological cardiovascular changes of the preclinical hypertension syndrome

Graettinger, et al reported the absence of any significant difference in LV mass index or wall thickness between normotensive healthy volunteers with or without genetic risk for hypertension⁵. However, their contention that such a lack of difference could be due to a meaningful difference in diastolic blood pressure between the two groups cannot be offered as a similar explanation for our observations since our subject groups were properly matched for the blood pressure level

Conclusions

The present study reveals:

- **IN OHP** 1. \uparrow BMI is associated with \uparrow LVM
 - 2. Even with normal BMI there is \uparrow LVM
- **IN ONP -** 1. \uparrow BMI is associated with \uparrow LVM
 - 2. With normal BMI, LVM is in normal range

This clearly points that not only genetic basis but also BMI is an individual risk factor for developing cardiovascular morbidity.

Life style modifications would protect and prevent these complications.

Conflict of Interest: None

Source of Funding: Self

Ethical Clearance: Obtained

Acknowledgements: I Express my sincere gratitude to all the faculty and postgraduates of Upgraded department of physiology, Osmania medical college and to all my study population.

References

1. Jalal S, Rauoof MA, Khan KA, Hamid S, Waheed

112 International Journal of Physiology, July-September 2020, Vol. 8, No. 03

A, Jan VM, Lone NA, Rather HA, Habib K, Alai SM, Kumar D. Left ventricular mass and functions in normotensive offspring of hypertensive parents: an echocardiographic study. J Assoc Physicians India. 2009 May;57:389-92.

- Lam CS, Liu X, Yang Q, Larson MG, Pencina MJ, Aragam J, Redfield MM, Benjamin EJ, Vasan RS. Familial aggregation of left ventricular geometry and association with parental heart failure: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation: Cardiovascular Genetics. 2010 Dec;3(6):492-8.
- Graettinger WF, Neutel JM, Smith DH, Weber MA. Left ventricular diastolic filling alterations in normotensive young adults with a family history of systemic hypertension. The American journal of cardiology. 1991 Jul 1;68(1):51-6.
- Chien KL, Hsu HC, Su TC, Chen MF, Lee YT. Heritability and major gene effects on left ventricular mass in the Chinese population: a family study. BMC cardiovascular disorders. 2006 Dec 1;6(1):37.

- Arnett DK. Genetic contributions to left ventricular hypertrophy. Current hypertension reports. 2000 Feb 1;2(1):50-5.
- Garner C, Lecomte E, Visvikis S, Abergel E, Lathrop M, Soubrier F. Genetic and environmental influences on left ventricular mass: a family study. Hypertension. 2000 Nov;36(5):740-6.
- Kuznetsova T, Staessen JA, Olszanecka A, Ryabikov A, Stolarz K, Malyutina S, Fagard R, Kawecka-Jaszcz K, Nikitin Y. Maternal and paternal influences on left ventricular mass of offspring. Hypertension. 2003 Jan 1;41(1):69-74.
- Karabinos I, Grassos C, Kostaki P, Kranidis A. Echocardiography in the evaluation of a hypertensive patient: an invaluable tool or simply following the routine. Hellenic J Cardiol. 2013 Jan 1;54:47-57.
- 9. Kolo P, Sanya E, Ogunmodede J, Omotoso A, Soladoye A. Normotensive offspring of hypertensive Nigerians have increased Left ventricular mass and abnormal geometric patterns. Pan African Medical Journal. 2012;11(1).

Call for Papers/ Article Submission

Article submission fee

- Please note that we charge manuscript handling charges for all publications. Charges can be enquired by sending mail.
- In cases of urgent publication required by author, he /she should write to editor for discretion.
- Fast tracking charges are applicable in urgent publication
- Please note that we charge only after article has been accepted for publication, not at the time of submission.
- Authors have right to withdraw article if they do not wish to pay the charges.

Article Submission Guidelines

Please submit paper in following format as far as applicable

- 1. Title
- 2. Names of authors
- 3. Your Affiliation (designations with college address)
- 4. Corresponding author- name, designations, address, E-mail id
- 5. Abstract with key words
- 6. Introduction or back ground
- 7. Material and Method
- 8. Findings
- 9. Discussion / Conclusion
- 10. Acknowledgement
- 11. Conflict of Interest
- 12. Source of Support
- 13. References in Vancouver style.
- 14. Word limit 2500-3000 words, MSWORD Format, single file
- 15. Please quote references in text by superscripting.

OUR CONTACT INFO

Institute of Medico-Legal Publications

Logix Office Tower, Unit No. 1704, Logix City Centre Mall Sector- 32, Noida - 201 301 (Uttar Pradesh) Mob: 09971888542, E-mail: editor.physiology@gmail.com Website: www.ijop.net



International Journal of Physiology

CALL FOR SUBSCRIPTIONS

ABOUT THE JOURNAL **International Journal of Physiology** is a double blind peer reviewed international journal which has commencedits publication from January 2013. The journal is quarterly in frequency. The journal covers all aspects ofphysiology. The journal has been assigned ISSN 2320-6039 (Print Version) and ISSN 2320-608X (Online Version). The journal is covered by Index Copernicus, Poland and many other international data bases.

Journal Title	Print Only
International Journal of Physiology	INR 9000

NOTE FOR SUBSCRIBERS

- Advance payment required by cheque/demand draft in the name of "Institute of Medico-Legal Publications" payable at Noida, Uttar Pradesh.
- Cancellation not allowed except for duplicate payment.
- Claim must be made within six months from issue date.
- A free copy can be forwarded on request.

Send all payment to : Institute of Medico-Legal Publications

Logix Office Tower, Unit No. 1704, Logix City Centre Mall Sector- 32, Noida - 201 301 (Uttar Pradesh) Mob: 09971888542, E-mail: editor.physiology@gmail.com, Website: www.ijop.net

Published, Printed and Owned : Dr. R.K. Sharma Printed : Printpack Electrostat G-2, Eros Apartment, 56, Nehru Place, New Delhi-110019 Published at: Institute of Medico Legal Publications Pvt. Ltd., Logix Office Tower, Unit No. 1704, Logix City Centre Mall Sector- 32, Noida - 201 301 (Uttar Pradesh) Editor : Dr. R.K. Sharma, Mobile: + 91 9971888542, Ph. No: +91 120 429 4015